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Summary of the material risks associated with our business
Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that you should be aware of before making an investment decision, including
those highlighted in the section entitled “Risk Factors”. These risks include, but are not limited to, the following:
•

We will not be able to commercialize our current product candidates and any future product candidates if our preclinical studies
do not produce successful results or our clinical trials do not demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our current or future product
candidates. vz

•

As an organization, we have never conducted pivotal clinical trials, and we may be unable to do so for any product candidates
we may develop.

•

Positive results from early preclinical studies of our product candidates are not necessarily predictive of the results of later
preclinical studies and any future clinical trials of our product candidates. If we cannot replicate the positive results from our
earlier preclinical studies of our product candidates in our later preclinical studies and future clinical trials, we may be unable to
successfully develop, obtain regulatory for and commercialize our product candidates.

•

We may not be able to file INDs or IND amendments to commence additional clinical trials on the timelines we expect, and even
if we are able to, the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory may not permit us to proceed.

•

We face significant competition from other biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic institutions, government
agencies, and other research organizations, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products
more quickly or marketing them more successfully than us. If their product candidates are shown to be safer or more effective
than ours, our commercial opportunity may be reduced or eliminated.

•

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials and perform some of our research and preclinical studies. If these third
parties do not satisfactorily carry out their contractual duties or fail to meet expected deadlines, our development programs may
be delayed or subject to increased costs, each of which may have an adverse effect on our business and prospects.

•

Our limited operating history may make it difficult for you to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our
future viability. We have never generated any revenue from product sales and may never be profitable.

•

If the current public health pandemic related to coronavirus (COVID-19) continues to worsen, our operations, business and
financial results may be adversely impacted.

•

If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficient intellectual property protection for our current product candidates or any future
product candidates, or if the scope of the intellectual property protection is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop
and commercialize products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our products may be
adversely affected.

•

Even if our development efforts are successful, we may not obtain regulatory approval for any of our current product candidates
or any future product candidates in the United States or other jurisdictions, which would prevent us from commercializing our
current product candidates and any future product candidates. Even if we obtain regulatory approval for our current product
candidates and any future product candidates, any such approval may be subject to limitations, including with respect to the
approved indications or patient populations, which could impair our ability to successfully commercialize our current product
candidates or any future product candidates.

•

We are highly dependent on our key personnel, and if we are not successful in attracting and retaining highly qualified
personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy.

•

We may be unable to adequately protect our information systems from cyberattacks, which could result in the disclosure of
confidential or proprietary information, including personal data, damage our reputation, and subject us to significant financial and
legal exposure.
i

•

We are an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company, and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to
emerging growth companies and smaller reporting companies may make our common stock less attractive to investors.

•

The trading price of our common stock may be volatile. We may be at an increased risk of securities class action litigation.

The summary risk factors described above should be read together with the text of the full risk factors below, in the section entitled “Risk
Factors” and the other information set forth in this Quarterly Report on 10-Q, including our condensed consolidated financial statements and
the related notes, as well as in other documents that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The risks summarized
above or described in full below are not the only risks that we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not precisely known to us, or that we
currently deem to be immaterial may also materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and future growth
prospects.
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.
iTeos Therapeutics, Inc. and subsidiaries
Condensed consolidated balance sheets
(unaudited)
March 31,
2021

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Grants receivable
Research and development tax credits receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Research and development tax credits receivable
Restricted cash
Right of use asset
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’
equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Deferred income
Lease liability
Total current liabilities
Grants repayable
Other noncurrent liabilities
Lease liability, net of current portion
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized;
zero shares issued or outstanding at March 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 150,000,000 shares authorized;
35,100,999 and 35,044,758 shares issued and outstanding at
March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and
stockholders’ equity

$

$

$

December 31,
2020

321,385
1,241
—
2,293
324,919
1,350
3,153
138
3,046
283
332,889

$

5,300
5,314
666
550
11,830
5,642
305
2,503
20,280

$

$

—

$

1

332,889

3,026
7,486
4,486
—
14,998
5,883
480
21,361

—

35
399,694
312
(87,432)
312,609

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

336,326
133
192
2,893
339,544
1,352
3,286
128
248
344,558

35
396,443
617
(73,898)
323,197
$

344,558

iTeos Therapeutics, Inc. and subsidiaries
Condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Operating expenses:
Research and development expenses
General and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income and expenses:
Grant income
Fair value adjustment for preferred stock tranche rights
liability
Research and development tax credits
Other income (expense), net
Net loss
Cumulative dividends on Series A preferred stock
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock to
redemption value
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Basic and diluted net loss per common share
Weighted-average common shares outstanding—basic and
diluted

$

$
$

11,643
7,046
18,689
(18,689)

$

4,915

1,589

—
—
240
(13,534)
—

1,265
184
(42)
(5,247)
(107)

—
(13,534)
(0.39)

$
$

35,086,662

Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Comprehensive loss

$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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5,825
2,418
8,243
(8,243)

(13,534)
(305)
(13,839)

(1,195)
(6,549)
(25.53)
256,548

$
$

(5,247)
(317)
(5,564)

iTeos Therapeutics, Inc. and subsidiaries
Condensed consolidated statements of redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit)
(unaudited)
In thousands except share amounts

Balance at December 31, 2019
Issuance of Series B-2 Preferred Stock, net of
issuance costs of $332
Settlement of preferred stock tranche right
Accretion of Series B and B-2 preferred stock
to redemption value
Stock-based compensation
Currency translation adjustment
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2020

In thousands except share amounts

Balance at December 31, 2020
Stock-based compensation
Common stock issued upon exercises of
options
Currency translation adjustment
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2021

Series A
preferred stock
Shares
Amount

6,167,726

$

Series B
preferred stock
Shares
Amount

5,353

20,942,781

—
—

—
—

—
—
—
—
6,167,726

—
—
—
—
5,353

Series A
preferred stock
Shares
Amount

—
—
—
—
—
—

$

$

Additional
paid-in
capital

Common stock
Shares
Amount

125,026
—

—
—

—
—

—
4,135

—
—

—
—
—
—
65,396,258

1,195
—
—
—
172,625

—
—
—
—
256,548

—
—
—
—
1

(1,195 )
186
—
—
3,126

—
—
(317 )
—
(541 )

—
—

—
—
—
-

—
—
—
-

$

—
—

35,044,758
—

—
—
—
-

56,241
—
—
35,100,999

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

35
—
—
—
—
35

—

$

44,453,477
—

Common stock
Shares
Amount

$

$

256,548

—
—

1

Accumulated
deficit

46,404

Series B
preferred stock
Shares
Amount

$

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
loss

Additional
paid-in
capital

$

396,443
2,584
667
—
—
399,694

(224 )

Total
stockholders’
equity
(deficit)

(35,865 )

(36,088 )

—
—

—
4,135

—
—
—
(5,247 )
(41,112 )

(1,195 )
186
(317 )
(5,247 )
(38,526 )

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Accumulated
deficit

Total
stockholders’
equity

$

$

$

617
—
—
(305 )
—
312

(73,898 )
—
—
—
(13,534 )
(87,432 )

323,197
2,584
667
(305 )
(13,534 )
312,609

iTeos Therapeutics, Inc. and subsidiaries
Condensed consolidated statements of cash flows
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Change in operating lease right-of-use assets
Fair value adjustment for preferred stock tranche rights liability
Deferred rent
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Grants receivable
Research and development tax credits receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Deferred income
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Purchase of other assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of Series B-2 Preferred Stock
Payment of issuance costs on Series B-2 Preferred Stock
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon exercise of options
Proceeds from grants repayable
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period
Non-cash investing and financing activities
Accretion of Series B and B-2 Preferred Stock to redemption value
Operating lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets
Supplemental disclosure of cash flows
Cash paid for taxes
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

$

(13,534)

$

(5,247)

126
2,584
6
—
—

121
186
—
(1,265)
(12)

(1,149)
191
493
2,348
(2,115)
(3,740)
(14,790)

5,070
(184)
(440)
3,349
(973)
(84)
521

(88)
(3)
(91)

(27)
(10)
(37)

—
—
667
—
667
(717)
(14,931)
336,454
321,523

125,358
(332)
—
2,713
127,739
(360)
127,863
19,990
147,853

$

—
3,206

$

1,195
—

—

$

2

iTeos Therapeutics, Inc.
Notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
(unaudited)
Note 1. Nature of business and basis of presentation
Description of business and corporate reorganization
iTeos Therapeutics, Inc. (iTeos Inc. or the Company), a Delaware corporation headquartered in Cambridge, Massachusetts
(incorporated on October 4, 2019), is the successor to iTeos Belgium SA (iTeos Belgium) a company organized under the laws of Belgium in
2011 and headquartered in Charleroi, Belgium. The Company is a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company pioneering the discovery and
development of a new generation of highly differentiated immuno-oncology therapeutics for patients. The Company leverages its deep
understanding of the tumor microenvironment and cancer immunology and immunosuppressive pathways to design novel product candidates
with the potential to fully restore the immune response against cancer. The Company’s innovative pipeline includes two clinical-stage
programs targeting novel, validated immuno-oncology pathways designed with optimized pharmacologic properties for improved clinical
outcomes.. The Company’s initial antibody product candidate, EOS-448, is a high affinity, potent, anti-TIGIT antibody with a functional Fc
domain, designed to enhance the anti-tumor response through a multifaceted immune modulatory mechanism. An open-label Phase 1/2a
clinical trial of EOS-448 is ongoing in adult cancer patients with advanced solid tumors. The Company is also advancing inupadenant, a nextgeneration adenosine A2A receptor antagonist tailored to overcome cancer immunosuppression. iTeos is conducting an open-label multi-arm
Phase 1/2a clinical trial of inupadenant in adult cancer patients with advanced solid tumors. The Company also has a preclinical pipeline
targeting additional mechanisms.
On October 4, 2019, the Company completed a corporate reorganization in which iTeos Inc., iTeos Belgium, and the stockholders of
iTeos Belgium entered into an Equity Contribution and Exchange Agreement (Share Exchange), pursuant to which all outstanding shares of
preferred stock, common stock and profit certificates of iTeos Belgium were exchanged on a one-for-one basis for newly issued shares of
iTeos Inc. iTeos Inc. was a newly-formed holding company, and as a result of the Share Exchange, iTeos Belgium became a wholly owned
subsidiary of iTeos Inc. iTeos Therapeutics U.S. Inc. (iTeos U.S.) included the Company’s U.S. operations and was located in Cambridge,
Massachusetts. iTeos U.S., which was a wholly owned subsidiary of iTeos Belgium prior to the Share Exchange, continued to be a wholly
owned subsidiary of iTeos Belgium throughout 2019. On February 28, 2020, iTeos Inc. purchased iTeos U.S. from iTeos Belgium and then the
entities effectively merged.
The Share Exchange was accounted for in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standard
Codification (ASC) 805-50, Business Combinations—Related Issues. The Company evaluated the guidance in ASC 805-50 with respect to
the transaction between entities under common control and concluded that since all shareholders of iTeos Inc. and iTeos Belgium have
nearly identical ownership percentages and interests before and after the transaction, the Share Exchange lacks economic substance and
represents a transaction between entities with common ownership and should be accounted for in a manner consistent with common control
transactions and did not result in a change in control at the ultimate parent or the controlling shareholder level.
Reverse Stock Split and Initial Public Offering
On July 20, 2020, the Company effected a 1-for-3.3115 reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock and adjusted the ratio at
which the Company’s preferred stock is convertible into common stock, as well as the number of shares under the 2019 Stock Option and
Grant Plan and the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of iTeos Therapeutics, Inc., as well as the share amounts of stock
grants under the plan and the number of options and exercise prices of options under the plan. All shares of common stock, stock options
exercisable for shares of common stock, and per share information presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto have been adjusted, where applicable, to reflect the reverse stock split on a retroactive basis for all periods presented. There
was no change in the par value of the Company’s common stock.
On July 28, 2020, the Company completed its initial public offering (IPO), in which the Company issued and sold 10,586,316 shares of
its common stock, for aggregate gross proceeds of $201.1 million and its shares started trading on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under
the ticker symbol “ITOS.” The Company received approximately $184.0 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and other estimated offering expenses payable by the Company. Upon closing of the IPO, all of the Company's outstanding
shares of convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 22,460,076 shares of common stock.
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On August 5, 2020, the underwriters purchased an additional 1,505,359 shares of common stock pursuant to their option to purchase
additional shares for net proceeds of $26.6 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions.
Liquidity and capital resources
Since inception, the Company’s activities have consisted primarily of performing research and development to advance its product
candidates. The Company is still in the development phase and has not been marketing any developed products to-date. Since inception, the
Company has incurred recurring losses, including a net loss of $13.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021. As of March 31,
2021, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $87.4 million. The Company expects to continue to generate operating losses in the
foreseeable future. As of May 13, 2021, the issuance date of the condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months ended
March 31, 2021, the Company expected that its cash and cash equivalents would be sufficient to fund its operating expenses, capital
expenditure requirements and debt service payments through at least 12 months from the issuance date of the condensed consolidated
financial statements.
The Company may seek additional funding in order to reach its development and commercialization objectives. The Company may not
be able to obtain funding on acceptable terms, or at all, and the Company may not be able to enter into collaborations or other arrangements.
The terms of any funding may adversely affect the holdings or the rights of the Company’s stockholders. If the Company is unable to obtain
funding, the Company could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate some or all of its research and development programs, product portfolio
expansion or commercialization efforts, which could adversely affect its business prospects.
The Company’s future results of operations involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Factors that could affect the Company’s future
operating results and cause actual results to vary materially from expectations include, but are not limited to, uncertainty regarding results of
clinical trials and reaching milestones, uncertainty of regulatory approval of the Company’s current or future product candidates, uncertainty
of market acceptance of the Company’s product candidates, if approved, competition from substitute products and larger companies,
securing and protecting proprietary technology, strategic relationships and dependence on key individuals and sole source suppliers. Product
candidates currently under development will require significant additional research and development efforts, including extensive preclinical
and clinical testing and regulatory approval prior to commercialization. These efforts require significant amounts of additional capital,
adequate personnel and infrastructure and extensive compliance-reporting capabilities and may not ultimately lead to a marketing approval
and commercialization of a product.
The Company’s product candidates require approvals from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and comparable foreign
regulatory agencies prior to commercial sales in their respective jurisdictions. There can be no assurance that any product candidates will
receive the necessary approvals. If the Company was denied approval, approval was delayed or the Company was unable to maintain
approval for any product candidate, it could have a materially adverse impact on the Company. Even if the Company’s product development
efforts are successful, it is uncertain when, if ever, the Company will realize significant revenue from product sales. The Company will need
to generate significant revenue to achieve profitability, and it may never do so.
COVID-19
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) emerged in Wuhan, Hubei Province, China. As of March 31, 2021,
COVID-19 has spread to Europe, the United States and many other countries, and has been declared a pandemic by the World Health
Organization. Efforts to contain the spread of COVID-19 have intensified. The United States, including the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
where our headquarters are located, as well as countries throughout Europe and Asia have implemented severe travel restrictions, social
distancing requirements and stay-at-home orders, among other restrictions, which, in some cases, have had the effect of delaying the
commencement of non-COVID-19-related clinical trials. As a result, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused significant disruptions to the U.S.,
regional and global economies and has contributed to significant volatility and negative pressure in financial markets.
The Company has been carefully monitoring the COVID-19 pandemic and its potential impact on the Company’s business and has
taken important steps to help ensure the safety of employees and their families and to reduce the spread of COVID-19 in the Cambridge and
Belgian communities. The Company has established a work-from-home policy for all employees, other than those performing or supporting
business-critical operations, such as certain members of our laboratory and facilities staff. For those employees, the Company has
implemented stringent safety measures designed to comply with applicable federal, state and local guidelines instituted in response to the
COVID-19 pandemic. The Company has also maintained efficient communication with the Company’s partners and clinical sites as the
COVID-19 situation has progressed. The Company has taken these precautionary steps while maintaining business continuity so that it can
continue to progress with its programs.
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While the COVID-19 pandemic did not significantly impact the Company’s business or results of operations during the three months
ended March 31, 2021, the length and extent of the pandemic, its consequences, containment efforts and the impact of available vaccines
will determine the future impact on the Company’s operations and financial condition.
Basis of presentation
The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).
The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company included herein have been prepared, without
audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Certain information and footnote disclosures
normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted from this report, as is
permitted by such rules and regulations. Accordingly, these condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with
the consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the notes thereto, which are included
in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-39401). The results for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of
results for any future period.
In the opinion of management, the information furnished reflects all adjustments, all of which are of a normal and recurring nature,
necessary for a fair presentation of the results for the reported interim periods. The Company considers events or transactions that occur
after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are issued to provide additional evidence relative to certain estimates or to
identify matters that require additional disclosure. The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results to be
expected for the full year or any other interim period.
Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies
Principles of consolidation
The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include the Company’s accounts and those of its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts, transactions and balances have been eliminated.
Use of estimates
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and expenses, as well as the related disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities. Estimates are used to determine the fair value of the preferred stock tranche rights liability, the fair value of
common stock and stock-based awards and other issuances, accruals for research and development costs, useful lives of long-lived assets,
probability of repayment for grants repayable, and uncertain tax positions. Actual results could differ materially from the Company’s
estimates.
The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will directly or indirectly impact the Company’s business, results of operations and
financial condition, including expenses, research and development costs and employee-related amounts, will depend on future developments
that are highly uncertain, including as a result of new information that may emerge concerning COVID-19 and the actions taken to contain or
treat COVID-19, as well as the economic impact on local, regional, national and international markets. The Company has considered the
impact of COVID-19 on estimates within its financial statements and there may be changes to those estimates in future periods. As of the
date of issuance of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements, the Company has not experienced material business
disruptions or incurred impairment losses in the carrying value of its assets as a result of the pandemic and is not aware of any specific
related event or circumstance that would require it to update its estimates.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Cash and cash equivalents consist of standard checking accounts, money market accounts, and a sweep account that consists of
money market funds with highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less. Restricted cash represents collateral provided for
letters of credit issued as security deposits in connection with the Company’s leases of its corporate facilities.
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Deferred offering costs
The Company capitalizes incremental legal, professional accounting and other third-party fees that are directly associated with inprocess preferred stock or common stock financings as other non-current assets until such financings are consummated. After
consummation of the equity financing, these costs are recorded as a reduction to the carrying value of convertible preferred stock or
additional paid-in-capital generated as a result of the offering. Should a planned equity financing be abandoned, the deferred offering costs
will be expensed immediately as a charge to operating expenses in the condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
loss. After consummation of the IPO, which closed on July 28, 2020, these costs were all recorded in stockholders’ equity as a reduction of
additional paid-in capital generated as a result of the offering.
Collaborative Arrangements
The Company analyzes its collaboration arrangements to assess whether such arrangements involve joint operating activities
performed by parties that are both active participants in the activities and exposed to significant risks and rewards dependent on the
commercial success of such activities and are, therefore within the scope of ASC Topic 808, Collaborative Arrangements. This assessment is
performed throughout the life of the arrangement and takes into consideration changes in the responsibilities of all parties to the
arrangement.
Recently adopted accounting standards updates
On January 1, 2021, the Company adopted Accounting Standard Update, or ASU No. 2016-02 (Topic 842), Leases, or ASC 842.
Under the standard, the Company accounts for leases using a right-of-use, or ROU, model, which recognizes that, at the date of
commencement, a lessee has a financial obligation to make lease payments to the lessor for the right to use the underlying asset during the
lease term. On the date of adoption, the Company recognized a $0.9 million of right-to-use assets and lease liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet.
At the inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease based on the unique
facts and circumstances present in the arrangement. Leases with a term greater than one year are recognized on the balance sheet as ROU
assets and short-term and long-term lease liabilities, as applicable. ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for
the lease term and lease liabilities represent its obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. The Company typically only
includes an initial lease term in its assessment of a lease arrangement. It also considers termination options and factors those into the
determination of lease payments. Options to renew a lease are not included in the assessment unless there is reasonable certainty that the
Company will renew.
Operating lease liabilities and their corresponding ROU assets are recorded based on the present value of lease payments over the
expected remaining lease term. The interest rate implicit in lease contracts is typically not readily determinable. As a result, the Company
utilizes its incremental borrowing rate, which reflects the fixed rate at which it could borrow on a collateralized basis the amount of the lease
payments in the same currency, for a similar term, in a similar economic environment. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
The Company is required to pay fees for operating expenses in addition to monthly base rent for certain operating leases (nonlease components). The Company has not elected the practical expedient which allows non-lease components to be combined with lease
components for all asset classes. Variable non-lease components are not included within the lease right-of-use asset and lease liability on
the consolidated balance sheet, and instead are reflected as expense in the period they are paid.
The Company’s real estate operating leases provide for scheduled annual rent increases throughout the lease terms. The Company
recognizes the effects of the scheduled rent increases on a straight-line basis over the full terms of such leases.
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Note 3. Fair value measurements
The following tables set forth the Company’s financial instruments that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within
the fair value hierarchy as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020:

(in thousands)

March 31, 2021
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Cash equivalents (money market funds)
Totals

$
$

(in thousands)

306,446
306,446

$
$

$
$

314,636
314,636

$
$

Total

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

December 31, 2020
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Cash equivalents (money market funds)
Totals

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

306,446
306,446

Total

314,636
314,636

Cash equivalents consist of money market funds, which are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy because they are
valued using quoted market prices in an active market.
The fair value of the Series B Preferred Stock tranche rights liability was estimated using a probability-weighted present value of the
benefit of investment with the following significant unobservable inputs (Level 3):
Valuation Dates
March 23, 2020
(Tranche 3
settlement)

Implied equity value (in millions)
Probability of success of reaching necessary
milestone:
Tranche 2 milestone
Tranche 3 milestone (by March 31, 2020)
Expected industry return over period during which
milestones are expected to be achieved
Risk-free interest rate

$

208.2

N/A
90%
13.0%
1.1%

During the periods presented, the Company has not changed the manner in which it values assets and liabilities that are measured at
fair value. The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period. There were no
transfers within the hierarchy during the three month periods ended March 31, 2021 and 2020.
The following table presents changes during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 in Level 3 liabilities measured at fair
value on a recurring basis:
Preferred
Stock
Tranche
Rights
Liability

(in thousands)

Balances at January 1, 2020
Change in estimated fair value
Settlement of tranche right
Balances at March 31, 2020

$

$

5,400
(1,265)
(4,135)
—

The preferred stock tranche rights liability was settled on March 24, 2020 and no liability exists thereafter.
The above fair value measurements are sensitive to changes in the underlying unobservable inputs. A change in those inputs could
result in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement.
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Note 4. Supplemental balance sheet information
Property and equipment
Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:
March 31,
2021

(in thousands)

Scientific equipment
Furniture & office equipment
Leasehold improvements
Total
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property & equipment, net

$

$

December 31,
2020

2,548 $
641
822
4,011
(2,661)
1,350 $

2,617
542
855
4,014
(2,662)
1,352

Depreciation and amortization expense was $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:
March 31,
2021

(in thousands)

Accrued clinical trial costs
Accrued personnel costs
Accrued professional fees
Accrued other
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities

$

$

3,566
1,671
40
37
5,314

December 31,
2020

$

$

4,012
3,208
37
229
7,486

Note 5. License and collaboration agreements
Adimab
In January 2017, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement (as amended, the Adimab Agreement) with Adimab, LLC
(Adimab). Adimab has developed an antibody discovery and optimization technology platform. This collaboration enables the Company’s
research and development efforts on discovery and optimization of new antibodies against immuno-oncology targets the Company may
identify.
Under the terms of the Adimab Agreement, Adimab has granted the Company a worldwide, non-exclusive research license for a oneyear research term period and evaluation period for up to 18 months per research program. The Company is required to use commercially
reasonable efforts to perform its research activities under the Adimab Agreement and, if the Company exercises its right to obtain a
development and commercialization license, the Company is required to use commercially reasonable efforts to pursue development and
commercialization of a product directed to the applicable target. Under the terms of the Adimab Agreement, the Company granted Adimab a
worldwide, non-exclusive license under all of its patents and know-how that are reasonably necessary or useful for Adimab to perform its
research activities under the Adimab Agreement.
Payment terms to Adimab include a one-time upfront technology access fee in the tens of thousands and payments for research
support. Adimab is entitled to additional fees of up to a maximum of $0.4 million on a program-by-program basis for the achievement of
certain technical milestones, one of which was met and the Company paid $0.2 million in April 2017. Upon the Company’s exercise of an
option for an exclusive development and commercialization license, with respect to a target, the Company is required to make a low single
digit million-dollar payment to Adimab for each exercised option. In August 2018, the Company paid a $1.0 million nonrefundable fee to
exercise an option to acquire certain licenses from Adimab. One of the antibodies licensed under the Adimab Agreement is now what the
Company refers to as EOS-448. In February 2021, the Company entered into an amendment to the Adimab Agreement (the Amended
Adimab Agreement). The Amended Adimab Agreement specifies different milestone payments for new products that are derived from
research programs beginning after February 22, 2021 (the New Products). For New Products, on a per target basis, the Company may be
required to pay development, regulatory and commercial milestone payments totaling up to an aggregate of $45.8 million for the first three
products and additional milestone payments up to
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$14.5 million for each additional product. As of the date of these condensed consolidated financial statements, the Company has not pursued
any additional targets under the Adimab agreement that could potentially result in such milestone payments. The Company will pay Adimab
low to mid single-digit percentage royalties on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis, on worldwide net product sales of licensed
products. Royalties are payable on a licensed product-by-licensed product and country-by-country basis until the later of (i) expiration of the
last valid claim of a licensed patent right that covers such licensed product in such country, and (ii) ten years following the first commercial
sale of such licensed product in such country. To date, the Company has paid a total of $3.4 million to Adimab under the Adimab Agreement.
Adimab controls the filing, prosecution, maintenance and enforcement of the intellectual property that it licenses to the Company under
the Adimab Agreement. The Company has the right to enforce such licensed intellectual property against infringement if the infringement is
competitive with the Company’s licensed products and Adimab does not pursue enforcement. The Company controls the filing, prosecution,
maintenance and enforcement of the intellectual property the Company licenses to Adimab under the Adimab Agreement and all program
antibody patents.
The term of the Adimab Agreement will continue until the last to expire royalty term on a product-by-product and country-by-country
basis if the Company exercises its option, or in the event no option is exercised, the conclusion of the last-to-expire evaluation term, unless
terminated earlier by either party. Each party has the right to terminate the Adimab Agreement due to the other party’s uncured material
breach or the Company’s abandonment of the product.
MSD International GmbH
On December 10, 2019, the Company entered into a Clinical Trial Collaboration and Supply Agreement (the MSD Agreement) with
MSD International GmbH (MSD), a subsidiary of Merck & Co., Inc. Under the MSD Agreement, the Company will sponsor a clinical trial in
which both the Company’s compound and MSD’s compound will be dosed in combination. The Company will conduct the research at its own
cost and MSD will contribute its compound towards the study at no cost to the Company. The parties will equally own the clinical data and
inventions from the study, with the exception of inventions relating solely to each party’s compound class. The MSD Agreement will expire
upon the delivery of a written report on the results of the study, unless earlier terminated or agreed by the parties.
The Company began receiving compounds from MSD on April 1, 2020 and the Company began the research study in the third quarter
of 2020. The terms of the MSD Agreement meet the criteria under ASC Topic 808, Collaborative Arrangements (ASC 808), as both parties
are active participants in the activity and are exposed to the risks and rewards dependent on the commercial success of the activity. ASC
808 does not provide guidance on how to account for the activities under the collaboration, and the Company determined that neither party
met the definition of a customer under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Accordingly, the Company considered other
guidance to determine the accounting for the respective elements of the arrangement. The Company accounted for the collaboration
activities by analogy to ASC Topic 845, Nonmonetary Transactions, and recognized nonmonetary income with an offsetting entry to expense
for amounts received from MSD within research and development expense in the condensed consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive loss.
Note 6. Government grant funding and potential repayment commitments under recoverable cash advance grants (RCAs)
The Company has been awarded grants from the Walloon Region, a federal region of Belgium (the Walloon Region) and the European
Union (the granting agencies) to fund research and development activities. The grants reimburse a percentage (55-100%) of actual qualifying
expenditures. The Company periodically submits proof of qualifying expenditures to the granting agencies for approval and reimbursement.
To date, the Company has received funding under several grants which included no obligation to repay and two grants that include potential
obligations to repay (RCAs).
As the granting agencies do not meet the definition of a customer under Topic 606, qualifying grants receipts are recognized as grant
income within other income in the condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.
Grants which do not include an obligation to repay
The total amount that the granting agencies have agreed to fund in the future if the Company incurs qualifying research and
development expenses under these grants is $1.2 million.
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Grants which include a potential obligation to repay—RCAs
On July 20, 2017, the Company entered into a recoverable cash advance arrangement whereby the Walloon Region will provide the
Company with up to $22.1 million for a research and development program to perform clinical validation of an A2A receptor antagonist drug
candidate for immune-oncology (RCA-1).
On December 3, 2019, the Company entered into another recoverable cash advance arrangement with the Walloon Region (RCA-2)
for up to $4.1 million to be received to fund a research and development program conducted to develop a TIGIT blocking antibody with antitumor properties.
Under the terms of both agreements, the Company must decide within 6 months after the end of the research period whether it will
further pursue commercial development or out licensing of the drug candidate. The research period for RCA-1 and RCA-2 ends in December
and February 2021, respectively, per the current agreements. The Company is currently negotiating an extension of time for RCA-2 with the
Walloon Region. The Company must repay 30% of the amount received under the grant by annual installments from 2022 to 2041 (the fixed
annual repayments) unless the Company decides not to pursue commercial development or out licensing of the drug candidate, applies for a
waiver from the Walloon Region justifying its decision based upon the failure of the program, and returns the intellectual property to the
Walloon Region. Because of the requirement to repay 30% of the amounts received under the grant, the Company records the present value
of such amounts as grants repayable on the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
In addition, in the event that the Company receives revenue from products or services related to the results of the research, it has to
pay to the Walloon Region a 0.33% royalty on revenue resulting from RCA-1 and a 0.12% royalty on revenue resulting from RCA-2. The
maximum amount payable to the Walloon Region under each grant, including the fixed annual repayments, the royalty on revenue, and the
interest thereon, is twice the amount of funding received. The Company assessed whether there is an obligation to make a royalty payment
based on the probability of successful completion of the research and development and future sales and commercial success of the drug
candidate, and no grant repayable related to royalties was recorded as of March 31, 2021 or December 31, 2020.
The Company recorded grant income in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the three
months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 for amounts of grants received from the Walloon Region in the period during which the related
qualifying expenses were incurred, net of any grants repayable recorded in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
The Company recorded receivables on the condensed consolidated balance sheets related to amounts the Walloon Region owes the
Company based on qualifying expenses incurred by the Company. The Company recorded deferred income in the condensed consolidated
balance sheets for amounts received from the Walloon Region in advance of incurring qualifying expenses.
The following table reflects activity for grant programs for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 and end of period
balances as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020:
RCA -1
(In thousands)

Cash received
Grant income
Grants receivable at the end
of the period
Grants repayable at the end
of the period

2021

$

RCA-2
2020

—
855

$

2021

7,693
1,132

$

Other Grants
2021
2020

2020

—
435

1,938
371

$

—
3,625

$

Total
2021

—
86

$

—
4,915

2020

$

9,631
1,589

—

—

540

—

701

133

1,241

133

4,898

5,102

744

781

N/A

—

5,642

5,883

Note 7. Stockholders’ equity
On July 20, 2020, the Company effected a 1-for-3.3115 reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock and adjusted the ratio at
which the Company’s preferred stock was convertible into common stock, as well as the number of shares under the 2019 Stock Option and
Grant Plan and the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of iTeos Therapeutics, Inc., as well as the share amounts of stock
grants under the plan and the number of options and exercise prices of options under the plan. All shares of common stock, stock options
exercisable for shares of common stock, and per share information presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto have been
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adjusted, where applicable, to reflect the reverse stock split on a retroactive basis for all periods presented. There was no change in the par
value of the Company’s common stock.
On July 28, 2020, the Company completed an IPO of 10,586,316 shares of its common stock, for aggregate gross proceeds of $201.1
million and its shares started trading on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the ticker symbol “ITOS.” The Company received
approximately $184.0 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other estimated offering expenses
payable by the Company. Upon closing of the IPO, all of the Company's outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock automatically
converted into 22,460,076 shares of common stock. On August 5, 2020, the underwriters purchased an additional 1,505,359 shares of
common stock pursuant to their option to purchase additional shares for net proceeds of $26.6 million after deducting underwriting discounts
and commissions.
On July 28, 2020, in connection with the IPO, the Company filed a restated Certificate of Incorporation, which, among other things,
restated the number of shares of all classes of stock that the Company has authority to issue to 160,000,000 shares, of which (i) 150,000,000
shares shall be a class designated as common stock, par value $0.001 per share, and (ii) 10,000,000 shares shall be a class designated as
undesignated preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share. Each share of common stock entitles the holders to one vote on all matters
submitted to a vote of the Company’s stockholders. Common stockholders are not entitled to receive dividends, unless declared by the board
of directors.
Note 8. Stock-based compensation
2019 Stock Option and Grant Plan
The Company’s 2019 Stock Option and Grant Plan (the 2019 Plan) provided for the Company to grant stock options and other stockbased awards to employees and non-employees to purchase the Company’s common stock. On March 24, 2020, the Board of Directors
approved an increase to the total authorized options under the 2019 Stock Option and Grant Plan to 3,464,316. Upon the effectiveness of the
2020 Plan (as defined below), no further issuances will be made under the 2019 Plan.
On July 15, 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an amendment stock options outstanding under the 2019 Stock Option
and Grant Plan to provide for immediate 100% vesting for all outstanding options under the plan upon the consummation of a Sale Event, as
defined by the amendment.
2020 Stock Option and Incentive Plan
The 2020 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the 2020 Plan) was approved by the Company’s board of directors on July 15, 2020, and
the Company’s stockholders on July 20, 2020 and became effective on July 22, 2020, the date immediately prior to the date on which the
registration statement for the Company’s IPO became effective. The 2020 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, non-qualified
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units, restricted stock awards, unrestricted stock awards, cash-based awards and
dividend equivalent rights to the Company’s officers, employees, directors and consultants. The number of shares of common stock initially
reserved for issuance under the 2020 Plan is 3,809,818 which was cumulatively increased on January 1, 2021 and will be increase each
January 1 thereafter by 5% of the number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on the immediately preceding December
31 or such lesser number of shares as determined by the Company’s compensation committee of the board of directors. Accordingly, on
January 1, 2021, the number of shares of common stock reserved and available for issuance under the 2020 Plan increased by
1,752,237. The number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance as of March 31, 2021 under the 2020 Plan was 5,562,055.The
2020 Plan replaced the 2019 Plan, as the Company’s board of directors is not expected to make additional awards under the 2019 Plan
following the completion of the IPO. However, the 2019 Plan will continue to govern outstanding equity awards granted thereunder.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the 2020 ESPP) was approved by the Company’s board of directors on July 15, 2020, and
the Company’s stockholders on July 20, 2020, and became effective on July 22, 2020, the date immediately prior to the date on which the
registration statement for the Company’s IPO was declared effective. The ESPP initially reserved and authorized the issuance of up to a total
317,484 shares of common stock to participating employees. The ESPP provides that the number of shares reserved and available for
issuance automatically increased on January 1, 2021 and will automatically increase each January 1 thereafter by the lesser of 634,969
shares of common stock, 1% of the outstanding number of shares of common stock on the immediately preceding December 31, or such
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lesser number of shares as determined by the Company’s compensation committee. Accordingly, on January 1, 2021, the number of shares
of common stock reserved and available for issuance under the 2020 ESPP increased by 350,447. The number of shares of common stock
reserved for issuance as of March 31, 2021 under the 2020 ESPP was 667,931. As of March 31, 2021, no shares had been issued under
the 2020 ESPP.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Stock-based compensation expense is classified in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss as
follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020

(in thousands)

Research and development
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

$

275
2,309
2,584

$

$

50
136
186

$

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the three months ended March 31, 2021:

Shares

Outstanding as of December 31, 2020
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised
Outstanding as of March 31, 2021
Exercisable at March 31, 2021

4,552,396 $
529,200
(2,415)
(56,241)
5,022,940 $
891,880 $

Stock Options
Weighted
average
Weighted
remaining
average
contractual
exercise
life (in
price
years)

9.13
41.05
4.24
11.85
12.46
4.39

Aggregate
intrinsic
value (in
thousands)

8.2

8.2
4.7

$
$

109,086
26,571

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options awarded during the three month periods ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 was
approximately $31.98 per share and $2.95 per share, respectively. As of March 31, 2021, there was a total of $38.4 million of unrecognized
employee compensation costs related to non-vested stock option awards expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.5
years.
The Company estimates the fair value of stock-based compensation utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which is
dependent upon several variables, such as expected term, volatility, risk-free interest rate, and expected dividends. Each of these inputs is
subjective and generally requires significant judgment to determine. Stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the
fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective
award.
The following table summarizes the range of key assumptions used to determine the fair value of stock options granted during:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020

Risk-free interest rate
Expected term (in years)
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
Estimated fair value of common stock

0.42% to 0.71%
6
99% to 100%
—
$32.00 - $41.58
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$

1.40%
6
90%
—
2.95

Note 9. Commitments and contingencies
Purchase commitments
The Company has contractual arrangements with research and development organizations and suppliers; however, these contracts
are generally cancelable on 30-60 days’ notice and the obligations under these contracts are largely based on services performed. The
Company may also enter into contracts in the normal course of business with clinical research organizations for clinical trials, with contract
manufacturing organizations for clinical supplies and with other vendors for preclinical studies, supplies and other services and products for
operating purposes. These contracts generally provide for termination on notice. As of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, there were
no amounts accrued related to termination charges.
Operating leases
The Company’s operating leases are as follows:
•
•
•

An April 2016 lease for 1,577 square meters of office and laboratory space in Gosselies, Belgium, which commenced in May 2016
and terminates in December 2021. In January 2021, the Company entered into an agreement to extend the lease, effective
February 2021 with a termination date of January 2030, and increase the office and laboratory space by 201 square meters.
A December 2018 lease for 2,479 square feet of office in Cambridge, Massachusetts, which commenced in May 2019 and
terminates in May 2022. The lease is subject to fixed-rate rent escalations.
Various car leases that the Company enters into from time to time. The average life of each car lease is 48 months.
Rent expense was $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
The following table summarizes lease terms and discount rate:
March 31,
2021

Weighted-average remaining lease term (years)
Weighted-average discount rate

December 31,
2020

7.2
4.80%

—
—

The following table summarizes the cash flow and other information:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020

(in thousands)

Operating lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets (non-cash)
Operating cash flows used in operating leases

$
$

3,206
179

$

—
—

As of March 31, 2021, the Company had the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases for the
remainder of 2021 and the future years thereafter (in thousands):
Year ending December 31:

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total Lease Payments
Less: Interest
Total Lease Liability
Lease liability
Lease liability, net of current portion

$

$
$

562
571
452
418
351
1,314
3,668
(615)
3,053
550
2,503

In March 2019, the Company provided a letter of credit for approximately $57,000 to secure its obligation under its lease in Cambridge.
The Company maintains that amount of cash on hand to fund any necessary draws on the letter of
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credit. In addition, as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company has approximately $81,000 and $71,000 on hand serving as
a guarantee for its lease obligation in Belgium. These amounts have been classified as restricted cash in the condensed consolidated
balance sheets as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.
Note 10. Related party transactions
On June 11, 2018, the Company entered into a Royalty Transfer Agreement with the charitable foundations of two of its investors
(MPM Oncology Charitable Foundation, Inc. and UBS Optimus Foundation), which requires it to pay a royalty equal to a total of 1% percent
of its net product sales each year within 120 days following each year end. Such agreement was entered into as a result of the capital
contributions received from the investors. As the Company has no product sales to date, no royalties were owed to these charitable
foundations as of March 31, 2021.
Note 11. Net loss per share attributable to common stock
The following common stock equivalents were excluded from the calculation of net loss per share due to their anti-dilutive effect:
March 31,
2021

Series B and B-2 Preferred Stock, as converted
Series A Preferred Stock, as converted
Stock options outstanding
Total

—
—
5,022,940
5,022,940

2020

20,297,760
1,862,510
1,847,987
24,008,257

Note 12. Subsequent events
The Company evaluated all subsequent events through the date of issuance, and no material subsequent events were noted.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operation
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our audited
consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2020 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC. Some of the information contained in this discussion includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
As a result of many factors, including those factors set forth in the “Risk factors” section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our actual
results could differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion
and analysis.
Overview
We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company pioneering the discovery and development of a new generation of highly
differentiated immuno-oncology therapeutics for patients. We leverage our deep understanding of the tumor microenvironment and
immunosuppressive pathways to design novel product candidates with the potential to fully restore the immune response against cancer. Our
innovative pipeline includes two clinical-stage programs targeting novel, validated immuno-oncology pathways designed with optimized
pharmacologic properties for improved clinical outcomes. Our lead antibody product candidate, EOS-448, is an antagonist of TIGIT, or T-cell
immunoreceptor with lg and ITIM domains, an immune checkpoint with multiple mechanisms of action leading to immunosuppression. EOS448 was also selected to engage the Fc gamma receptor, or FcγR, to activate dendritic cells and macrophages and to promote antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity, or ADCC, activity. In 2020 we enrolled an open-label Phase 1/2a clinical trial of EOS-448 in adult cancer
patients with advanced solid tumors. Preliminary safety, pharmacokinetic, efficacy and pharmacodynamic, or PD, data was reported at the
American Association of Cancer Research (AACR) annual meeting in April of 2021 indicating target engagement and early evidence of
clinical activity of a single agent. We are also advancing inupadenant, a next-generation adenosine A2A receptor, or A2AR, antagonist
tailored to overcome cancer immunosuppression. Inupadenant formerly referred to as EOS-850, is designed as a highly selective small
molecule antagonist of the A2AR, in the adenosine pathway, a key driver of immunosuppression in the tumor microenvironment across a
broad range of tumors. We are investigating inupadenant in an open-label multi-arm Phase 1/2a clinical trial in adult cancer patients with
advanced solid tumors and in the dose escalation portion of the trial, it has shown encouraging preliminary single-agent activity. In addition
to the single-agent cohort, we commenced dosing in a cohort evaluating inupadenant in combination with pembrolizumab in the third quarter
or 2020 and a cohort evaluating inupadenant with chemotherapy in the fourth quarter of 2020. We will report additional data from
monotherapy expansion cohorts at ASCO in June 2021. We are using our expertise in tumor immunology to select additional targets for other
novel, differentiated programs. We continue to progress research programs focused on additional targets that complement our TIGIT and
A2AR programs or address additional pathways immunosupression. We expect to nominate an additional product candidate for
commencement of Investigational New Drug, or IND, enabling studies before the end of 2021. We retain worldwide rights to develop and
commercialize all of our product candidates.

Since our inception in August 2011, we have devoted substantially all of our resources to organizing and staffing our company,
business planning, raising capital, conducting discovery and research activities, filing patent applications, identifying potential product
candidates, undertaking preclinical studies and clinical trials and establishing arrangements with third parties for the manufacture of initial
quantities of our product candidates and component materials. To date, we have not generated any revenue from product sales and have
financed our operations primarily through our IPO. Through March 31, 2021, we had raised an aggregate of $210.6 million of net proceeds
from the IPO and $177.1 million from the sale of preferred stock. As of March 31, 2021, our principal source of liquidity was cash and cash
equivalents, which totaled $321.4 million.
We have incurred recurring losses since inception. Our net losses were $13.5 million and $5.2 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of March 31, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $87.4 million. Our ability to generate product
revenue sufficient to achieve profitability will depend heavily on the successful development and eventual commercialization of one or more
of our current or future product candidates.
We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating losses in connection with ongoing development activities,
particularly if and as we:
•

continue preclinical studies and clinical trials and initiate new clinical trials for our product candidates;

•

pursue regulatory approvals for our product candidates;
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•

advance the development of our product candidate pipeline;

•

continue research activities as we seek to discover and develop additional product candidates;

•

obtain, maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

•

hire additional research and development, clinical and commercial personnel;

•

scale up our clinical and regulatory capabilities; and

•

add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our research and
development programs, any future commercialization efforts and our transition to operating as a public company.

As a result of these anticipated expenditures, we will need substantial additional financing to support our continuing operations and
pursue our growth strategy. Until such time as we can generate significant revenue from product sales, if ever, we expect to finance our
operations through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, grants, collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements.
We may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into such other agreements when needed on favorable terms or at all. Our inability to
raise capital as and when needed would have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to pursue our business strategy. We
will need to generate significant revenue to achieve profitability, and we may never do so.
As of March 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $321.4 million. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents
will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements into 2023. Our future viability beyond that point is
dependent on our ability to raise additional capital to finance our operations. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to
be wrong, and we could exhaust our available capital resources sooner than we expect. See “Liquidity and capital resources.” Because of the
numerous risks and uncertainties associated with our programs, we are unable to estimate the amounts of increased capital outlays and
operating expenses associated with completing the research and development of our product candidates.
We are party to collaboration and license agreements pursuant to which we may be required to make future royalty and milestone
payments. In January 2017, we entered into a collaboration agreement with Adimab, LLC, or Adimab, pursuant to which we paid $1.0 million
to exercise an option to acquire certain licenses from Adimab. One of the antibodies licensed under this agreement is what we now refer to
as EOS-448. In February 2021, we entered into an amendment to this agreement (the Amended Adimab Agreement). The Amended
Adimab Agreement specifies different milestone payments for new products that are derived from research programs beginning after
February 22, 2021 (the New Products). For New Products, on a per target basis, we may be required to pay development, regulatory and
commercial milestone payments totaling up to an aggregate of $45.8 million for the first three products and additional milestone payments up
to $14.5 million for each additional product. As of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we have not pursued any additional
targets under the Amended Adimab Agreement that could potentially result in such milestone payments. We will also pay Adimab low to mid
single-digit percentage royalties on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis on worldwide net sales of licensed products. To date,
we have paid a total of $3.4 million to Adimab pursuant the Adimab Agreement. We are also party to a biologics master services agreement
with WuXi Biologics Hong Kong Limited, or WuXi, pursuant to which we will pay WuXi, at our election, either a low single-digit percentage
royalty on global net sales of manufactured products or a one-time milestone payment in the low tens of millions.
On December 10, 2019, we entered into a Clinical Trial Collaboration and Supply Agreement (the MSD Agreement) with MSD
International GmbH (MSD), a subsidiary of Merck & Co., Inc. Under the MSD Agreement, we sponsor a clinical trial in which both our
compound and MSD’s compound are dosed in combination. We conduct the research at our own cost and MSD contributes its compound
towards the study at no cost to us. We will equally own the clinical data and inventions from the study, with the exception of inventions
relating solely to each party’s compound class. The MSD Agreement will expire upon the delivery of a written report on the results of the
study, unless earlier terminated or agreed by the parties. We began receiving compounds from MSD on April 1, 2020 and we began the
research study in the third quarter of 2020.
Impact of COVID-19
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic. In response to the rapid global spread of the
virus, national, state, and local governments issued orders and recommendations to attempt to reduce the further spread of the disease.
Such orders included movement control and shelter-in-place orders, travel restrictions, limitations on public gatherings, school closures,
social distancing requirements and the closure of all but critical and essential services and infrastructure. The United States, including the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts where our headquarters are located, as well as countries throughout Europe and Asia have implemented
severe travel restrictions, social distancing requirements and stay-at-home orders, among other restrictions, which, in some cases,
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have had the effect of delaying the commencement of non-COVID-19-related clinical trials. As a result, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused
significant disruptions to the U.S., regional and global economies and has contributed to significant volatility and negative pressure in
financial markets.
We have been carefully monitoring the COVID-19 pandemic and its potential impact on our business and have taken important steps
to help ensure the safety of our employees and their families and to reduce the spread of COVID-19 in the Cambridge and Belgian
communities. We have established a work-from-home policy for all employees, other than those performing or supporting business-critical
operations, such as certain members of our laboratory and facilities staff. For those employees, we have implemented stringent safety
measures designed to comply with applicable federal, state and local guidelines instituted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. We have
also maintained efficient communication with our partners and clinical sites as the COVID-19 situation has progressed. We have taken these
precautionary steps while maintaining business continuity so that we can continue to progress our programs. The effect of the COVID-19
pandemic on our development timelines for EOS-448 and inupadenant and its effect on our preclinical research and development is
uncertain.
While the potential economic impact brought by, and the duration of, COVID-19 may be difficult to assess or predict, a widespread
pandemic could result in significant disruption of global financial markets, reducing our ability to access capital, which could in the future
negatively affect our liquidity. In addition, a recession or market correction resulting from the spread of COVID-19 could materially affect our
business and the value of our common stock.
The future impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our industry, the healthcare system and our current and future operations and
financial condition will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the
scope, severity and duration of the pandemic, the actions taken to contain the pandemic or mitigate its impact, and the direct and indirect
economic effects of the pandemic and containment measures, and the impact of the available vaccines, among others. See “Risk factors” for
a discussion of the potential adverse impact of COVID-19 on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Components of our results of operations
Revenue
To date, we have not generated any revenue from product sales and do not expect to do so in the near future, if at all. All of our
revenue to date has been derived from licensing fees in connection with a research collaboration and license agreement with Pfizer, which
terminated in 2017. We had no revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020.
We expect that our revenue, if any, will be less than our expenses for the foreseeable future and that we will experience increasing
losses as we continue our development of, and seek regulatory approvals for, our product candidates and begin to commercialize any
approved products. Our ability to generate revenue for each product candidate for which we receive regulatory approval will depend on
numerous factors, including competition, commercial manufacturing capability and market acceptance of our products.
Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for the development of our product candidates, which include:
•

costs to obtain licenses to intellectual property and related future payments should certain success, development and regulatory
milestones be achieved;

•

employee-related expenses, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation expense;

•

expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations, or CROs, contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs,
and independent contractors that conduct research and development, preclinical and clinical activities on our behalf;

•

costs of purchasing lab supplies and non-capital equipment used in our preclinical activities and in manufacturing clinical study
materials through CMOs;

•

consulting and professional fees related to research and development activities; and

•

facility costs, depreciation, and other expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities,
insurance, and other supplies.
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We expense research and development costs as incurred. We recognize costs for certain development activities, such as preclinical
studies and clinical trials, based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks using information provided to us by our
vendors, such as patient enrollment or clinical site activations for services received and efforts expended.
Research and development activities are central to our business model. We expect research and development costs to increase
significantly for the foreseeable future as our current development programs progress and new programs are added.
Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development, we cannot determine with certainty the
duration and completion costs of the current or future preclinical studies and clinical trials or if, when, or to what extent we will generate
revenues from the commercialization and sale of any product candidates that receive regulatory approval. We may never succeed in
achieving regulatory approval for our product candidates. The duration, costs and timing of preclinical studies and clinical trials and
development of our product candidates will depend on a variety of factors, which could all be impacted by the COVID pandemic, including,
but not limited to:
•

successful enrollment in, and completion of, clinical trials;

•

receipt of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities;

•

successful completion of preclinical studies and IND-enabling studies;

•

establishing commercial manufacturing capabilities or making arrangements with third-party manufacturers;

•

obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and non-patent exclusivity;

•

launching commercial sales of the product, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

•

acceptance of a product, if and when approved, by patients, the medical community and third-party payors;

•

effectively competing with other therapies and treatment options;

•

a continued acceptable safety profile following approval;

•

enforcing and defending intellectual property and proprietary rights and claims; and

•

achieving desirable medicinal properties for the intended indications.

A change in the outcome of any of these factors could mean a significant change in the costs and timing associated with the
development of our current and future preclinical and clinical product candidates. For example, if the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authority were to require us to conduct clinical trials beyond those that we currently anticipate will be required for the completion of clinical
development, or if we experience significant delays in execution of or enrollment in any of our preclinical studies or clinical trials, we could be
required to expend significant additional financial resources and time on the completion of preclinical and clinical development.
The following table summarizes our principal product development programs, including direct research and development expenses
allocated to each clinical product candidate:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2021
2020

(in thousands)

Direct research and development expenses by
program:
EOS-448
Inupadenant
Other non-clinical programs
Indirect research and development expenses(1)
Total research and development expense
(1)

$

$

2,428
4,323
1,551
3,341
11,643

$

$

913
2,402
665
1,845
5,825

The substantial majority of these costs relate to the EOS-448 and inupadenant programs. Approximately half of these costs are payroll
and related costs for our employees performing in-house research and development activities and the remainder represents other
research and development costs.

General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of employee-related expenses, including salaries, benefits and stock-based
compensation, for personnel in executive, finance, business development, facility operations and
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administrative functions. Other significant costs include facility costs not otherwise included in research and development expenses, legal
fees relating to patent and corporate matters and fees for accounting, tax and consulting services.
Grant income
We have agreements with granting agencies whereby we receive funding under grants that partially or fully reimburse us for eligible
research and development expenditures. Certain grant agreements require us to repay the funding depending on whether we decide to
pursue commercial development or out-licensing of any drug candidate that is produced from the research program. The repayment
provision includes portion that is fixed (corresponding to 30% of the grant), payable in annual installments, which is effective unless we
decide not to pursue commercial development or out licensing of the drug candidate. The repayment provision also includes a potential
obligation to pay a royalty that is contingent upon achieving sales of a product developed through the program. The maximum amount
payable to the granting agency under each grant, including the fixed repayments, the royalty on revenue and the interest thereon, is twice the
amount of funding received.
Research and development tax credits
Our subsidiary iTeos Belgium SA, as a Belgian biotechnology company, qualifies for a cash-based tax credit on research and
development expenses. The credit is calculated based on a percentage of eligible research and development expenses defined by the
Belgian government for each fiscal year (13.5% for 2021 and 2020) and then applying the effective tax rate to that result. The research and
development tax credits are refundable to us if we are unable to use the credits to offset income taxes for the five subsequent tax years. We
record a receivable and other income as the qualified expenses are incurred, as we are reasonably assured that the credit will be received,
based upon our history of filing for the tax credits. Research and development tax credits receivable where we expect to receive refunds
more than one year after the balance sheet date are classified as noncurrent in the consolidated balance sheet.
Fair value adjustment for tranche rights
Prior to March 2020, we had an obligation to issue and our investors’ had an obligation to purchase additional shares of Series B
preferred stock. This obligation represented a freestanding financial instrument. The resulting preferred stock tranche right liabilities were
initially recorded at fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in the statement of operations and
comprehensive loss during each period while such instruments were outstanding and the tranche rights were settled in the first quarter of
2020. Accordingly, we are no longer required to record liabilities for these obligations or changes in the fair value of those liabilities.
Other income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net includes income and expenses that do not fall within other categories of the statement of operations and
comprehensive loss. Items included are interest income, bank fees and gain or loss on foreign currency transactions.
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Results of operations
Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, together with the
dollar change in those items:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2021
2020

(in thousands)

Operating expenses:
Research and development expenses
General and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income and expenses:
Grant income
Fair value adjustment for preferred stock tranche
rights liability
Research and development tax credits
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net loss

$

11,643 $
7,046
18,689
(18,689)
4,915

$

—
—
240
(13,534)
—
(13,534) $

5,825 $
2,418
8,243
(8,243)
1,589
1,265
184
(42)
(5,247)
—
(5,247) $

Period to
period
change

5,818
4,628
10,446
(10,446)
3,326
(1,265)
(184)
282
(8,287)
—
(8,287)

Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses increased by $5.8 million to $11.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, from $5.8
million for the three months ended March 31, 2020. This increase was primarily related to an increase of $1.6 million of payroll and related
costs, a $4.1 million increase CRO and CMO fees and internal laboratory expenses, a $0.2 million increase in stock-based compensation
and an increase of $0.1 million related to facilities. These increases were offset by a $0.2 million decrease in various other research and
development expenses. The overall increase was due to an increase in activities related to clinical trials, with the commencement of a Phase
1/2a clinical trial for EOS-448 in February 2020, as well as increased clinical activities for inupadenant. In addition, there was an increase in
spending related to our preclinical programs during the three months ended March 31, 2021.
General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses increased by $4.6 million to $7.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 from $2.4
million for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
The increase was primarily attributable to an increase of $0.7 million of payroll and related costs resulting from additional executives
and finance and administrative employees added to enable the Company to operate as a public company, a $2.2 million increase in stockbased compensation, an increase of $0.5 million in professional fees and an increase of $0.7 million for directors and officers insurance as a
result of becoming a public company. In addition, there was also a $0.5 million increase related to facilities, recruiting, franchise taxes and
various other general and administrative expenses.
Grant income
Grant income increased by $3.3 million to $4.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 from $1.6 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2020. The overall increase in grant income, driven by spending on qualified research and development activities,
was primarily attributable to the approval of the ENT1 program in March 2021. For the three months ended March, 31, 2021, we recognized
$3.6 million in grant income related to the ENT1 program. The remaining $0.3 million decrease in grant income related to other grants.
Research and development tax credits
Research and development tax credits decreased by $0.1 million. The decrease was caused by a decrease in qualifying research and
development expenses in Belgium.
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Fair value adjustment for preferred stock tranche rights liability
As a result of changes in the fair value of the preferred stock tranche rights liability, we recognized other income of $1.3 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2020. As of March 31, 2021, the tranche rights have been settled and the remaining liability has been
reclassified to additional paid-in capital.
Other income (expense), net
The other income (expense), net for the three months ended March 31, 2021 primarily relates to foreign exchange gains recorded as a
result of the change in euro to U.S. dollar exchange rate that occurred in the first quarter of 2021.
Liquidity and capital resources
In July 2020, we completed our IPO in which we issued and sold 10,586,316 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of
$19.00 per share. We received net proceeds from our IPO of $184.0 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and
estimated offering expenses payable by us. In early August 2020, we sold an additional 1,505,359 shares of common stock pursuant to the
underwriters’ exercise of their option to purchase additional shares for net proceeds of $26.6 million.
Since our inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. We expect to incur significant expenses and operating losses for
the foreseeable future as we advance the clinical development of our programs. To date, we have funded our operations primarily with
proceeds from the IPO, the sales of preferred stock, and grants and licenses. As of March 31, 2021, we had $321.4 million in cash and cash
equivalents.
To date, we have not generated any revenue from product sales and do not expect to generate revenue from the sale of products for
the foreseeable future. We anticipate the need for additional capital in order to continue to fund our research and development, including our
plans for clinical and preclinical trials and new product development, as well as to fund general operations. As and if necessary, we will seek
to raise these additional funds through various potential sources, such as equity and debt financings or through corporate collaboration and
license agreements. Especially in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, we can give no assurances that we will be able to secure such additional
sources of funds to support our operations on acceptable terms, if at all, or, if such funds are available to us, that such additional financing
will be sufficient to meet our needs. For a more detailed discussion of risks related to COVID-19, please see Part II., Item 1A., Risk factors—
Risks related to our relationships with third parties, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Cash flows
The following table provides information regarding our cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2021
2020

(in thousands)

Net cash (used in) provided by:
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

$

(14,790)
(91)
667
(717)
(14,931)

$

$

521
(37)
127,739
(360)
127,863

Net cash used in operating activities
During the three months ended March 31, 2021, we used cash in operating activities of $14.8 million, primarily resulting from our net
loss of $13.5 million, partially offset primarily by the non-cash charge related to stock-based compensation of $2.6 million, and a decrease in
deferred income of $3.7 million and a decrease in grants receivable of $1.1 million. Net cash provided by operating activities was $0.5 million
during the three months ended March 31, 2020. The change was primarily due to our net loss of $5.2 million, offset by the increase of $5.0
million in grants receivable.
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Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities increased $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 compared to the three months
ended March 31, 2020. The increase in cash used in investing activities was primarily due to higher investments in laboratory and other
equipment and software during the three months ended March 31, 2021.
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $0.7 million during the three months ended March 31, 2021. This was due to the
proceeds received from the exercise of stock options during the period. Net cash provided by financing activities was $127.7 million during
the three months ended March 31, 2020. We raised cash through the issuance of Series B-2 preferred stock, with net proceeds of $125.0
million. In addition, we received $2.7 million under grant programs with a potential obligation for repayment.
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
The $0.7 million reduction of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was primarily
caused by the reduction of the euro to dollar exchange rate between December 31, 2020 and March 31, 2021. The $0.4 million decrease for
the three months ended March 31, 2020 was primarily caused by the decrease in the euro to dollar exchange rate between December 31,
2019 and March 31, 2020.
Funding requirements
We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we continue our Phase 1/2a clinical trial
of EOS-448, continue our multi-arm Phase 1/2a clinical trial of inupadenant, advance the development of pipeline programs, initiate new
research and preclinical development efforts and seek marketing approval for any product candidates that we successfully develop. In
addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related
to establishing sales, marketing, distribution and other commercial infrastructure to commercialize such products. In July 2020, we completed
our IPO in which we issued and sold 10,586,316 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $19.00 per share. We received net
proceeds from our IPO of $184.0 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable
by us. In early August 2020, we issued and sold an additional 1,505,359 shares of common stock pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise of
their option to purchase additional shares for net proceeds of $26.6 million. Going forward, we expect to continue to incur additional costs
associated with operating as a public company. Accordingly, we will need to obtain additional funding in connection with our continuing
operations. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our
research and development programs or future commercialization efforts.
We believe that our cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2021, will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital
expenditure requirements through the second half of 2023.
We have based our projections of operating capital requirements on assumptions that may prove to be incorrect and we may use all of
our available capital resources sooner than we expect. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the development
and commercialization of EOS-448 and inupadenant, and the research, development and commercialization of other potential product
candidates, we are unable to estimate the exact amount of our operating capital requirements. Our future capital requirements will depend on
many factors, including:
•

the scope, progress, timing, costs and results of clinical trials of product candidates;

•

research and preclinical development efforts for any future product candidates that we may develop;

•

our ability to enter into and the terms and timing of any collaborations, licensing agreements or other arrangements;

•

the number of future product candidates that we pursue and their development requirements;

•

the outcome, timing and costs of seeking regulatory approvals;

•

the costs of commercialization activities for any of our product candidates that receive marketing approval to the extent such
costs are not the responsibility of any future collaborators, including the costs and timing of establishing product sales,
marketing, distribution and manufacturing capabilities;
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•

subject to receipt of marketing approval, revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our current and future product
candidates;

•

our headcount growth and associated costs as we expand our research and development and establish a commercial
infrastructure;

•

the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and protecting our intellectual property rights and
defending against intellectual property related claims;

•

the costs of operating as a public company; and

•

the emergence of competing therapies and other adverse market developments.

Identifying potential product candidates and conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials is a time-consuming, expensive and
uncertain process that takes many years to complete, and we may never generate the necessary data or results required to obtain marketing
approval and achieve product sales. In addition, our product candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success. Accordingly, we
will need to continue to rely on additional financing to achieve our business objectives. Adequate additional financing may not be available to
us on acceptable terms, or at all.
Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination
of equity offerings, debt financings, grants, collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements. Debt financing, if available, may
involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making
capital expenditures or declaring dividends.
If we raise funds through additional collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to
relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or to grant licenses on terms
that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings or grants when needed, we may
be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and
market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.
Contractual obligations and commitments
We enter into contracts in the normal course of business with CROs and clinical sites for the conduct of clinical trials, professional
consultants for expert advice and other vendors for clinical supply manufacturing or other services. These contracts provide for termination
on notice, and therefore are cancelable contracts and do not include any minimum purchase commitments.
During the three months ended March 31, 2021, we entered into an agreement to extend the Belgium lease, effective February 2021
with a termination date of January 2030, and increase the office and laboratory space by 201 square meters. There were no other significant
changes to our contractual obligations and commitments as of March 31, 2021, as described in the section entitled “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our final Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2020.
Critical accounting policies and significant judgments and estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements,
which we have prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. We believe that several accounting policies are
important to understanding our historical and future performance. We refer to these policies as critical because these specific areas generally
require us to make judgments and estimates about matters that are uncertain at the time we make the estimate, and different estimates—
which also would have been reasonable—could have been used. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including
those described in greater detail below. We base our estimates on historical experience and other market-specific or other relevant
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions.
There have been no significant changes to our existing critical accounting policies discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2020. We believe the following accounting policies to be most critical to the judgments and estimates used in
the preparation of our financial statements:
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Research and development expenses
As part of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate our accrued research and development
expenses. This process involves reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our personnel to identify services that
have been performed for us and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred for the service when we have not
yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of the actual cost. The majority of our service providers invoice us monthly in arrears for services
performed or when contractual milestones are met. We make estimates of our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in our
financial statements based on facts and circumstances known to us at that time, which we periodically confirm with the service providers and
make adjustments if necessary. Examples of accrued research and development expenses include fees paid to:
•

CROs in connection with clinical trials;

•

CMOs with respect to clinical materials, intermediates, drug substance and drug product;

•

vendors in connection with research and preclinical development activities; and

•

vendors related to manufacturing, development and distribution of clinical supplies.

We base our expenses related to clinical trials on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts
with multiple CROs that conduct and manage clinical trials on our behalf. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation,
vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. There may be instances in which payments made to our vendors for
goods or services will exceed the level of services provided and result in a prepayment of the clinical expense. Payments under some of
these contracts depend on factors such as the successful enrollment of subjects and the completion of clinical trial milestones. In accruing
service fees, we determine the time period over which services will be performed, enrollment of subjects and the level of effort to be
expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from our estimate, we adjust the
accrual or prepaid expense accordingly. Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts actually incurred,
differences may cause us to report amounts that are too high or too low in any particular period. To date, there have been no material
differences from our estimates to the amounts actually incurred.
Stock-based compensation expense
Prior to our IPO in July 2020, there had been no public market for our common stock. The estimated fair value of our common stock
was determined by our board of directors as of the date of each option grant, with input from management, considering our most recently
available third-party valuations of common stock, and our board of directors’ assessment of additional objective and subjective factors that it
believed were relevant and which may have changed from the date of the most recent valuation through the date of the grant. These thirdparty valuations were performed in accordance with the guidance outlined in the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’
Accounting and Valuation Guide, Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation. Our common stock
valuations were prepared using an option pricing method, or OPM, which used market approaches to estimate our enterprise value. The
OPM treats common stock and preferred stock as call options on the total equity value of a company, with exercise prices based on the value
thresholds at which the allocation among the various holders of a company’s securities changes. Under this method, the common stock has
value only if the funds available for distribution to stockholders exceeded the value of the preferred stock liquidation preferences at the time
of the liquidity event, such as a strategic sale or a merger. A discount for lack of marketability of the common stock is then applied to arrive at
an indication of value for the common stock. In addition to considering the results of these third-party valuations, our board of directors
considered both objective and subjective factors, including:
•

the prices at which we sold preferred stock and the superior rights and preferences of the preferred stock relative to our common
stock at the time of each grant;

•

the progress of our research and development programs, including the status of preclinical studies and planned clinical trials for
our product candidates;

•

our stage of development and our business strategy;

•

external market conditions affecting the biotechnology industry, and trends within the biotechnology industry;

•

our financial position, including cash and cash equivalents on hand, and our historical and forecasted performance and
operating results;

•

the lack of an active public market for our common stock and our preferred stock; and
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•

the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or a sale of our company in light of prevailing market
conditions.

The assumptions underlying these valuations represented management’s best estimate, which involved inherent uncertainties and the
application of management judgement. As a result, if factors or expected outcomes changed and we used significantly different
assumptions or estimates, our stock-based compensation could be materially different.
Following our IPO, the fair value of our common stock is determined based on the quoted market price of our common stock.
There were no significant changes to assumptions used to value options using the Black Scholes option pricing model in 2021, with
the exception of the stock and exercise prices.
Government grant funding and potential repayment commitments under recoverable cash advance grants (RCAs)
We have agreements with granting agencies whereby we receive funding under grants, which partially or fully reimburse us for eligible
research and development expenditures. Certain grant agreements require us to repay the funding wherein the repayment provision of the
grants are predicated on whether we decide to pursue commercial development or out licensing of the drug candidate that is produced from
the results of the research program. The repayment provision includes a portion that is fixed (corresponding to 30% of the grant) which is
effective after we decide to pursue commercial development or out licensing of the drug candidate. The repayment provision also includes a
potential obligation to pay a royalty that is contingent upon achieving sales of a product developed through the program. The maximum
amount payable to the granting agency under each grant, including the fixed repayments, the royalty on revenue, and the interest thereon, is
twice the amount of funding received.
Grant funding for research and development received under grant agreements where there is a repayment provision is recognized as
other income to the extent there is no potential obligation to repay this funding. We record the present value of the liability as a grant
repayable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The grant repayable is subsequently recorded at amortized cost. There were
no significant changes to assumptions in 2021.
Off-balance sheet arrangements
We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined under
the applicable regulations of the SEC.
Recent accounting pronouncements
Refer to Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements for
a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates. As of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, we had cash and
cash equivalents of $321.4 million and $336.3 million, respectively. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest rate sensitivity, which is
affected by changes in the general level of interest rates in the United States and Belgium. As of March 31, 2021, our cash and cash
equivalents is held primarily in savings, money market accounts and money market funds. Because of the short-term nature of the
instruments in our portfolio, an immediate 10% change in the interest rate would not have a material impact on the fair market value of our
investment portfolio or on our financial position or results of operations.
We are subject to the risk of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, specifically with respect to the euro. Our functional
currency is the U.S. dollar and the functional currency of our wholly owned subsidiary, iTeos Belgium SA, is the euro. An immediate 5%
change in the Euro exchange rate would not have any material effect on our results of operations.
Assets and liabilities of iTeos Belgium SA are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date.
Income items and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate in effect during the period. Unrealized translation gains and losses
are recorded as a cumulative translation adjustment, which is included in the consolidated statements of stockholders’ deficit as a component
of accumulated other comprehensive loss. Adjustments
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that arise from exchange rate changes on transactions denominated in a currency other than the local currency are included in other income
and expenses, net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss as incurred.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The term “disclosure
controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by
a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls, and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons
performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives
and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on
such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
From time to time, we may be a party to litigation or subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business. Although the results
of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we currently believe that the final outcome of these ordinary course matters will not
have a material adverse effect on our business. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense
and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors. We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Risk factors
The following risk factors and other information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should be carefully considered. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we presently
deem less significant may also impair our business operations. Please see the Section titled “Forward-Looking Statements” in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of some of the forward-looking statements that are qualified by these risk factors. If any of the following
risks occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations and future growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected.
Risks related to the development of our product candidates
Risks related to clinical development
We will not be able to commercialize our current product candidates and any future product candidates if our preclinical studies do
not produce successful results or our clinical trials do not demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our current or future product
candidates.
Our most advanced product candidate, inupadenant, has been administered to adult patients with advanced solid tumors in a first-in-human
open-label multi-arm Phase 1/2a clinical trial, and we have initiated dosing of a second part evaluating inupadenant in combination with
pembrolizumab. We also plan to evaluate inupadenant in a third part with carboplatin and paclitaxel. In addition, in February 2020, we dosed
our first patients with our lead antibody product candidate, EOS-448, in a first-in-human open-label Phase 1/2a clinical trial in adult patients
with advanced cancers. We have additional oncology-focused product candidates in preclinical development. Our current product candidates
and any future product candidates we may develop will require preclinical and clinical trials before we can submit a marketing application to
the applicable regulatory authorities. Our current product candidates and any future product candidates are susceptible to the risks of failure
inherent at any stage of product development, including the occurrence of unexpected or unacceptable adverse events or the failure to
demonstrate efficacy in clinical trials. Clinical development is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently
uncertain.
The results of preclinical studies, preliminary study results, and early clinical trials of our current product candidates and any future product
candidates may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials. Even if early-stage clinical trials are successful, we may need to
conduct additional clinical trials of our product candidates in additional patient populations or under different treatment conditions before we
are able to seek approvals from the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. While we are currently conducting first-in-human
Phase 1/2a trials of EOS-448 and inupadenant, we have not yet completed any clinical trials. Our current product candidates and any future
product candidates may not perform as we expect, may ultimately have a different or no impact on tumors, may have a different mechanism
of action than we expect, and may not ultimately prove to be safe and effective.
Preliminary and final results from preclinical studies and early stage trials, and trials in compounds that we believe are similar to ours, may
not be representative of results that are found in larger, controlled, blinded, and longer-term studies. Product candidates may fail at any stage
of preclinical or clinical development. Product candidates may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy traits even if they have progressed
through preclinical studies or initial clinical trials. Preclinical studies and clinical trials may also reveal unfavorable product candidate
characteristics, including safety concerns. A number of companies in the biopharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in
clinical trials, notwithstanding promising results in earlier preclinical studies or clinical trials or promising mechanisms of action. In some
instances, there can be significant variability in safety or efficacy results between different clinical trials of the same product candidate due to
numerous factors, including changes in trial procedures set forth in protocols, differences in the size and type of the patient populations,
changes in and adherence to the clinical trial protocols and the rate of dropout among clinical trial participants. Moreover, should there be an
issue with the design of a clinical trial, our results may be impacted. We may not discover such a flaw until the clinical trial is at an advanced
stage.
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Additionally, our clinical trials, to date, have been open-label trials, where both the patient and investigator know whether the patient is
receiving the investigational product candidate or either an existing approved drug, introducing bias in early interpretation of the results. Most
typically, open-label clinical trials test only the investigational product candidate and sometimes do so at different dose levels. Open-label
clinical trials are subject to various limitations that may exaggerate any therapeutic effect as patients in open-label clinical trials are aware
when they are receiving treatment. In addition, open-label clinical trials may be subject to an “investigator bias” where those assessing and
reviewing the physiological outcomes of the clinical trials are aware of which patients have received treatment and may interpret the
information of the treated group more favorably given this knowledge. Therefore, it is possible that positive results observed in open-label
trials will not be replicated in later placebo-controlled trials. We may also experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of,
clinical trials that could delay or prevent our ability to receive marketing approval or commercialize our current product candidates and any
future product candidates, including:
•

regulators or institutional review boards, or IRBs, may not authorize us or our investigators to commence a clinical trial, conduct a
clinical trial at a prospective trial site, or amend trial protocols, or may require that we modify or amend our clinical trial protocols;

•

we may experience delays in reaching, or fail to reach, agreement on acceptable clinical trial contracts or clinical trial protocols with
prospective trial sites and/or clinical research organizations, or CROs;

•

we may be unable to initiate or complete preclinical studies or clinical trials on time or at all due to the impacts of COVID-19;

•

clinical trials of our current product candidates and any future product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, or our
studies may fail to reach the necessary level of statistical significance, and we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct
additional clinical trials or abandon product development programs;

•

the number of patients required for clinical trials of our current product candidates and any future product candidates may be larger
than we anticipate, enrollment in these clinical trials may be slower than we anticipate or participants may drop out of these clinical
trials or be lost to follow-up at a higher rate than we anticipate, or may elect to participate in alternative clinical trials sponsored by our
competitors with product candidates that treat the same indications as our current product candidates and any future product
candidates;

•

our third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or the clinical trial protocol, or meet their contractual
obligations to us in a timely manner, or at all, or we may be required to engage in additional clinical trial site monitoring;

•

we, regulators, or IRBs may require that we or our investigators suspend or terminate clinical research for various reasons, including
noncompliance with regulatory requirements or a finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks,
undesirable side effects, or other unexpected characteristics of the product candidate, including where combination dosing of or with
our product candidates results in serious adverse events or undesirable side effects, or due to findings of undesirable effects caused
by a chemically or mechanistically similar therapeutic or therapeutic candidate;

•

changes could be adopted in marketing approval policies during the development period, rendering our data insufficient to obtain
marketing approval;

•

statutes or regulations or site policies could be amended or new ones could be adopted;

•

changes could be adopted in the regulatory review process for submitted product applications;

•

the cost of clinical trials of our current product candidates and any future product candidates may be greater than we anticipate or we
may have insufficient funds for a clinical trial or to pay the substantial user fees required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities upon the filing of a Biologics License

•

Application, or BLA, or a New Drug Application, or NDA, or equivalent authorizations from comparable foreign regulatory authorities;

•

the supply or quality of our current product candidates and any future product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct
clinical trials of our current product candidates and any future product candidates may be insufficient or inadequate or may be
interrupted or impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic;

•

we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct or gather, as applicable, additional clinical trials, analyses, reports, data, or
preclinical trials, or we may abandon product development programs;
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•

we may fail to reach an agreement with regulators or IRBs regarding the scope, design, or implementation of our clinical trials, and the
FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require changes to our study designs that make further study impractical or not
financially prudent;

•

regulators may ultimately disagree with the design or our conduct of our preclinical studies or clinical trials, finding that they do not
support product candidate approval;

•

we may have delays in adding new investigators or clinical trial sites, or we may experience a withdrawal of clinical trial sites;

•

patients that enroll in our studies may misrepresent their eligibility or may otherwise not comply with the clinical trial protocol, resulting
in the need to drop the patients from the study or clinical trial, increase the needed enrollment size for the clinical trial or extend its
duration;

•

there may be regulatory questions or disagreements regarding interpretations of data and results, or new information may emerge
regarding our current product candidates and any future product candidates;

•

the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our study design, including endpoints, or our interpretation of
data from preclinical studies and clinical trials or find that a product candidate’s benefits do not outweigh its safety risks;

•

we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities that a drug or biologic
candidate is safe and effective for its proposed indication or a related companion diagnostic is suitable to identify appropriate patient
populations;

•

the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may not accept data from studies with clinical trial sites in foreign countries;

•

the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our intended indications;

•

the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve or subsequently find fault with the manufacturing processes
or our manufacturing facilities for clinical and future commercial supplies;

•

the data collected from clinical trials of our current product candidates and any future product candidates may not be sufficient to the
satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to support the submission of an BLA or NDA or other comparable
submission in foreign jurisdictions or to obtain regulatory approval in the United States or elsewhere;

•

the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may take longer than we anticipate to make a decision on our current product
candidates and any future product candidates; and

•

we may not be able to demonstrate that a product candidate provides an advantage over current standards of care or current or future
competitive therapies in development.

Our development costs will also increase if we experience delays in testing or approvals, and we may not have sufficient funding to complete
the testing and approval process for our current product candidates and any future product candidates. We may be required to obtain
additional funds to complete clinical trials and prepare for possible commercialization of our current product candidates and any future
product candidates. We do not know whether any preclinical tests or clinical trials beyond what we currently have planned will be required,
will begin as planned, will need to be restructured, or will be completed on schedule, or at all. Significant delays relating to any preclinical or
clinical trials also could shorten any periods during which we may have the exclusive right to commercialize our current product candidates
and any future product candidates or allow our competitors to bring products to market before we do and impair our ability to successfully
commercialize our current product candidates and any future product candidates and may harm our business and results of operations. In
addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, delays in clinical trials may ultimately lead to the denial of marketing approval of any of
our current product candidates and any future product candidates. If any of these occur, our business, financial condition, results of
operations, stock price and prospects may be materially harmed.
We anticipate that our current product candidates and any future product candidates will be used in combination with third-party
drugs or biologics, some of which are still in development, and we have limited or no control over the supply, regulatory status, or
regulatory approval of such drugs or biologics.
Our current product candidates and any future product candidates have the potential to be administered in combination with checkpoint
inhibitor immunotherapies or other standards of care like chemotherapies, targeted therapies or radiotherapy. For example, we are currently
conducting a multi-arm Phase 1/2a clinical trial of inupadenant as a single agent and in combination with pembrolizumab. Our ability to
develop and ultimately commercialize our current product candidates and any future product candidates used in combination with
pembrolizumab or any other checkpoint inhibitor
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immunotherapies will depend on our ability to access such drugs or biologics on commercially reasonable terms for the clinical trials and their
availability for use with the commercialized product, if approved. We cannot be certain that current or potential future commercial
relationships, including our relationship with Merck with respect to our multi-arm Phase 1/2a clinical trial of inupadenant, will provide us with a
steady supply of such drugs or biologics on commercially reasonable terms or at all.
Any failure to maintain or enter into new successful commercial relationships, or the expense of purchasing checkpoint inhibitor
immunotherapies or other comparator therapies in the market, may delay our development timelines, increase our costs and jeopardize our
ability to develop our current product candidates and any future product candidates as commercially viable therapies. If any of these occur,
our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects may be materially harmed.
Moreover, the development of product candidates for use in combination with another product or product candidate may present challenges
that are not faced for single agent product candidates. We are currently developing inupadenant and EOS-448 and may develop other future
product candidates for use in combination with checkpoint inhibitor immunotherapies and may develop inupadenant, EOS-448, or any future
product candidates for use with other therapies. The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to use more complex
clinical trial designs in order to evaluate the contribution of each product and product candidate to any observed effects. It is possible that the
results of such trials could show that any positive previous trial results are attributable to the combination therapy and not our current product
candidates and any future product candidates. Moreover, following product approval, the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities
may require that products used in conjunction with each other be cross labeled for combined use. To the extent that we do not have rights to
the other product, this may require us to work with a third party to satisfy such a requirement. Moreover, developments related to the other
product may impact our clinical trials for the combination as well as our commercial prospects should we receive marketing approval. Such
developments may include changes to the other product’s safety or efficacy profile, changes to the availability of the approved product,
quality, manufacturing and supply issues, and changes to the standard of care.
In the event that Merck or any future collaborator or supplier cannot continue to supply their products on commercially reasonable terms, we
would need to identify alternatives for accessing such checkpoint inhibitor immunotherapies. Additionally, should the supply of products from
Merck or any future collaborator or supplier be interrupted, delayed or otherwise be unavailable to us, our clinical trials may be delayed. In
the event we are unable to source an alternative supply, or are unable to do so on commercially reasonable terms, our business, financial
condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects may be materially harmed.
If we fail to develop additional product candidates, our commercial opportunity could be limited.
We are currently focusing on the development of inupadenant and EOS-448. A key part of our strategy, however, is to continue to pursue
clinical development of additional product candidates designed to address the main causes of PD-1 or other standard-of-care resistance.
Developing, obtaining marketing approval for, and commercializing any future product candidates will require substantial additional funding
and will be subject to the risks of failure inherent in drug product development. We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully
advance any future product candidates through the development process.
Even if we obtain approval from the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to market any future product candidates for the
treatment of solid tumors, we cannot assure you that any such product candidates will be successfully commercialized, widely accepted in
the marketplace, or more effective than other commercially available alternatives. If we are unable to successfully develop and
commercialize additional product candidates our commercial opportunity may be limited and our business, financial condition, results of
operations, stock price and prospects may be materially harmed.
Difficulty in enrolling patients could delay or prevent clinical trials of our current product candidates and any future product candidates. We
may find it difficult to enroll patients in our ongoing clinical trials or any subsequent trials we may conduct and our receipt of necessary
regulatory approvals could be delayed or prevented.
Identifying and qualifying patients to participate in clinical studies of our current product candidates and any future product candidates is
critical to our success. The timing of completion of our clinical trials depends in part on the speed at which we can recruit patients to
participate in testing our current product candidates and any future product candidates, and we may experience delays in our clinical trials if
we encounter difficulties in enrollment or patient retention due to other unforeseen factors. We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical
trials for our current product candidates and any future product candidates if we are unable to locate and enroll and retain a sufficient number
of eligible patients to participate in these trials as required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities outside the United States.
For example, the COVID-19 pandemic may impact our ability to initiate clinical sites and recruit, enroll and retain patients or may divert
healthcare resources away from clinical trials. In addition, some of our competitors have ongoing clinical
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trials for product candidates that treat the same indications as our current product candidates, and patients who would otherwise be eligible
for our clinical trials may instead enroll in clinical trials of our competitors’ product candidates or future product candidates.
In addition to the competitive trial environment, the eligibility criteria of our planned clinical trials will further limit the pool of available study
participants as we will require that patients have specific characteristics that we can measure to assure their cancer is either severe enough
or not too advanced to include them in a study. Additionally, the process of finding patients may prove costly. We also may not be able to
identify, recruit and enroll a sufficient number of patients to complete our clinical studies because of the perceived risks and benefits of the
product candidates under study, the availability and efficacy of competing therapies and clinical trials, the proximity and availability of clinical
trial sites for prospective patients, and the patient referral practices of physicians. If patients are unwilling to participate in our studies for any
reason, the timeline for recruiting patients, conducting studies and obtaining regulatory approval of potential products may be delayed.
We may also engage third parties to develop companion diagnostics for use in our clinical trials, but such third parties may not be successful
in developing such companion diagnostics, furthering the difficulty in identifying patients with the targeted genetic mutations for our clinical
trials. Further, if we are required to develop companion diagnostics and are unable to include patients with the targeted genetic mutations,
this could compromise our ability to seek participation in the FDA’s expedited review and development programs, including Breakthrough
Therapy Designation and Fast Track Designation, or otherwise to seek to accelerate clinical development and regulatory timelines.
The enrollment of patients further depends on many factors, including:
•

the size of the patient population and process for identifying patients;

•

the eligibility criteria for the clinical trial in question;

•

the availability of an appropriate screening test, as necessary;

•

the perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study;

•

the efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials;

•

the proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients;

•

the design of the clinical trial;

•

our ability to recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate competencies and experience;

•

our ability to obtain and maintain patient consents;

•

reporting of the preliminary results of any of our clinical trials; and

•

the risk that patients enrolled in clinical trials will drop out of the clinical trials before clinical trial completion.

In addition, our clinical trials will compete with other clinical trials for product candidates that are in the same therapeutic areas as our current
product candidates and any future product candidates, and this competition will reduce the number and types of patients available to us
because some patients who might have opted to enroll in our clinical trials may instead opt to enroll in a clinical trial being conducted by one
of our competitors. Since the number of qualified clinical investigators is limited, we expect to conduct some of our clinical trials at the same
clinical trial sites that some of our competitors use, which will reduce the number of patients who are available for our clinical trials at such
clinical trial sites. Furthermore, even if we are able to enroll a sufficient number of patients for our clinical trials, we may have difficulty
maintaining enrollment of such patients in our clinical trials.
If we experience delays in the completion of, or termination of, any clinical trial of our current product candidates and any future product
candidates, the commercial prospects of our current product candidates and any future product candidates will be harmed, and our ability to
generate product revenue from such product candidates could be delayed or prevented.
We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product
candidates or indications that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.
Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we must focus on a limited number of research programs and product
candidates and on specific indications. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or for other
indications that later prove to have greater commercial potential. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable
commercial products or profitable market opportunities. Our
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spending on current and future discovery and preclinical development programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield
any commercially viable products.
Risks related to clinical trials
Interim “top-line” and preliminary results from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as
more patient data become available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the
final data.
From time to time, we may publish interim top-line or preliminary results from our clinical trials. Interim results from clinical trials that we may
complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enrollment continues and more
patient data become available. Preliminary or top-line results also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may result in the
final data being materially different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result, interim and preliminary data should be
viewed with caution until the final data are available. Differences between preliminary or interim data and final data could significantly harm
our business prospects and may cause the trading price of our common stock to fluctuate significantly.
We may not be able to file INDs or IND amendments to commence additional clinical trials on the timelines we expect, and even if
we are able to, the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory may not permit us to proceed.
The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to file separate INDs for additional clinical trials we plan to conduct with
our current lead product candidates, inupadenant and EOS-448. We may not be able to file any additional INDs required for our current
product candidates and any future product candidates on the timelines we expect. For example, we may experience manufacturing delays or
other delays with IND-enabling studies, including due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on suppliers, study sites or third-party
contractors and vendors on whom we depend. Moreover, we cannot be sure that submission of an IND will result in the FDA or comparable
foreign regulatory authorities allowing further clinical trials to begin, or that, once begun, issues will not arise that suspend or terminate
clinical trials. Additionally, even if such regulatory authorities agree with the design and implementation of the clinical trials set forth in an IND,
we cannot guarantee that such regulatory authorities will not change their requirements in the future. These considerations also apply to new
clinical trials we may submit as amendments to existing INDs or to a new IND. Any failure to file INDs on the timelines we expect or to obtain
regulatory approvals for our trials may prevent us from completing our clinical trials or commercializing our products on a timely basis, if at all.
There are similar risks related to the review and authorization of our protocols and amendments by comparable foreign regulatory authorities.
We are conducting clinical trials for product candidates outside the United States, and the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory
authorities may not accept data from such trials.
We are conducting one or more clinical trials outside the United States, including in Europe, and we may conduct trials in the future in Asia.
The acceptance of data from clinical trials conducted outside the United States or another jurisdiction by the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authority may be subject to certain conditions or may not be accepted at all. In cases where data from foreign clinical trials are
intended to serve as the basis for marketing approval in the United States, the FDA will generally not approve the application on the basis of
foreign data alone unless (i) the data are applicable to the U.S. population and U.S. medical practice; and (ii) the trials were performed by
clinical investigators of recognized competence and pursuant to good clinical practice, or GCP, regulations. In general, the patient population
for any clinical trials conducted outside the United States must be representative of the population for whom we intend to label the product
candidate in the United States. Additionally, the FDA’s clinical trial requirements, including sufficient size of patient populations and statistical
powering, must be met. Many foreign regulatory authorities have similar approval requirements. In addition, such foreign trials would be
subject to the applicable local laws of the foreign jurisdictions where the trials are conducted. There can be no assurance that the FDA or any
comparable foreign regulatory authority will accept data from trials conducted outside of the United States or the applicable jurisdiction. If the
FDA or any comparable foreign regulatory authority does not accept such data, it would result in the need for additional trials, which could be
costly and time-consuming, and which may result in product candidates that we may develop not receiving approval for commercialization in
the applicable jurisdiction.
As an organization, we have never conducted pivotal clinical trials, and we may be unable to do so for any product candidates we
may develop.
We will need to successfully complete pivotal clinical trials in order to obtain the approval of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities to market inupadenant, EOS-448, or any future product candidate. Carrying out pivotal
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clinical trials is a complicated process. As an organization, we have not previously conducted any later stage or pivotal clinical trials. In order
to do so, we will need to expand our clinical development and regulatory capabilities, and we may be unable to recruit and train qualified
personnel. We also expect to continue to rely on third parties to conduct our pivotal clinical trials. Consequently, we may be unable to
successfully and efficiently execute and complete necessary clinical trials in a way that leads to BLA or NDA submission and approval of
inupadenant, EOS-448, or future product candidates. We may require more time and incur greater costs than our competitors and may not
succeed in obtaining regulatory approvals of product candidates that we develop. Failure to commence or complete, or delays in, our
planned clinical trials, could prevent us from or delay us in commercializing our product candidates.
Risks related to competition
We face significant competition from other biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic institutions, government
agencies, and other research organizations, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products more
quickly or marketing them more successfully than us. If their product candidates are shown to be safer or more effective than ours,
our commercial opportunity may be reduced or eliminated.
The development and commercialization of cancer immunotherapy products is characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense
competition and a strong emphasis on proprietary rights. We face competition with respect to our current product candidates, and will face
competition with respect to any product candidates that we may seek to develop or commercialize in the future, from major
biopharmaceutical companies, specialty biopharmaceutical companies, and biotechnology companies worldwide. There are a number of
large biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies that currently market and sell products or are pursuing the development of products
for the treatment of solid tumors. Potential competitors also include academic institutions, government agencies, and other public and private
research organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection, and establish collaborative arrangements for research, development,
manufacturing, and commercialization.
While our product candidates are intended to be used in combination with other drugs or biologics with different mechanisms of action, if and
when marketed they will still compete with a number of drugs and biologics that are currently marketed or in development that also target
cancer. To compete effectively with these products, our current product candidates or any future product candidates will need to demonstrate
advantages in clinical efficacy and safety compared to these competitors when used alone or in combination with other drugs or biologics.
Our commercial opportunities could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more
effective, have fewer or less severe side effects, are easier to administer or are less expensive alone or in combination with other therapies
than any products that we may develop alone or in combination with other therapies. Our competitors also may obtain FDA or comparable
foreign regulatory authorities’ approval for their products more rapidly than we may obtain approval for ours, which could result in our
competitors establishing a strong market position before we are able to enter the market. In addition, our ability to compete may be affected
in many cases by insurers or other third-party payors coverage decisions.
Many of the companies with which we are competing or may compete in the future have significantly greater financial resources and
expertise in research and development, manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals, and
marketing approved products than we do. Mergers and acquisitions in the biopharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even
more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. Early-stage companies may also prove to be significant
competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. These third parties compete with us in
recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel and establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical
trials, as well as in developing or acquiring technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our programs. If we are unable to successfully
compete with these companies our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects may be materially harmed.
The size of the potential market for our current product candidates or any future product candidates is difficult to estimate and, if
any of our assumptions are inaccurate, the actual markets for our current product candidates or any future product candidates
may be smaller than our estimates.
The potential market opportunities for our current product candidates or any future product candidates are difficult to estimate and will
depend in large part on the drugs with which our current product candidates or any future product candidates are co-administered and the
success of competing therapies and therapeutic approaches. Our estimates of the potential market opportunities are predicated on many
assumptions, which may include industry knowledge and publications, third-party research reports, and other surveys. Although we believe
that our internal assumptions are
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reasonable, these assumptions involve the exercise of significant judgment on the part of our management, are inherently uncertain, and
their reasonableness has not been assessed by an independent source. Further, new studies may change the estimated incidence or
prevalence of these diseases, and any regulatory approvals that we may receive for a product candidate may include limitations for use or
contraindications that decrease the addressable patient population. If any of the assumptions proves to be inaccurate, the actual markets for
our current product candidates and any future product candidates could be smaller than our estimates of the potential market opportunities.
Negative developments in the field of immuno-oncology could damage public perception of our current or future product
candidates and negatively affect our business.
The commercial success of our current product candidates or any future product candidates will depend in part on public acceptance of the
use of cancer immunotherapies. Adverse events in clinical trials of inupadenant, EOS-448, or any future product candidates, or in clinical
trials of others developing similar products and the resulting publicity, as well as any other negative developments in the field of immunooncology that may occur in the future, including in connection with competitor therapies, could result in a decrease in demand for
inupadenant, EOS-448, or any future product candidates that we may develop. These events could also result in the suspension,
discontinuation, or clinical hold of or modification to our clinical trials. If public perception is influenced by claims that the use of cancer
immunotherapies is unsafe, whether related to our therapies or those of our competitors, our current product candidates and any future
product candidates may not be accepted by the general public or the medical community and potential clinical trial subjects may be
discouraged from enrolling in our clinical trials or may discontinue their participation in our clinical trials. As a result, we may not be able to
continue or may be delayed in conducting our development programs. Future negative developments in the field of immuno-oncology or the
biopharmaceutical industry could also result in greater governmental regulation, stricter labeling requirements and potential regulatory delays
in the testing or approvals of our current product candidates or any future product candidates. Any increased scrutiny could delay or increase
the costs of obtaining marketing approval for inupadenant, EOS-448, or any future product candidates.
Risks related to business development and commercialization
If we are unable to successfully commercialize any product candidate for which we receive regulatory approval, or experience
significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.
If we are successful in obtaining marketing approval from applicable regulatory authorities for our current or future product candidates, our
ability to generate revenues from our current product candidates or any future product candidates will depend on our success in:
•

launching commercial sales of our current product candidates and any future product candidates, whether alone or in collaboration
with others;

•

receiving an approved label with claims that are necessary or desirable for successful marketing, and that does not contain safety or
other limitations that would impede our ability to market our current product candidates or any future product candidates;

•

creating market demand for our product candidates through marketing, sales and promotion activities;

•

hiring, training, and deploying a sales force or contracting with third parties to commercialize our current product candidates or any
future product candidates in the United States;

•

manufacturing product candidates in sufficient quantities and at acceptable quality and cost to meet commercial demand at launch and
thereafter;

•

establishing and maintaining agreements with wholesalers, distributors, and group purchasing organizations on commercially
reasonable terms;

•

creating partnerships with, or offering licenses to, third parties to promote and sell product candidates in foreign markets where we
receive marketing approval;

•

maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity for our current product candidates or any future product
candidates;

•

achieving market acceptance of our current product candidates or any future product candidates by patients, the medical community,
and third-party payors;

•

achieving appropriate reimbursement for our current product candidates or any future product candidates;
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•

effectively competing with other therapies; and

•

maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of our current product candidates or any future product candidates following launch.

To the extent we are not able to do any of the foregoing, our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects will
be materially harmed.
Risks related to government regulation
Risks related to regulatory approval
Even if our development efforts are successful, we may not obtain regulatory approval for any of our current product candidates or
any future product candidates in the United States or other jurisdictions, which would prevent us from commercializing our current
product candidates and any future product candidates. Even if we obtain regulatory approval for our current product candidates
and any future product candidates, any such approval may be subject to limitations, including with respect to the approved
indications or patient populations, which could impair our ability to successfully commercialize our current product candidates or
any future product candidates.
We are not permitted to market or promote or sell our current product candidates or any future product candidates before we receive
regulatory approval from the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, and we may never receive such regulatory approval. Securing
marketing approval requires the submission of extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting information to regulatory authorities for
each therapeutic indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and efficacy for that indication. Securing marketing approval also
requires the submission of information about the product manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing facilities and clinical trial
sites by, the regulatory authorities. If we do not receive approval from the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities for any of our
current product candidates and any future product candidates, we will not be able to commercialize such product candidates in the United
States or in other jurisdictions. If significant delays in obtaining approval for and commercializing our current product candidates and any
future product candidates occur in any jurisdictions, our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects will be
materially harmed. Even if our current product candidates and any future product candidates are approved, they may:
•

be subject to limitations on the indicated uses or patient populations for which they may be marketed, distribution restrictions, or other
conditions of approval;

•

contain significant safety warnings, including boxed warnings, contraindications, and precautions;

•

not be approved with label statements necessary or desirable for successful commercialization; or

•

contain requirements for costly post-market testing and surveillance, or other requirements, including the submission of a risk
evaluation and mitigation strategy, or REMS, to monitor the safety or efficacy of the products.

We have not previously submitted a BLA or NDA to the FDA, or a similar marketing application to comparable foreign regulatory authorities,
for any product candidate, and we can provide no assurance that will ultimately be successful in obtaining regulatory approval for claims that
are necessary or desirable for successful marketing, or at all.
The regulatory approval processes of the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities are lengthy, time consuming and
inherently unpredictable. If we are not able to obtain, or experience delays in obtaining, required regulatory approvals, we will not
be able to commercialize our current product candidates and any future product candidates as expected, and our ability to
generate revenue may be materially impaired.
The time required to obtain approval by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities is unpredictable but typically takes many
years following the commencement of clinical trials and depends upon numerous factors, including the substantial discretion of the regulatory
authorities. In addition, approval policies, regulations, or the type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval may change during
the course of a product candidate’s clinical development and may vary among jurisdictions. These regulatory requirements may require us to
amend our clinical trial protocols, conduct additional preclinical studies or clinical trials that may require regulatory or IRB approval, or
otherwise cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application. Any delay in obtaining or failure to obtain required approvals could
materially adversely affect our ability to generate revenue from the particular product candidate, which may materially harm our business,
financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.
Regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our
data are insufficient for approval and require additional preclinical, clinical or other studies. In
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addition, varying interpretations of the data obtained from preclinical and clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent marketing approval of a
product candidate. The number and types of preclinical studies and clinical trials that will be required for regulatory approval also varies
depending on the product candidate, the disease or condition that the product candidate is designed to address, and the regulations
applicable to any particular product candidate. Approval policies, regulations or the type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain
approval may change during the course of a product candidate’s clinical development and may vary among jurisdictions, and there may be
varying interpretations of data obtained from preclinical studies or clinical trials, any of which may cause delays or limitations in the approval
or a decision not to approve an application. It is possible that our current product candidates and any future product candidates will never
obtain the appropriate regulatory approvals necessary for us to commence product sales.
Even if we eventually complete clinical testing and receive approval of a BLA, NDA or foreign marketing application for inupadenant, EOS448, or any future product candidates, the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority may grant approval or other marketing
authorization contingent on the performance of costly additional clinical trials, including post-marketing clinical trials. The FDA or a
comparable foreign regulatory authority also may approve or authorize for marketing a product candidate for a more limited indication or
patient population than we originally request, and the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority may not approve or authorize the
labeling that we believe is necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of a product candidate.
In addition, the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities may change their policies, issue additional regulations or revise existing
regulations, or take other actions, which may prevent or delay approval of our future products under development on a timely basis. Such
policy or regulatory changes could impose additional requirements upon us that could delay our ability to obtain approvals, increase the costs
of compliance or restrict our ability to maintain any marketing authorizations we may have obtained.
If we experience delays in obtaining approval, if we fail to obtain approval of a product candidate or if the label for a product candidate does
not include the labeling claims necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of that product candidate, the commercial
prospects for such product candidate may be harmed and our ability to generate revenues from that product candidate may be materially
impaired.
The FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority may determine that our current product candidates and any future product
candidates have serious adverse events or undesirable side effects that could delay or prevent their regulatory approval or
commercialization.
Serious adverse events or undesirable side effects caused by our current product candidates and any future product candidates could cause
us, IRBs, and other reviewing entities or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay, or halt clinical trials and could result in enrollment
challenges, discontinuation of trial subjects, a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or comparable
foreign regulatory authorities. For example, we have identified in the past and may in the future identify unexpected serious adverse events
of suspected potential relatedness to our product candidates. If concerns are raised regarding the safety of a new therapeutic as a result of
undesirable side effects or serious adverse events identified during clinical or preclinical testing, including any dose-limiting toxicities that
may be identified with our product candidates, the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authority may request additional data or information
or order us to pause or cease further development, e.g., by issuing a clinical hold on ongoing or planned clinical trials, decline to approve the
product candidate or issue a letter requesting additional data or information prior to making a final decision regarding whether or not to
approve the product candidate. The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, or IRBs and other reviewing entities, may also require,
or we may voluntarily develop, strategies for managing adverse events during clinical development, which could include restrictions on our
enrollment criteria, the use of stopping criteria, adjustments to a study’s design, reconsent of enrolled patients, or the monitoring of safety
data by a data monitoring committee, among other strategies. The FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority requests for additional
data or information could also result in substantial delays in the approval of our current product candidates and any future product
candidates. Additionally, we may evaluate our product candidates in combination with one another, and safety concerns arising during a
combination trial could negatively affect the individual development program of each candidate, as the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities may require us to discontinue single-candidate trials until the contribution of each product candidate to any safety issues is better
understood.
Further, clinical trials by their nature utilize a sample of the potential patient population. With a limited number of patients and limited duration
of exposure, rare and severe side effects of a drug or biologic candidate may only be uncovered when a significantly larger number of
patients are exposed to the drug or biologic candidate or when patients are exposed for a longer period of time.
Undesirable side effects caused by our current product candidates or any future product candidates could also result in denial of regulatory
approval by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities for any or all targeted indications or the inclusion of unfavorable information
in our product labeling, such as limitations on the indicated uses for which the
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products may be marketed or distributed, a label with significant safety warnings, including boxed warnings, contraindications, and
precautions, a label without statements necessary or desirable for successful commercialization, or may result in requirements for costly
post-marketing testing and surveillance, or other requirements, including REMS, to monitor the safety or efficacy of the products, and in turn
prevent us from commercializing and generating revenues from the sale of our current product candidates and any future product candidates.
Later discovered undesirable side effects may further result in the imposition of a REMS, label revisions, post-approval study requirements,
or other testing and surveillance.
If our current product candidates and any future product candidates are associated with serious adverse events or undesirable side effects or
have properties that are unexpected, we may need to abandon development or limit development of that product candidate to certain uses or
subpopulations in which the undesirable side effects or other characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more acceptable from a riskbenefit perspective. The therapeutic-related side effects could affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial
or result in potential product liability claims. Any of these occurrences may materially harm our business, financial condition, results of
operations, stock price and prospects.
Regulatory approval by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities is limited to those specific indications and conditions
for which approval has been granted, and we may be subject to substantial fines, criminal penalties, injunctions, or other
enforcement actions if we are determined to be promoting the use of our products for unapproved or “off-label” uses, or in a
manner inconsistent with the approved labeling, resulting in damage to our reputation and business.
We must comply with requirements concerning advertising and promotion for any product candidates for which we obtain marketing
approval. Promotional communications with respect to therapeutics are subject to a variety of legal and regulatory restrictions and continuing
review by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, Department of Justice, Department of Health and Human Services’, or HHS,
Office of Inspector General, state attorneys general, members of Congress, and the public. When the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities issue regulatory approval for a product candidate, the regulatory approval is limited to those specific uses and indications for
which a product is approved. If we are not able to obtain FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authority approval for desired uses or
indications for our current product candidates and any future product candidates, we may not market or promote them for those indications
and uses, referred to as off-label uses, and our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects will be
materially harmed. We also must sufficiently substantiate any claims that we make for our products, including claims comparing our products
to other companies’ products, and must abide by the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority’s strict requirements regarding the
content of promotion and advertising.
While physicians may choose to prescribe products for uses that are not described in the product’s labeling and for uses that differ from
those tested in clinical trials and approved by the regulatory authorities, we and any third parties engaged on our behalf are prohibited from
marketing and promoting the products for indications and uses that are not specifically approved by the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authorities. Regulatory authorities in the United States generally do not restrict or regulate the behavior of physicians in their
choice of treatment within the practice of medicine. Regulatory authorities do, however, restrict communications by biopharmaceutical
companies concerning off-label use.
If we are found to have impermissibly promoted any of our current product candidates and any future product candidates, we may become
subject to significant liability and government fines. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations regarding product
promotion, particularly those prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted a product
may be subject to significant sanctions. The federal government has levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for alleged
improper promotion and has enjoined several companies from engaging in off-label promotion. The FDA has also requested that companies
enter into consent decrees or permanent injunctions under which specified promotional conduct is changed or curtailed.
In the United States, the promotion of biopharmaceutical products are subject to additional FDA requirements and restrictions on promotional
statements. If after one or more of our current product candidates and any future product candidates obtains marketing approval the FDA
determines that our promotional activities violate its regulations and policies pertaining to product promotion, it could request that we modify
our promotional materials or subject us to regulatory or other enforcement actions, including issuance of warning letters or untitled letters,
suspension or withdrawal of an approved product from the market, requests for recalls, payment of civil fines, disgorgement of money,
imposition of operating restrictions, injunctions or criminal prosecution, and other enforcement actions. Similarly, industry codes in foreign
jurisdictions may prohibit companies from engaging in certain promotional activities and regulatory agencies in various countries may enforce
violations of such codes with civil penalties. If we become subject to regulatory and enforcement actions our business, financial condition,
results of operations, stock price and prospects will be materially harmed.
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Furthermore, the use of our products for indications other than those approved by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may
not effectively treat such conditions. Any such off-label use of our product candidates could harm our reputation in the marketplace among
physicians and patients. There may also be increased risk of injury to patients if physicians attempt to use our products for these uses for
which they are not approved, which could lead to product liability suits that that might require significant financial and management resources
and that could harm our reputation.
Even if our current product candidates and any future product candidates receive regulatory approval, we will be subject to
ongoing obligations and continued regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense and limit how we
manufacture and market our products.
Any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval will be subject to extensive and ongoing requirements of and review by the
FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities, including requirements related to the manufacturing processes, post-approval clinical
data, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, recordkeeping, export, import, advertising, marketing, and
promotional activities for such product. These requirements further include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information,
including manufacturing deviations and reports, registration and listing requirements, the payment of annual fees, continued compliance with
cGMP requirements relating to manufacturing, quality control, quality assurance, and corresponding maintenance of records and documents,
and good clinical practices, or GCPs, for any clinical trials that we conduct post-approval.
The FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities will continue to closely monitor the safety profile of any product even after approval. If
the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities become aware of new safety information after approval of any of our current product
candidates and any future product candidates, they may withdraw approval, issue public safety alerts, require labeling changes or
establishment of a REMS or similar strategy, impose significant restrictions on a product’s indicated uses or marketing, or impose ongoing
requirements for potentially costly post-approval studies or post-market surveillance. Any such restrictions could limit sales of the product.
We and any of our suppliers or collaborators, including our contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, could be subject to periodic
unannounced inspections by the FDA to monitor and ensure compliance with cGMPs and other FDA regulatory requirements. Application
holders must further notify the FDA, and depending on the nature of the change, obtain FDA pre-approval for product and manufacturing
changes.
In addition, later discovery of previously unknown adverse events or that the product is less effective than previously thought or other
problems with our products, manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements both before and
after approval, may yield various negative results, including:
•

restrictions on manufacturing, distribution, or marketing of such products;

•

restrictions on the labeling, including required additional warnings, such as boxed warnings, contraindications, precautions, and
restrictions on the approved indication or use;

•

modifications to promotional pieces;

•

issuance of corrective information;

•

requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or other clinical trials;

•

clinical holds or termination of clinical trials;

•

requirements to establish or modify a REMS or similar strategy;

•

changes to the way the product candidate is administered;

•

liability for harm caused to patients or subjects;

•

reputational harm;

•

the product becoming less competitive;

•

warning or untitled letters;

•

suspension of marketing or withdrawal of the products from the market;

•

regulatory authority issuance of safety alerts, Dear Healthcare Provider letters, press releases, or other communications containing
warnings or other safety information about the product candidate;

•

refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;
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•

recalls of products;

•

fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenues;

•

suspension or withdrawal of marketing approvals;

•

refusal to permit the import or export of our products;

•

product seizure or detention;

•

FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authority debarment, suspension and debarment from government contracts, and refusal of
orders under existing government contracts, exclusion from federal healthcare programs, consent decrees, or corporate integrity
agreements; or

•

injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties, including imprisonment.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the particular product candidate, if approved, or
could substantially increase the costs and expenses of commercializing such product, which in turn could delay or prevent us from
generating significant revenues from its marketing and sale. Any of these events could further have other material and adverse effects on our
operations and business and could adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.
The FDA’s policies or those of comparable foreign regulatory authorities may change and additional government regulations may be enacted
that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our current product candidates and any future product candidates, limit the
marketability of our current product candidates and any future product candidates, or impose additional regulatory obligations on us.
Changes in medical practice and standard of care may also impact the marketability of our current product candidates and any future product
candidates.
If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements, standards of care, or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if
we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained and be subject to
regulatory enforcement action.
Should any of the above actions take place, we could be prevented from or significantly delayed in achieving profitability. Further, the cost of
compliance with post-approval regulations may have a negative effect on our operations and business and could adversely impact our
business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price and prospects.
Risks related to obtaining certain regulatory designations
We may in the future seek orphan drug status for our current or future product candidates, but we may be unable to obtain such
designations or to maintain the benefits associated with orphan drug status, including market exclusivity, which may cause our
revenue, if any, to be reduced.
Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan designation to a drug or biologic intended to treat a rare disease or condition, defined
as a disease or condition with a patient population of fewer than 200,000 in the United States, or a patient population greater than 200,000 in
the United States when there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and making available the drug or biologic in the United
States will be recovered from sales in the United States for that drug or biologic. Orphan drug designation must be requested before
submitting an NDA or BLA. In the United States, orphan drug designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as opportunities for
grant funding towards clinical trial costs, tax advantages and user-fee waivers. After the FDA grants orphan drug designation, the generic
identity of the drug and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage
in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval process.
If a product that has orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for a particular active ingredient for the disease
for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan product exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not approve any other
applications to market the same product for the same indication for seven years, except in limited circumstances such as a showing of
clinical superiority to the product with orphan drug exclusivity or if the FDA finds that the holder of the orphan drug exclusivity has not shown
that it can assure the availability of sufficient quantities of the orphan drug to meet the needs of patients with the disease or condition for
which the drug was designated. As a result, even if our current product candidates and any future product candidates receive orphan
exclusivity, the FDA can still approve other drugs that have a different active ingredient for use in treating the same indication or disease.
Furthermore, the FDA can waive orphan exclusivity if we are unable to manufacture sufficient supply of our product.
We may seek orphan drug designation for some or all of our current or future product candidates in orphan indications in which there is a
medically plausible basis for the use of these products. Even if we obtain orphan drug designation,
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exclusive marketing rights in the United States may be limited if we seek approval for an indication broader than the orphan designated
indication and may be lost if the FDA later determines that the request for designation was materially defective or if the manufacturer is
unable to assure sufficient quantities of the product to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition. In addition, the FDA has
expressed concerns regarding the regulatory considerations for orphan drug designation as applied to tissue agnostic therapies, and the
FDA may interpret the federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, as amended, or the FD&C Act, and regulations promulgated thereunder in a
way that limits or blocks our ability to obtain orphan drug designation or orphan drug exclusivity, if our current product candidates and any
future product candidates are approved, for our targeted indications.
The FDA may reevaluate the Orphan Drug Act and its regulations and policies. We do not know if, when, or how the FDA may change the
orphan drug regulations and policies in the future, and it is uncertain how any changes might affect our business. Depending on what
changes the FDA may make to its orphan drug regulations and policies, our business could be adversely impacted.
We may pursue Fast Track or Breakthrough Therapy designation by FDA. These designations may not actually lead to a faster
development or regulatory review or approval process, and they do not assure FDA approval of any product candidates we may
develop.
FDA’s Fast Track and Breakthrough Therapy designations programs are intended to expedite the development of certain qualifying products
intended for the treatment of serious diseases and conditions. If a product candidate is intended for the treatment of a serious or life
threatening condition and preclinical or clinical data demonstrate the product’s potential to address an unmet medical need for this condition,
the sponsor may apply for FDA Fast Track designation. A product candidate may be designated as a Breakthrough Therapy if it is intended
to treat a serious or life-threatening condition and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the product candidate may demonstrate
substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically significant endpoints. While we may seek Fast Track or
Breakthrough Therapy designation, there is no guarantee that we will be successful in obtaining any such designation. Even if we do obtain
such designation, we may not experience a faster development process, review or approval compared to conventional FDA procedures. A
Fast Track or Breakthrough Therapy designation does not ensure that the product candidate will receive marketing approval or that approval
will be granted within any particular timeframe. In addition, the FDA may withdraw Fast Track or Breakthrough Therapy designation if it
believes that the designation is no longer supported by data from our clinical development program. Fast Track or Breakthrough Designation
alone do not guarantee qualification for the FDA’s priority review procedures.
If we are unable to successfully validate, develop and obtain regulatory approval for companion diagnostic tests for our product
candidates that require or would commercially benefit from such tests, or experience significant delays in doing so, we may not
realize the full commercial potential of these product candidates.
In connection with the clinical development of our product candidates for certain indications, we may engage third parties to develop or obtain
access to in vitro companion diagnostic tests to identify patient subsets within a disease category who may derive selective and meaningful
benefit from our product candidates. Such companion diagnostics would be used during our clinical trials as well as in connection with the
commercialization of our product candidates. To be successful, we or our collaborators will need to address a number of scientific, technical,
regulatory and logistical challenges. The FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities regulate in vitro companion diagnostics as
medical devices and, under that regulatory framework, will likely require the conduct of clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and
effectiveness of any diagnostics we may develop, which we expect will require separate regulatory clearance or approval prior to
commercialization.
We intend to rely on third parties for the design, development and manufacture of companion diagnostic tests for our therapeutic product
candidates that may require such tests. If we enter into such collaborative agreements, we will be dependent on the sustained cooperation
and effort of our future collaborators in developing and obtaining approval for these companion diagnostics. It may be necessary to resolve
issues such as selectivity/specificity, analytical validation, reproducibility, or clinical validation of companion diagnostics during the
development and regulatory approval processes. Moreover, even if data from preclinical studies and early clinical trials appear to support
development of a companion diagnostic for a product candidate, data generated in later clinical trials may fail to support the analytical and
clinical validation of the companion diagnostic. We and our future collaborators may encounter difficulties in developing, obtaining regulatory
approval for, manufacturing and commercializing companion diagnostics similar to those we face with respect to our therapeutic candidates
themselves, including issues with achieving regulatory clearance or approval, production of sufficient quantities at commercial scale and with
appropriate quality standards, and in gaining market acceptance. If we are unable to successfully develop companion diagnostics for these
therapeutic product candidates, or experience delays in doing so, the development of these therapeutic product candidates may be
adversely affected, these therapeutic
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product candidates may not obtain marketing approval, and we may not realize the full commercial potential of any of these therapeutics that
obtain marketing approval. As a result, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially harmed. In addition, a
diagnostic company with whom we contract may decide to discontinue selling or manufacturing the companion diagnostic test that we
anticipate using in connection with development and commercialization of our product candidates or our relationship with such diagnostic
company may otherwise terminate. We may not be able to enter into arrangements with another diagnostic company to obtain supplies of an
alternative diagnostic test for use in connection with the development and commercialization of our product candidates or do so on
commercially reasonable terms, which could adversely affect and/or delay the development or commercialization of our therapeutic
candidates.
Inadequate funding for the FDA, the SEC and other government agencies could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership
and other personnel, prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely manner or otherwise
prevent those agencies from performing normal business functions on which the operation of our business may rely, which could
negatively impact our business.
The ability of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of
factors, including government budget and funding levels, ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and
statutory, regulatory and policy changes. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. Disruptions at the
FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and/or approved by necessary government
agencies, which would adversely affect our business. In addition, government funding of the SEC and other government agencies on which
our operations may rely, including those that fund research and development activities, is subject to the political process, which is inherently
fluid and unpredictable.
For example, over the last several years, including beginning on December 22, 2018, the U.S. government has shut down several times and
certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA and the SEC, have had to furlough FDA, SEC and other government employees and stop
critical activities. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process
our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Further, future government shutdowns could impact
our ability to access the public markets and obtain necessary capital in order to properly capitalize and continue our operations.
Since March 2020 when foreign and domestic inspections of facilities were largely placed on hold, the FDA has been working to resume
routine surveillance, bioresearch monitoring and pre-approval inspections on a prioritized basis. . The FDA has developed a rating system to
assist in determining when and where it is safest to conduct prioritized domestic inspections and resumed inspections in China and India in
early 2021. In April 2021, the FDA issued guidance for industry formally announcing plans to employ remote interactive evaluations, using
risk management methods, to meet user fee commitments and goal dates and in May 2021 announced plans to continue progress toward
resuming standard operational levels. Should FDA determine that an inspection is necessary for approval, and an inspection cannot be
completed during the review cycle due to restrictions on travel, and the FDA does not determine a remote interactive evaluation to be
appropriate, FDA has stated that it generally intends to issue a complete response letter. Further, if there is inadequate information to make a
determination on the acceptability of a facility, FDA may defer action on the application until an inspection can be completed. In 2020, several
companies announced receipt of complete response letters due to the FDA's inability to complete required inspections for their applications.
Regulatory authorities outside the U.S. may adopt similar restrictions or other policy measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and
may experience delays in their regulatory activities.
Additionally, as of March 18, 2021, the FDA noted it is continuing to ensure timely reviews of applications for medical products during the
COVID-19 pandemic in line with its user fee performance goals. However, FDA may not be able to continue its current pace and review
timelines could be extended, including where a pre-approval inspection or an inspection of clinical sites is required and due to the COVID-19
pandemic and travel restrictions FDA is unable to complete such required inspections during the review period.
Risks related to healthcare regulation
Even if we are able to commercialize any current product candidates or any future product candidates, such drugs and biologics
may become subject to unfavorable pricing regulations or third-party coverage and reimbursement policies, which would harm our
business.
The regulations that govern regulatory approvals, pricing and reimbursement for new drugs and biologics vary widely from country to country.
Some countries require approval of the sale price of a drug or biologic before it can be marketed. In many countries, the pricing review period
begins after marketing approval is granted. In some foreign markets,
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prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to continuing governmental control even after initial approval is granted. As a result, we
might obtain marketing approval for a product candidate in a particular country, but then be subject to price regulations that delay our
commercial launch of the product candidate, possibly for lengthy time periods, and negatively impact the revenues we are able to generate
from the sale of the product candidate in that country. Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our investment in one or
more of our current product candidates and any future product candidates, even if our current product candidates and any future product
candidates obtain marketing approval.
Our ability to commercialize our current product candidates and any future product candidates successfully also will depend in part on the
extent to which coverage and reimbursement for our current product candidates and any future product candidates and related treatments
will be available from government authorities, private health insurers and other organizations. Government authorities and other third-party
payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which medications they will pay for and establish
reimbursement levels. In the United States, the principal decisions about reimbursement for new medicines are typically made by the Centers
for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, an agency within HHS. CMS decides whether and to what extent a new medicine will be covered
and reimbursed under Medicare and private payors tend to follow CMS to a substantial degree. Other factors payors consider in determining
reimbursement are based on whether the product is:
•

a covered benefit under its health plan;

•

safe, effective and medically necessary;

•

appropriate for the specific patient;

•

cost-effective; and

•

neither experimental nor investigational.

A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry and elsewhere is cost containment. Government authorities and third-party payors have
attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular drugs and biologics. Increasingly, third-party
payors are requiring that drug companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices and are challenging the prices charged
for drugs and biologics. For products administered under the supervision of a physician, obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement
may be particularly difficult because of the higher prices often associated with such drugs and biologics. We cannot be sure that coverage
will be available for any product candidate that we commercialize and, if coverage is available, the level of reimbursement. Reimbursement
may impact the demand for, or the price of, any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval. If reimbursement is not available
or is available only to limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize any product candidate for which we obtain marketing
approval. Additionally, we or our collaborators may develop companion diagnostic tests for use with our product candidates. We, or our
collaborators, will be required to obtain coverage and reimbursement for these tests separate and apart from the coverage and
reimbursement we seek for our product candidates, once approved. There is significant uncertainty regarding our ability, or a collaborator’s
ability, to obtain coverage and adequate reimbursement for the same reasons applicable to our product candidates.
There may be significant delays in obtaining reimbursement for newly approved drugs and biologics, and coverage may be more limited than
the purposes for which the drug is approved or for which a biologic is licensed by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the United
States. Moreover, eligibility for reimbursement does not imply that any drug will be paid for in all cases or at a rate that covers our costs,
including research, development, manufacture, sale and distribution. Interim reimbursement levels for new drugs, if applicable, may also not
be sufficient to cover our costs and may not be made permanent. Reimbursement rates may vary according to the use of the drug or biologic
and the clinical setting in which it is used, may be based on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost products and may be
incorporated into existing payments for other services. Net prices for drugs and biologics may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates
required by government healthcare programs or private payors and by any future relaxation of laws that presently restrict imports of drugs or
biologics from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the United States. Our inability to promptly obtain coverage and
profitable payment rates from both government-funded and private payors for any approved drugs or biologics that we develop could have a
material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to commercialize drugs and biologics and our overall
financial condition. Further, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, millions of individuals have lost/will be losing employer-based insurance
coverage, which may adversely affect our ability to commercialize our products.
Outside the United States, international operations are generally subject to extensive governmental price controls and other market
regulations, and we believe the increasing emphasis on cost-containment initiatives in Europe, Canada and other countries has and will
continue to put pressure on the pricing and usage of our product candidates. In many countries, the prices of drugs and biologics are subject
to varying price control mechanisms as part of national health systems. Other countries allow companies to fix their own prices for drugs and
biologics, but monitor and control company
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profits. Additional foreign price controls or other changes in pricing regulation could restrict the amount that we are able to charge for our
product candidates. Accordingly, in markets outside the United States, the reimbursement for our products may be reduced compared with
the United States and may be insufficient to generate commercially reasonable revenue and profits.
The delivery of healthcare in the European Union, including the establishment and operation of health services and the pricing and
reimbursement of medicines, is almost exclusively a matter for national, rather than European Union, law and policy. National governments
and health service providers have different priorities and approaches to the delivery of healthcare and the pricing and reimbursement of
products in that context. In general, however, the healthcare budgetary constraints in most European Union member states, or Member
States, have resulted in restrictions on the pricing and reimbursement of medicines by relevant health service providers. For example, some
jurisdictions operate positive and negative list systems under which products may only be marketed once a reimbursement price has been
agreed to by the government. Some Member States approve a specific price for the medicinal product, whilst others adopt a system of direct
or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the medicinal product on the market, including volume-based arrangements,
caps and reference pricing mechanisms. It is increasingly common in many Member States for marketing authorization holders to be required
to demonstrate the pharmaco-economic superiority of their products as compared to products already subject to pricing and reimbursement
in specific countries. Coupled with ever-increasing European Union and national regulatory burdens on those wishing to develop and market
products, this could prevent or delay marketing approval of our product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect our
ability to commercialize any products for which we obtain marketing approval.
Healthcare legislative reform measures may have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
The United States and many foreign jurisdictions have enacted or proposed legislative and regulatory changes affecting the healthcare
system that could prevent or delay marketing approval of our current product candidates and any future product candidates, restrict or
regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell a product for which we obtain marketing approval. Changes in
regulations, statutes or the interpretation of existing regulations could impact our business in the future by requiring, for example: (i) changes
to our manufacturing arrangements; (ii) additions or modifications to product labeling; (iii) the recall or discontinuation of our products; or
(iv) additional record-keeping requirements. If any such changes were to be imposed, they could adversely affect the operation of our
business.
In the United States, there have been and continue to be a number of legislative initiatives to contain healthcare costs. For example, in March
2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, or
collectively, the ACA, was passed, which substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers,
and significantly impacted the U.S. pharmaceutical industry. The ACA, among other things, subjected biological products to potential
competition by lower-cost biosimilars, addressed a new methodology by which rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug
Rebate Program are calculated for drugs and biologics that are inhaled, infused, instilled, implanted or injected, increased the minimum
Medicaid rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and extended the rebate program to individuals enrolled
in Medicaid managed care organizations, established annual fees and taxes on manufacturers of certain branded prescription drugs and
biologics, and created a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 70% (increased
from 50% pursuant to the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, effective as of 2019) point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prices of applicable
brand drugs and biologics to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs or
biologics to be covered under Medicare Part D.
There remain judicial and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA, as well as efforts to repeal or replace certain aspects of
the ACA. While Congress has not passed repeal legislation to date, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, or TCJA, repealed, effective
January 1, 2019, the tax-based shared responsibility payment imposed by the ACA on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying
health coverage for all or part of a year that is commonly referred to as the “individual mandate.” On December 14, 2018, a federal district
court in Texas ruled the individual mandate is a critical and inseverable feature of the ACA, and therefore, because it was repealed as part of
the TCJA, the remaining provisions of the ACA are invalid as well. Additionally, on December 18, 2019, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth
Circuit upheld the District Court ruling that the individual mandate was unconstitutional and remanded the case back to the District Court to
determine whether the remaining provisions of the ACA are invalid as well. On March 2, 2020, the United States Supreme Court granted the
petitions for writs of certiorari to review this case, and held oral arguments on November 10, 2020. Pending a decision, the ACA remains in
effect, but it is unclear at this time what effect these developments will have on the status of the ACA. We will continue to evaluate the effect
that the ACA and its possible repeal and replacement has on our business.
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On October 13, 2017, President Trump signed an Executive Order terminating the cost-sharing subsidies that reimburse insurers under the
ACA. Several state Attorneys General filed suit to stop the administration from terminating the subsidies, but their request for a restraining
order was denied by a federal judge in California on October 25, 2017. On August 14, 2020, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit
ruled in two separate cases that the federal government is liable for the full amount of unpaid CSRs for the years preceding and including
2017. For CSR claims made by health insurance companies for years 2018 and later, further litigation will be required to determine the
amounts due, if any. In December 2018, CMS published a final rule permitting further collections and payments to and from certain ACA
qualified health plans, or QHPs, and health insurance issuers under the ACA risk adjustment program in response to the outcome of federal
district court litigation regarding the method CMS uses to determine this risk adjustment. Since then, the ACA risk adjustment program
payment parameters have been updated annually. However, on April 27, 2020, the United States Supreme Court reversed a Federal Circuit
decision that previously upheld Congress’ denial of $12 billion in “risk corridor” funding. The U.S. federal government has since started
sending third-party payors owed payments. It is not clear what effect this result will have on our business, but we will continue to monitor any
developments.
In addition, the 2020 federal spending package permanently eliminated, effective January 1, 2020, the ACA-mandated “Cadillac” tax on highcost employer-sponsored health coverage and medical device tax and, effective January 1, 2021, also eliminated the health insurer tax. The
Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 also amended the ACA, effective January 1, 2019, by increasing the point-of-sale discount that is owed by
pharmaceutical manufacturers who participate in Medicare Part D and closing the coverage gap in most Medicare drug plans, commonly
referred to as the “donut hole.” In addition, CMS published a final rule that would give states greater flexibility, effective January 1, 2020, in
setting benchmarks for insurers in the individual and small group marketplaces, which may have the effect of relaxing the essential health
benefits required under the ACA for plans sold through such marketplaces. Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in
the United States since the ACA was enacted. In August 2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011, among other things, created measures for
spending reductions by Congress. A Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction, tasked with recommending a targeted deficit reduction of
at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, was unable to reach required goals, thereby triggering the legislation’s automatic
reduction to several government programs. This includes aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers up to 2% per fiscal year,
and, due to subsequent legislative amendments, will remain in effect through 2030 unless additional Congressional action is taken. The
Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act, or CARES Act, and subsequent legislation, suspended the 2% Medicare sequester from
May 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020. The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2021, extended the suspension period to March 31, 2021.
An Act to Prevent Across-the-Board Direct Spending Cuts, and for Other Purposes, signed into law on April 14, 2021, has extended the
suspension period to December 31, 2021. Proposed legislation, if passed, would extend this suspension until the end of the pandemic. The
American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, or ATRA, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several providers, including hospitals,
imaging centers and cancer treatment centers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to
providers from three to five years.
There has been increasing legislative and enforcement interest in the United States with respect to specialty drug pricing practices.
Specifically, there have been several recent U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed federal and state legislation designed to, among
other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under Medicare, review the relationship between
pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drugs. On March 10, 2020,
the former Trump administration sent “principles” for drug pricing to Congress, calling for legislation that would, among other things, cap
Medicare Part D beneficiary out-of-pocket pharmacy expenses, provide an option to cap Medicare Part D beneficiary monthly out-of-pocket
expenses, and place limits on pharmaceutical price increases. Additionally, the Trump administration previously released a “Blueprint” to
lower drug prices and reduce out of pocket costs of drugs that contained proposals to increase manufacturer competition, increase the
negotiating power of certain federal healthcare programs, incentivize manufacturers to lower the list price of their products and reduce the out
of pocket costs of product candidates paid by consumers. HHS has solicited feedback on some of these measures and has implemented
others under its existing authority. For example, in May 2019, CMS issued a final rule to allow Medicare Advantage Plans the option of using
step therapy, a type of prior authorization, for Part B drugs beginning January 1, 2020. This final rule codified CMS’s policy change that was
effective January 1, 2019. However, it is unclear whether the Biden administration will challenge, reverse, revoke or otherwise modify these
executive and administrative actions after January 20, 2021.
In addition, there have been several changes to the 340B drug pricing program, which imposes ceilings on prices that drug manufacturers
can charge for medications sold to certain health care facilities. On December 27, 2018, the District Court for the District of Columbia
invalidated a reimbursement formula change under the 340B drug pricing program, and CMS subsequently altered the FYs 2019 and 2018
reimbursement formula on specified covered outpatient drugs (SCODs). The court ruled this change was not an “adjustment” which was
within the Secretary’s discretion to make but was instead a fundamental change in the reimbursement calculation. However, most recently,
on July 31, 2020, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit overturned the district court’s decision and found that the
changes
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were within the Secretary’s authority. On September 14, 2020, the plaintiffs-appellees filed a Petition for Rehearing En Banc (i.e., before the
full court), but was denied on October 16, 2020. It is unclear how these developments could affect covered hospitals who might purchase our
future products and affect the rates we may charge such facilities for our approved products in the future, if any.
Further, on May 30, 2018, the Right to Try Act was signed into law. The law, among other things, provides a federal framework for certain
patients to access certain investigational new product candidates that have completed a Phase 1 clinical trial and that are undergoing
investigation for FDA approval. Under certain circumstances, eligible patients can seek treatment without enrolling in clinical trials and
without obtaining FDA permission under the FDA expanded access program. There is no obligation for a pharmaceutical manufacturer to
make its product candidates available to eligible patients as a result of the Right to Try Act.
On July 24, 2020 and September 13, 2020, former President Trump announced several executive orders related to prescription drug pricing
that seek to implement several of the administration's proposals. In response, the FDA released a final rule on September 24, 2020, which
went into effect on November 30, 2020, providing guidance for states to build and submit importation plans for drugs from Canada. Further,
on November 20, 2020 CMS issued an Interim Final Rule implementing the Most Favored Nation, or MFN, Model under which Medicare Part
B reimbursement rates will be calculated for certain drugs and biologicals based on the lowest price drug manufacturers receive in
Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development countries with a similar gross domestic product per capita. The MFN Model
regulations mandate participation by identified Part B providers and will apply in all U.S. states and territories for a seven-year period
beginning January 1, 2021, and ending December 31, 2027. The Interim Final Rule has not been finalized and is subject to revision and
challenge. Additionally, on November 20, 2020, HHS finalized a regulation removing safe harbor protection for price reductions from
pharmaceutical manufacturers to plan sponsors under Part D, either directly or through pharmacy benefit managers, unless the price
reduction is required by law. The rule also creates a new safe harbor for price reductions reflected at the point-of-sale, as well as a safe
harbor for certain fixed fee arrangements between pharmacy benefit managers and manufacturers. Although a number of these and other
proposed measures may require authorization through additional legislation to become effective, and the Biden administration may reverse
or otherwise change these measures, Congress has indicated that it will continue to seek new legislative measures to control drug costs. At
the state level, individual states are increasingly aggressive in passing legislation and implementing regulations designed to control
pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product
access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from other
countries and bulk purchasing. In addition, regional health care authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures
to determine what pharmaceutical products and which suppliers will be included in their prescription drug and other health care programs.
These measures could reduce the ultimate demand for our products, once approved, or put pressure on our product pricing.
We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts
that federal and state governments will pay for healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced demand for our current
product candidates and any future product candidates or additional pricing pressures. It is possible that additional governmental action is
taken to address the COVID-19 pandemic.
Our revenue prospects could be affected by changes in healthcare spending and policy in the United States and abroad. We operate in a
highly regulated industry and new laws, regulations or judicial decisions, or new interpretations of existing laws, regulations or decisions,
related to healthcare availability, the method of delivery or payment for healthcare products and services could negatively impact our
business, operations and financial condition.
There have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the foreign, federal and state levels directed at
broadening the availability of healthcare and containing or lowering the cost of healthcare. We cannot predict the initiatives that may be
adopted in the future, including repeal, replacement or significant revisions to the ACA. The continuing efforts of the government, insurance
companies, managed care organizations and other payors of healthcare services to contain or reduce costs of healthcare and/or impose
price controls may adversely affect:
•

the demand for our current product candidates and any future product candidates, if we obtain regulatory approval;

•

our ability to set a price that we believe is fair for our products;

•

our ability to obtain coverage and reimbursement approval for a product;

•

our ability to generate revenue and achieve or maintain profitability;

•

the level of taxes that we are required to pay; and

•

the availability of capital.
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Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private
payors, which may adversely affect our future profitability.
Our relationships with healthcare providers, customers and third-party payors will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and
abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, which could expose us to significant administrative, civil, and criminal penalties,
damages, fines, disgorgement, imprisonment, exclusion from government healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational
harm and diminished profits and future earnings.
Although we do not currently have any products on the market, our current and future arrangements with healthcare providers, third-party
payors, customers, and others may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations which may
expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial
arrangements and relationships through which we research, market, sell and distribute our current product candidates and any future product
candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations, include
the following:
•

the federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral of an individual for, or the
purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service, for which payment may be made under federal and state healthcare
programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. A person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent
to violate it in order to have committed a violation. Further, courts have found that if “one purpose” of remuneration is to induce
referrals, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute is violated. The Anti-Kickback Statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements
between pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand and prescribers, purchasers, and formulary managers on the other. There are
a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting some common activities from prosecution; but the exceptions
and safe harbors are drawn narrowly and require strict compliance in order to offer protection. On November 30, 2020, U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General, or OIG, published a final rule effective January 1, 2022
amending the existing safe harbor protecting certain discounts to eliminate safe harbor protection for certain rebates provided by a
manufacturer of prescription pharmaceutical products to a plan sponsors under Part D or pharmacy benefit managers (PBMs) under
contract with them. The final rule also creates new safe harbors effective January 29, 2021 for point-of-sale reductions in price on
prescription pharmaceutical products and certain PBM service fees. Pursuant to an order entered by the U.S. District Court for the
District of Columbia, the portion of the rule eliminating safe harbor protection for certain rebates related to the sale or purchase of a
pharmaceutical product from a manufacturer to a plan sponsor under Medicare Part D has been delayed to January 1, 2023.
Implementation of this change and new safe harbors for point-of-sale reductions in price for prescription pharmaceutical products and
pharmacy benefit manager service fees are currently under review by the Biden administration and may be amended or repealed;

•

the federal civil and federal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, including the False Claims Act which can be enforced
through civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, impose criminal and civil penalties against individuals or entities for knowingly
presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for payment that are false or fraudulent or making a false
statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government. In addition, the government may assert
that a claim including items and services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false of fraudulent
claim for purposes of the False Claims Act;

•

the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, imposes criminal and civil liability for executing a
scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, or knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or
making any materially false statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services; similar to
the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it
in order to have committed a violation;

•

the federal physician payment transparency requirements, sometimes referred to as the “Sunshine Act” under the ACA require certain
manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies that are reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid, or the Children’s
Health Insurance Program to report CMS information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians, as defined by
such law, and teaching hospitals and the ownership and investment interests of such physicians and their immediate family members.
Effective January 1, 2022, these reporting obligations will extend to include transfers of value made to certain non-physician providers
such as physician assistants and nurse practitioners;

•

HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009, or HITECH, and its
implementing regulations, which also imposes obligations on certain covered entity healthcare
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providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses as well as their business associates that perform certain services involving the
use or disclosure of individually identifiable health information, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the
privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information. HITECH also created new tiers of civil monetary
penalties, amended HIPAA to make civil and criminal penalties directly applicable to business associates, and gave state attorneys
general new authority to file civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal courts to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and seek
attorneys’ fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil actions; and
•

analogous state laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws that may be broader in scope and apply to
sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party
payors, including private insurers; and some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical
industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government in addition to
requiring drug manufacturers to report information related to payments to physicians and other health care providers or marketing
expenditures; state and local laws that require the registration of pharmaceutical sales representatives; and state laws governing the
privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often
are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.

Ensuring that our future business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations could involve
substantial costs. We have entered into certain advisory board and consulting agreements with physicians, including some who are
compensated in the form of stock or stock options who may influence the ordering or use of our product candidates, if approved, in the future.
It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices do not comply with current or future statutes, regulations
or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations were to be found to be in
violation of any of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and
administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, exclusion from government funded healthcare programs,
such as Medicare and Medicaid, integrity oversight and reporting obligations and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If any of
the physicians or other providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found to be not in compliance with applicable laws, they
may be subject to significant criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs.
Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve
substantial costs. Any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur
significant legal expenses and divert our management’s attention from the operation of our business. The shifting compliance environment
and the need to build and maintain robust and expandable systems to comply with multiple jurisdictions with different compliance or reporting
requirements increases the possibility that a healthcare company may run afoul of one or more of the requirements.
Risks related to general government regulation
If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or
incur costs that could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business.
We are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures and the
handling, use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Our operations involve the use of hazardous and
flammable materials, including chemicals and biological and radioactive materials. Our operations also produce hazardous waste products.
We generally contract with third parties for the disposal of these materials and wastes. We cannot eliminate the risk of contamination or injury
from these materials. In the event of contamination or injury resulting from our use of hazardous materials, we could be held liable for any
resulting damages, and any liability could exceed our resources. We also could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal fines
and penalties.
Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees
resulting from the use of hazardous materials, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. We do not
maintain insurance for environmental liability or toxic tort claims that may be asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of
biological, hazardous or radioactive materials.
Our business activities will be subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, and similar anti-bribery and anti-corruption
laws.
As we expand our business activities outside of the United States, including our clinical trial efforts, we will be subject to the FCPA and
similar anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws, regulations or rules of other countries in which we operate. The
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FCPA generally prohibits offering, promising, giving, or authorizing others to give anything of value, either directly or indirectly, to a nonUnited States government official in order to influence official action, or otherwise obtain or retain business. The FCPA also requires public
companies to make and keep books and records that accurately and fairly reflect the transactions of the corporation and to devise and
maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls. Our business is heavily regulated and therefore involves significant interaction
with public officials, including officials of non-United States governments. Additionally, in many other countries, the healthcare providers who
prescribe pharmaceuticals are employed by their government, and the purchasers of pharmaceuticals are government entities; therefore, our
dealings with these prescribers and purchasers will be subject to regulation under the FCPA. Recently the SEC and Department of Justice
have increased their FCPA enforcement activities with respect to biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. There is no certainty that all
of our employees, agents, suppliers, manufacturers, contractors, or collaborators, or those of our affiliates, will comply with all applicable laws
and regulations, particularly given the high level of complexity of these laws. Violations of these laws and regulations could result in fines,
criminal sanctions against us, our officers, or our employees, the closing down of facilities, including those of our suppliers and
manufacturers, requirements to obtain export licenses, cessation of business activities in sanctioned countries, implementation of compliance
programs, and prohibitions on the conduct of our business. Any such violations could include prohibitions on our ability to offer our products
in one or more countries as well as difficulties in manufacturing or continuing to develop our products, and could materially damage our
reputation, our brand, our international expansion efforts, our ability to attract and retain employees, and our business, prospects, operating
results, and financial condition.
Risks related to reliance on third parties
Risks related to third party agreements
We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials and perform some of our research and preclinical studies. If these third
parties do not satisfactorily carry out their contractual duties or fail to meet expected deadlines, our development programs may
be delayed or subject to increased costs, each of which may have an adverse effect on our business and prospects.
We do not have the ability to conduct all aspects of our preclinical testing or clinical trials ourselves. As a result, we are, and expect to
remain, dependent on third parties to conduct our ongoing clinical trials and any future clinical trials of our product candidates. The timing of
the initiation and completion of these trials will therefore be partially controlled by such third parties and may result in delays to our
development programs. Specifically, we expect CROs, clinical investigators, and consultants to play a significant role in the conduct of these
trials and the subsequent collection and analysis of data. However, we will not be able to control all aspects of their activities. Nevertheless,
we are responsible for ensuring that each of our trials is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol and legal, regulatory and
scientific standards, and our reliance on the CROs and other third parties does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. We and our
CROs are required to comply with GCP requirements, which are regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA, the Competent Authorities
of the Member States of the European Economic Area and comparable foreign regulatory authorities for all of our current product candidates
and any future product candidates in clinical development. Regulatory authorities enforce these GCP requirements through periodic
inspections of trial sponsors, clinical trial investigators and clinical trial sites. If we or any of our CROs or clinical trial sites fail to comply with
applicable GCP requirements, the data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable, and the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. In addition, our clinical
trials must be conducted with product produced under cGMP regulations. Our failure to comply with these regulations may require us to stop
and/or repeat clinical trials, which would delay the marketing approval process.
There is no guarantee that any such CROs, clinical trial investigators or other third parties on which we rely will devote adequate time and
resources to our development activities or perform as contractually required. Further, the performance of our CROs may also be interrupted
by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, including due to travel or quarantine policies, heightened exposure of CRO staff who are healthcare
providers to COVID-19 or prioritization of resources toward the pandemic. If any of these third parties fail to meet expected deadlines, adhere
to our clinical protocols or meet regulatory requirements, otherwise performs in a substandard manner, or terminates its engagement with us,
the timelines for our development programs may be extended or delayed or our development activities may be suspended or terminated. If
any of our clinical trial sites terminates for any reason, we may experience the loss of follow-up information on subjects enrolled in such
clinical trials unless we are able to transfer those subjects to another qualified clinical trial site, which may be difficult or impossible. In
addition, clinical trial investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and may receive
cash or equity compensation in connection with such services. If these relationships and any related compensation result in perceived or
actual conflicts of interest, or the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities concludes that the financial relationship may have affected
the interpretation of the trial, the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site may be questioned and the utility of the
clinical trial itself may be jeopardized, which could result in the delay or rejection of any marketing application we submit
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by the FDA or any comparable foreign regulatory authority. Any such delay or rejection could prevent us from commercializing our current
product candidates and any future product candidates.
Furthermore, these third parties may also have relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors. If these third parties
do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines or conduct our clinical trials in accordance with regulatory
requirements or our stated protocols, we will not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, marketing approvals for our current
product candidates or any future product candidates and will not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize
our products.
If any of our relationships with these third-party CROs or others terminate, we may not be able to enter into arrangements with alternative
CROs or other third parties or to do so on commercially reasonable terms.
Switching or adding additional CROs involves additional cost and requires management time and focus. In addition, there is a natural
transition period when a new CRO begins work. As a result, delays may occur, which can materially impact our ability to meet our desired
development timelines. Though we endeavor to carefully manage our relationships with our CROs and other third parties, there can be no
assurance that we will not encounter similar challenges or delays in the future or that these delays or challenges will not have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition and prospects.
We may form or seek collaborations or strategic alliances or enter into additional licensing arrangements in the future, and we may
not realize the benefits of such collaborations, alliances or licensing arrangements.
We may form or seek strategic alliances, create joint ventures or collaborations, or enter into licensing arrangements with third parties that
we believe will complement or augment our development and commercialization efforts with respect to our product candidates and any future
product candidates that we may develop. Any of these relationships may require us to incur non-recurring and other charges, increase our
near and long-term expenditures, issue securities that dilute our existing stockholders or disrupt our management and business.
In addition, we face significant competition in seeking appropriate strategic partners and the negotiation process is time-consuming and
complex. Moreover, we may not be successful in our efforts to establish a strategic partnership or other alternative arrangements for our
product candidates because they may be deemed to be at too early of a stage of development for collaborative effort and third parties may
not view our product candidates as having the requisite potential to demonstrate safety, potency, purity and efficacy and obtain marketing
approval.
Further, collaborations involving our product candidates are subject to numerous risks, which may include the following:
•

collaborators have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to a collaboration;

•

collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization of our product candidates or may elect not to continue or renew
development or commercialization of our product candidates based on clinical trial results, changes in their strategic focus due to the
acquisition of competitive products, availability of funding or other external factors, such as a business combination that diverts
resources or creates competing priorities;

•

collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial, stop a clinical trial, abandon a product candidate,
repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

•

collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our product
candidates;

•

a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more products may not commit sufficient resources to their marketing and
distribution;

•

collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our intellectual property or proprietary
information in a way that gives rise to actual or threatened litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or
proprietary information or expose us to potential liability;

•

disputes may arise between us and a collaborator that cause the delay or termination of the research, development or
commercialization of our product candidates, or that result in costly litigation or arbitration that diverts management attention and
resources;
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•

collaborations may be terminated and, if terminated, may result in a need for additional capital to pursue further development or
commercialization of the applicable product candidates; and

•

collaborators may own or co-own intellectual property covering our products that results from our collaborating with them, and in such
cases, we would not have the exclusive right to commercialize such intellectual property.

As a result, if we enter into additional collaboration agreements and strategic partnerships or license our product candidates, we may not be
able to realize the benefit of such transactions if we are unable to successfully integrate them with our existing operations and company
culture, which could delay our timelines or otherwise adversely affect our business. We also cannot be certain that, following a strategic
transaction or license, we will achieve the revenue or specific net income that justifies such transaction. Any delays in entering into new
collaborations or strategic partnership agreements related to our product candidates could delay the development and commercialization of
our product candidates in certain geographies for certain indications, which would harm our business prospects, financial condition and
results of operations.
Risks related to third party manufacturing
We rely on third parties to manufacture our product candidates, and we expect to continue to rely on third parties for the clinical as
well as any future commercial supply of our product candidates and other future product candidates. The development of our
current and future product candidates, and the commercialization of any approved products, could be stopped, delayed or made
less profitable if any such third party fails to provide us with sufficient clinical or commercial quantities of such product
candidates or products, fails to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices or fails to achieve or maintain satisfactory regulatory
compliance.
We do not currently have, and we do not plan to build, the infrastructure or capability internally to manufacture current product candidates or
any future product candidates for use in the conduct of our clinical trials or, if approved, for commercial supply. We rely on, and expect to
continue to rely on, contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs. Reliance on third-party providers may expose us to more risk than if we
were to manufacture our product candidates ourselves. We do not control the manufacturing processes of the CMOs we contract with and
are dependent on those third parties for the production of our product candidates in accordance with relevant applicable regulations such as
cGMP, which includes, among other things, quality control, quality assurance and the maintenance of records and documentation.
In complying with the manufacturing regulations of the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities, we and our third-party suppliers
must spend significant time, money and effort in the areas of design and development, testing, production, record-keeping and quality control
to assure that the products meet applicable specifications and other regulatory requirements. The failure to comply with these requirements
could result in an enforcement action against us, including the seizure of products and shutting down of production. We and any of these
third-party suppliers may also be subject to audits by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. If any of our third-party suppliers
fails to comply with cGMP or other applicable manufacturing regulations, our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates
could suffer significant interruptions.
Our failure, or the failure of our third-party manufacturers, to comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on
us, including clinical holds, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or
recalls of product candidates or drugs, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect
supplies of our products.
Any disruption, such as a fire, natural hazards or vandalism at our CMOs, or any impacts on our CMOs due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
could significantly interrupt our manufacturing capability. We currently do not have alternative production plans in place or disaster-recovery
facilities available. In case of a disruption, we will have to establish alternative manufacturing sources. This would require substantial capital
on our part, which we may not be able to obtain on commercially acceptable terms or at all. Additionally, we would likely experience months
of manufacturing delays as we build facilities or locate alternative suppliers and seek and obtain necessary regulatory approvals. If this
occurs, we will be unable to satisfy manufacturing needs on a timely basis, if at all. If changes to CMOs occur, then there also may be
changes to manufacturing processes inherent in the setup of new operations for our product candidates and any products that may obtain
approval in the future. Any such changes could require the conduct of bridging studies before we can use any materials produced at new
facilities or under new processes in clinical trials or, for any products reaching approval, in our commercial supply. Further, business
interruption insurance may not adequately compensate us for any losses that may occur and we would have to bear the additional cost of
any disruption. For these reasons, a significant disruptive event of any CMOs could have drastic consequences, including placing our
financial stability at risk.
Our product candidates and any drugs that we may develop may compete with other product candidates and drugs for access to
manufacturing facilities. There are no assurances we would be able to enter into similar commercial
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arrangements with other manufacturers that operate under cGMP regulations and that might be capable of manufacturing for us. Any
performance failure on the part of our existing or future manufacturers could delay clinical development or marketing approval.
If we were to experience an unexpected loss of supply of or if any supplier were unable to meet our clinical or commercial demand for any of
our product candidates, we could experience delays in our planned clinical studies or commercialization. For example, the COVID-19
pandemic may impact our ability to procure sufficient supplies for the development of our current and future product candidates, and the
extent of such impacts will depend on the severity and duration of the spread of the virus and the actions undertaken to contain COVID-19 or
treat its effects. We could be unable to find alternative suppliers of acceptable quality and experience that can produce and supply
appropriate volumes at an acceptable cost or on favorable terms. Moreover, our suppliers are often subject to strict manufacturing
requirements and rigorous testing requirements, which could limit or delay production. The long transition periods necessary to switch
manufacturers and suppliers, if necessary, would significantly delay our clinical trials and, for any product candidates that reach approval, the
commercialization of our products, which would materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operation.
The manufacture of biologics is complex and our third-party manufacturers may encounter difficulties in production. If any of our
third-party manufacturers encounter such difficulties, our ability to provide supply of our current product candidates or any future
product candidates for clinical trials or our products for patients, if approved, could be delayed or prevented.
Manufacturing biologics, especially in large quantities, is often complex and may require the use of innovative technologies to handle living
cells. Each lot of an approved biologic must undergo thorough testing for identity, strength, quality, purity and potency. Manufacturing
biologics requires facilities specifically designed for and validated for this purpose, and sophisticated quality assurance and quality control
procedures are necessary. Slight deviations anywhere in the manufacturing process, including filling, labeling, packaging, storage and
shipping and quality control and testing, may result in lot failures, product recalls or spoilage. When changes are made to the manufacturing
process, we may be required to provide preclinical and clinical data showing the comparable identity, strength, quality, purity or potency of
the products before and after such changes. If microbial, viral or other contaminations are discovered at the facilities of our manufacturers,
such facilities may need to be closed for an extended period of time to investigate and remedy the contamination, which could delay clinical
trials and adversely harm our business. The use of biologically derived ingredients can also lead to allegations of harm, including infections
or allergic reactions, or closure of product facilities due to possible contamination.
In addition, there are risks associated with large scale manufacturing for clinical trials or commercial scale including, among others, cost
overruns, potential problems with process scale-up, process reproducibility, stability issues, compliance with good manufacturing practices,
lot consistency and timely availability of raw materials. Even if we obtain marketing approval for any of our current product candidates or any
future product candidates, there is no assurance that our manufacturers will be able to manufacture the approved product to specifications
acceptable to the FDA or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities, to produce it in sufficient quantities to meet the requirements for
the potential commercial launch of the product or to meet potential future demand. If our manufacturers are unable to produce sufficient
quantities for clinical trials or for commercialization, our development and commercialization efforts would be impaired, which would have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
Risks related to third parties and intellectual property
Our reliance on third parties requires us to share our trade secrets, which increases the possibility that a competitor will discover
them or that our trade secrets will be misappropriated or disclosed.
Because we rely on third parties to research and develop and to manufacture our product candidates, we must share trade secrets with
them. We seek to protect our proprietary technology in part by entering into confidentiality agreements and, if applicable, material transfer
agreements, consulting agreements or other similar agreements with our advisors, employees, third-party contractors and consultants prior
to beginning research or disclosing proprietary information. These agreements typically limit the rights of the third parties to use or disclose
our confidential information, including our trade secrets. Despite the contractual provisions employed when working with third parties, the
need to share trade secrets and other confidential information increases the risk that such trade secrets become known by our competitors,
are inadvertently incorporated into the technology of others, or are disclosed or used in violation of these agreements. Given that our
proprietary position is based, in part, on our know-how and trade secrets, a competitor’s independent discovery of our trade secrets or other
unauthorized use or disclosure would impair our competitive position and may have a material adverse effect on our business.
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In addition, these agreements typically restrict the ability of our advisors, employees, third-party contractors and consultants to publish data
potentially relating to our trade secrets, although our agreements may contain certain limited publication rights. For example, any academic
institution that we may collaborate with will likely expect to be granted rights to publish data arising out of such collaboration and any joint
research and development programs may require us to share trade secrets under the terms of our research and development or similar
agreements. Despite our efforts to protect our trade secrets, our competitors may discover our trade secrets, either through breach of our
agreements with third parties, independent development or publication of information by any of our third-party collaborators. A competitor’s
discovery of our trade secrets would impair our competitive position and have an adverse impact on our business. Enforcing a claim that a
third party illegally obtained and is using our trade secrets, like patent litigation, is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is
unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States are sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets.
Risks related to our limited operating history, financial position and capital requirements
Risks related to our operating history
Our limited operating history may make it difficult for you to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our future
viability.
We are a clinical-stage immuno-oncology company with a limited operating history. We commenced operations in 2012, and our operations
to date have been limited to organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital, conducting discovery and research
activities, filing patent applications, identifying potential product candidates, undertaking preclinical studies and clinical trials and establishing
arrangements with third parties for the manufacture of initial quantities of our product candidates and component materials. Our two lead
product candidates, inupadenant and EOS-448, are currently in clinical trials and we have additional programs in preclinical development.
We have financed our operations primarily through private placements of our preferred stock, grants from the Walloon Region, a federal
region of Belgium, or the Walloon Region, and the European Union to fund research and development activities, and our initial public
offering, or IPO, in July 2020. We have not yet demonstrated our ability to successfully conduct or complete any clinical trials, obtain
marketing approvals, manufacture a commercial-scale product or arrange for a third party to do so on our behalf, or conduct sales, marketing
and distribution activities necessary for successful product commercialization. Consequently, any predictions you make about our future
success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer operating history.
In addition, as an early-stage business, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other known and
unknown factors. We will need to transition at some point from a company with a research and development focus to a company capable of
supporting commercial activities. We may not be successful in such a transition.
We expect our financial condition and operating results to continue to fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year due to a
variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control. Accordingly, you should not rely upon the results of any quarterly or annual periods
as indications of future operating performance.
We have incurred significant losses since inception, and we expect to incur losses over the next several years and may not be able to
achieve or sustain revenues or profitability in the future.
Investment in biopharmaceutical product development is a highly speculative undertaking and entails substantial upfront capital expenditures
and significant risk that any potential product candidate will fail to demonstrate adequate effect or an acceptable safety profile, gain
regulatory approval and become commercially viable. We are still in the early stages of development of our product candidates. Our most
advanced product candidate, inupadenant, and our lead antibody product candidate, EOS-448, are each in ongoing Phase 1/2a clinical trials.
We have no products licensed for commercial sale and have not generated any revenue from product sales to date, and we continue to incur
significant research and development and other expenses related to our ongoing operations. We have financed our operations primarily
through private placements of our preferred stock.
We have incurred significant net losses in each period since inception. For the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, our net losses
were $13.5 million and $5.2 million, respectively. As of March 31, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $87.4 million. We expect to
continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future, and we expect these losses to increase substantially if and as we:
•

conduct preclinical studies and clinical trials for our current and future product candidates;

•

continue our research and development efforts and submit investigational new drug applications, or INDs, for future product
candidates;
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•

seek marketing approvals for any product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

•

build commercial infrastructure to support sales and marketing for any approved product candidates;

•

scale up external manufacturing and distribution capabilities for clinical and, if approved, commercial supply of our product candidates;

•

expand, maintain and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

•

hire additional clinical, regulatory and scientific personnel and scale up such capabilities; and

•

operate as a public company.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with biopharmaceutical product development, we are unable to accurately
predict the timing or amount of increased expenses we will incur or when, if ever, we will be able to achieve profitability. Even if we succeed
in eventually commercializing one or more of our product candidates, we will continue to incur substantial research and development and
other expenditures to develop, seek approval for, and market additional product candidates. We may never succeed in these activities and,
even if we succeed in commercializing one or more of our current product candidates and any future product candidates, we may never
generate revenues that are significant or large enough to achieve profitability. In addition, we may encounter unforeseen expenses,
difficulties, complications, delays and other known and unknown challenges that may adversely affect our business. The size of our future net
losses will depend, in part, on the rate of future growth of our expenses and our ability to generate revenue. Our prior losses and expected
future losses have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on stockholders’ equity (deficit).
We have never generated any revenue from product sales and may never be profitable.
Our ability to become profitable depends upon our ability to generate revenue. To date, we have not generated any revenue from any product
sales. We have no products approved for commercial sale, and do not anticipate generating any revenue from product sales until after we
have received marketing approval for the commercial sale of a product candidate, if ever. Our ability to generate revenue and achieve
profitability depends significantly on our success in achieving a number of goals, including:
•

initiating and completing research regarding, and preclinical and clinical development of, inupadenant, EOS-448, and any future
product candidates;

•

obtaining marketing approvals for inupadenant, EOS-448, and any future product candidates for which we complete clinical trials;

•

developing a sustainable and scalable manufacturing process for inupadenant, EOS-448, and any future product candidates, including
establishing and maintaining commercially viable supply and manufacturing relationships with third parties;

•

launching and commercializing inupadenant, EOS-448, and any future product candidates for which we obtain marketing approvals,
either directly or with a collaborator or distributor;

•

obtaining market acceptance of inupadenant, EOS-448, and any future product candidates as viable treatment options;

•

addressing any competing technological and market developments;

•

identifying, assessing, acquiring and developing new product candidates;

•

negotiating favorable terms in any collaboration, licensing, or other arrangements into which we may enter; obtaining, maintaining,
protecting, and expanding our portfolio of intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets, and know-how; and

•

attracting, hiring, and retaining qualified personnel.

Even if our current product candidates or any future product candidates that we develop are approved for commercial sale, we anticipate
incurring significant costs associated with commercializing any such product candidate. Our expenses could increase beyond expectations if
we are required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to change our manufacturing processes or assays, or to perform
clinical, nonclinical, or other types of studies in addition to those that we currently anticipate.
If we are successful in obtaining regulatory approvals to market inupadenant, EOS-448, or any future product candidates, our revenue will be
dependent, in part, upon the size of the markets in the territories for which we gain marketing approval, the accepted price for the product,
the ability to get reimbursement at any price, and whether we own the
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commercial rights for that territory. If the number of our addressable patients is not as significant as we estimate, the indication approved by
regulatory authorities is narrower than we expect, the labels for our current product candidates and any future product candidates contain
significant safety warnings, regulatory authorities impose burdensome or restrictive distribution requirements, or the reasonably accepted
patient population for treatment is narrowed by competition, physician choice or treatment guidelines, we may not generate significant
revenue from sales of such products, even if approved. If we are not able to generate revenue from the sale of any approved products, we
could be prevented from or significantly delayed in achieving profitability.
Even if we achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become
and remain profitable would depress the value of our company and could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business, maintain our
development efforts, obtain product approvals, diversify our offerings or continue our operations.
Risks related to raising additional capital
We will require substantial additional financing to achieve our goals, and a failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed on
acceptable terms, or at all, could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or commercialization
efforts.
Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. We expect to continue to spend substantial amounts to continue
the clinical development of our product candidates, including our ongoing Phase 1/2a clinical trials of inupadenant and EOS-448 and our
ongoing and planned IND-enabling studies for our other product candidates. If approved, we will require significant additional amounts in
order to launch and commercialize our product candidates.
As of March 31, 2021, we had $321.4 million of cash and cash equivalents. Our net proceeds from our IPO, were $210.6 million, after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and IPO expenses payable by us. Our existing cash and cash equivalents will not be
sufficient to fund all of our efforts that we plan to undertake.
We believe the net proceeds from the IPO, together with our existing cash and cash equivalents, will enable us to fund our operations into
the second half of 2023. However, we have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong. Additionally, changing
circumstances may cause us to consume capital significantly faster than we currently anticipate, and we may need to spend more money
than currently expected because of circumstances beyond our control. Accordingly, we will need to raise substantial additional capital in
connection with our continuing operations.
Our future capital requirements depend on many factors, including:
•

the scope, progress, results and costs of researching and developing inupadenant, EOS-448, and any future product candidates, and
conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials;

•

the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining marketing approvals for inupadenant, EOS-448, and any future product candidates if
clinical trials are successful;

•

the extent to which we develop, in-license or acquire other product candidates and technologies;

•

the number and development requirements of other product candidates we may pursue;

•

the success of any collaborations;

•

the cost of commercialization activities for any approved product, including marketing, sales and distribution costs;

•

the cost of manufacturing inupadenant, EOS-448, and any future product candidates for clinical trials in preparation for marketing
approval and commercialization;

•

our ability to establish and maintain strategic licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms of such agreements;

•

the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, expanding, defending and enforcing patent claims, including litigation
costs and the outcome of such litigation;

•

the timing, receipt, and amount of sales of, or royalties on, future approved products, if any; and

•

the emergence of competing cancer therapies and other adverse market developments.

We have limited committed external source of funds or other support for our development efforts. Until we can generate sufficient product
revenue to finance our cash requirements, which we may never do, we expect to finance our future cash needs through a combination of
public or private equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing and grant arrangements and other marketing or
distribution arrangements. We cannot be certain that additional
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funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. Further, our ability to raise additional capital may be adversely impacted by potential
worsening global economic conditions and the recent disruptions to and volatility in the credit and financial markets in the United States and
worldwide resulting from the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. If we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms
acceptable to us, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue our research and development initiatives. We could be
required to seek collaborators for our product candidates at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable or on terms that are less
favorable than might otherwise be available or relinquish or license on unfavorable terms our rights to our product candidates in markets
where we otherwise would seek to pursue development or commercialization ourselves.
Any of the above events could significantly harm our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations and cause the price of
our common stock to decline.
Risks related to intellectual property
Risks related to protecting our intellectual property
If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficient intellectual property protection for our current product candidates or any future
product candidates, or if the scope of the intellectual property protection is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop
and commercialize products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our products may be
adversely affected.
Our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in the United States and other countries with
respect to our current product candidates or any future product candidates and research programs. We seek to protect our proprietary
position by filing patent applications in the United States and abroad related to our novel discoveries and technologies that are important to
our business, however, we cannot predict:
•

if and when patents may issue based on our patent applications;

•

the scope of protection of any patent issuing based on our patent applications;

•

whether the claims of any patent issuing based on our patent applications will protect our current product candidates or any future
product candidates and their intended uses or prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies or products;

•

whether or not third parties will find ways to invalidate or circumvent our patent rights;

•

whether or not others will obtain patents claiming aspects similar to those covered by our patents and patent applications; and/or

•

whether we will need to initiate litigation or administrative proceedings to enforce and/or defend our patent rights which will be costly
whether we win or lose.

Obtaining and enforcing patents is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable
patent applications, or maintain and/or enforce patents that may issue based on our patent applications, at a reasonable cost or in a timely
manner. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development results before it is too late to obtain
patent protection. Although we enter into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to patentable aspects
of our research and development output, such as our employees, corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, contract research
organizations, or CROs, CMOs, consultants, advisors and other third parties, any of these parties may breach these agreements and
disclose such results before a patent application is filed, thereby jeopardizing our ability to seek patent protection.
We also cannot be certain that the claims in our pending patent applications directed to our product candidates and/or technologies will be
considered patentable by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or the USPTO, or by patent offices in foreign countries. One aspect of the
determination of patentability of our inventions depends on the scope and content of the “prior art,” information that was or is deemed
available to a person of skill in the relevant art prior to the priority date of the claimed invention. There may be prior art of which we are not
aware that may affect the patentability of our patent claims or, if issued, affect the validity or enforceability of a patent claim. Even if the
patents do issue based on our patent applications, third parties may challenge the validity, enforceability or scope thereof, which may result
in such patents being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable. Furthermore, even if they are unchallenged, patents in our portfolio may
not adequately exclude third parties from practicing relevant technology or prevent others from designing around our claims. If the breadth or
strength of our intellectual property position with respect to our current product candidates or any future product candidates is threatened, it
could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to develop and threaten our ability to commercialize our current product candidates or
any future product candidates. In the event of litigation or
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administrative proceedings, we cannot be certain that the claims in any of our issued patents will be considered valid by courts in the United
States or foreign countries.
We may not identify relevant third-party patents or may incorrectly interpret the relevance, scope or expiration of a third-party
patent which might adversely affect our ability to develop and market our products.
We cannot guarantee that any of our patent searches or analyses, including the identification of relevant patents, the scope of patent claims
or the expiration of relevant patents, are complete or thorough, nor can we be certain that we have identified each and every third party
patent and pending application in the United States and abroad that is relevant to or necessary for the commercialization of our current
product candidates or any future product candidates in any jurisdiction.
The scope of a patent claim is determined by an interpretation of the law, the written disclosure in a patent and the patent’s prosecution
history. Our interpretation of the relevance or the scope of a patent or a pending application may be incorrect, which may negatively impact
our ability to market our products. We may incorrectly determine that our products are not covered by a third-party patent or may incorrectly
predict whether a third party’s pending application will issue with claims of relevant scope. Our determination of the expiration date of any
patent in the United States or abroad that we consider relevant may be incorrect, which may negatively impact our ability to develop and
market our current product candidates or any future product candidates. Our failure to identify and correctly interpret relevant patents may
negatively impact our ability to develop and market our products.
In the future, we may need to obtain additional licenses of third-party technology that may not be available to us or are available
only on commercially unreasonable terms, and which may cause us to operate our business in a more costly or otherwise adverse
manner that was not anticipated.
From time to time we may be required to license technology from additional third parties to further develop or commercialize our current
product candidates or any future product candidates. Should we be required to obtain licenses to any third-party technology, including any
such patents required to manufacture, use or sell our current product candidates or any future product candidates, such licenses may not be
available to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. The inability to obtain any third-party license required to develop or
commercialize any of our current product candidates or any future product candidates could cause us to abandon any related efforts, which
could seriously harm our business and operations.
We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
Patents are of national or regional effect, and filing, prosecuting and defending patents on all of our current product candidates or any future
product candidates throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. As such, we may not be able to prevent third parties from
practicing our inventions in all countries outside the United States, or from selling or importing products made using our inventions in and into
the United States or other jurisdictions. Further, the legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor
the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to pharmaceuticals or biologics, which could
make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights
generally. In addition, certain developing countries, including China and India, have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner
may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties. In those countries, we and our licensors may have limited remedies if patents are
infringed or if we or our licensors are compelled to grant a license to a third party, which could materially diminish the value of those patents.
This could limit our potential revenue opportunities. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be
inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license.
Changes in patent law in the United States and other jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing
our ability to protect our current product candidates or any future product candidates.
As is the case with other biopharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents.
However, the patent position of biopharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions and
has in recent years been the subject of much litigation, resulting in court decisions, including Supreme Court decisions, that have increased
uncertainties as to the ability to obtain and enforce patent rights in the future. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent
laws in the United States and other countries could increase the uncertainties and costs. For example, in September 2011 the Leahy-Smith
America Invents Act, or the America Invents Act, was signed into law and included a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law as
then existed. These include provisions that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted, redefine prior art and provide more efficient
and cost-effective avenues for competitors to challenge the validity of patents. These include
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allowing third-party submission of prior art to the USPTO during patent prosecution and additional procedures to attack the validity of a patent
by USPTO administered post-grant proceedings, including post-grant review, inter partes review, and derivation proceedings. After March
2013, under the America Invents Act, the United States transitioned to a first inventor to file system in which, assuming that the other
statutory requirements are met, the first inventor to file a patent application will be entitled to the patent on an invention regardless of whether
a third party was the first to invent the claimed invention. However, the America Invents Act and its implementation could increase the
uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
The U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in
certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. Depending on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the
U.S. courts, the USPTO and the relevant law-making bodies in other countries, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in
unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents that we might obtain in
the future.
We may rely on trade secret and proprietary know-how which can be difficult to trace and enforce and, if we are unable to protect
the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be harmed.
In addition to seeking patents for some of our technology and current product candidates or any future product candidates, we may also rely
on trade secrets, including unpatented know-how, technology and other proprietary information, to maintain our competitive position.
Elements of our current product candidates or any future product candidates, including processes for their preparation and manufacture, may
involve proprietary know-how, information, or technology that is not covered by patents, and thus for these aspects we may consider trade
secrets and know-how to be our primary intellectual property. Any disclosure, either intentional or unintentional, by our employees, the
employees of third parties with whom we share our facilities or third party consultants and vendors that we engage to perform research,
clinical trials or manufacturing activities, or misappropriation by third parties (such as through a cybersecurity breach) of our trade secrets or
proprietary information could enable competitors to duplicate or surpass our technological achievements, thus eroding our competitive
position in our market.
Trade secrets and know-how can be difficult to protect. We require our employees to enter into written employment agreements containing
provisions of confidentiality and obligations to assign to us any inventions generated in the course of their employment. We enter into written
agreements that include confidentiality and intellectual property obligations to protect each party’s property, potential trade secrets,
proprietary know-how, and information. We further seek to protect our potential trade secrets, proprietary know-how, and information in part,
by entering into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who are given access to them, such as our corporate
collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, CROs, CMOs, consultants, advisors and other third parties. With our consultants, contractors,
and outside scientific collaborators, these agreements typically include invention assignment obligations. Despite these efforts, any of these
parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, including our trade secrets, and we may not be able to obtain
adequate remedies for such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult,
expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the United States are less
willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a
competitor or other third party, we would have no right to prevent them from using that technology or information to compete with us. If any of
our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or independently developed by a competitor or other third party, our competitive position would be
harmed.
Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our current product candidates or any future product
candidates for an adequate amount of time.
Patent rights are of limited duration. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product
candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. Even if patents
covering our current product candidates or any future product candidates are obtained, once the patent life has expired for a product, we may
be open to competition from biosimilar or generic products. A patent term extension based on regulatory delay may be available in the United
States. However, only a single patent can be extended for each marketing approval, and any patent can be extended only once, for a single
product. Moreover, the scope of protection during the period of the patent term extension does not extend to the full scope of the claim, but
instead only to the scope of the product as approved. Laws governing analogous patent term extensions in foreign jurisdictions vary widely,
as do laws governing the ability to obtain multiple patents from a single patent family. Additionally, we may not receive an extension if we fail
to apply within applicable deadlines, fail to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise fail to satisfy applicable requirements. If
we are unable to obtain patent term extension or
59

restoration, or the term of any such extension is less than we request, the period during which we will have the right to exclusively market our
product will be shortened and our competitors may obtain approval of competing products following our patent expiration, and our revenue
could be reduced, possibly materially.
Risks related to intellectual property litigation
We may become involved in lawsuits alleging that we have infringed the intellectual property rights of third parties or to protect or
enforce our patents or other intellectual property, which litigation could be expensive, time consuming and adversely affect our
ability to develop or commercialize our current product candidates or any future product candidates.
The coverage of patents is subject to interpretation by the courts, and the interpretation is not always uniform. There is a substantial amount
of intellectual property litigation in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, and we may become party to, or threatened with,
litigation or other adversarial proceedings regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our products candidates. Third parties may
assert infringement claims against us based on existing or future intellectual property rights. If we were sued for patent infringement, we
would need to demonstrate that our current product candidates or any future product candidates, products or methods either do not infringe
the patent claims of the relevant patent or that the patent claims are invalid or unenforceable, and we may not be able to do this. Proving
invalidity may be difficult. For example, in the United States, proving invalidity in court requires a showing of clear and convincing evidence to
overcome the presumption of validity enjoyed by issued patents. If we are found to infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights, we could
be forced, including by court order, to cease developing, manufacturing or commercializing the infringing product candidate or product.
Alternatively, we may be required to obtain a license from such third party in order to use the infringing technology and continue developing,
manufacturing or marketing the infringing product candidate. However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on commercially
reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the
same technologies licensed to us. In addition, we could be found liable for monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees
if we are found to have willfully infringed a patent. A finding of infringement could prevent us from commercializing our current product
candidates or any future product candidates or force us to cease some of our business operations, which could materially harm our business.
In addition, we may find that competitors are infringing our patents, trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property. To counter
infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time consuming and divert the
time and attention of our management and scientific personnel. Any claims we assert against perceived infringers could provoke these
parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their patents, in addition to counterclaims asserting that our patents are
invalid or unenforceable, or both. In any patent infringement proceeding, there is a risk that a court will decide that a patent of ours is invalid
or unenforceable, in whole or in part, and that we do not have the right to stop the other party from using the invention at issue. There is also
a risk that, even if the validity of such patents is upheld, the court will construe the patent’s claims narrowly or decide that we do not have the
right to stop the other party from using the invention at issue on the grounds that our patent claims do not cover the invention. An adverse
outcome in a litigation or proceeding involving our patents could limit our ability to assert our patents against those parties or other
competitors, and may curtail or preclude our ability to exclude third parties from making and selling similar or competitive products. Any of
these occurrences could adversely affect our competitive business position, business prospects and financial condition. Similarly, if we assert
trademark infringement claims, a court may determine that the marks we have asserted are invalid or unenforceable, or that the party against
whom we have asserted trademark infringement has superior rights to the marks in question. In this case, we could ultimately be forced to
cease use of such trademarks. Even if we establish infringement, the court may decide not to grant an injunction against further infringing
activity and instead award only monetary damages, which may or may not be an adequate remedy.
Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that
some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during litigation. There could also be public announcements of the
results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be
negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of shares of our common stock. Moreover, we cannot assure you that we will
have sufficient financial or other resources to defend or pursue such litigation, which typically last for years before they are concluded. Even if
we are successful in these proceedings, we may incur substantial costs and the time and attention of our management and scientific
personnel could be diverted in pursuing these proceedings, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and operations. In
addition, we may not have sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion.
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Because of the expense and uncertainty of litigation, we may not be in a position to enforce our intellectual property rights against
third parties.
Because of the expense and uncertainty of litigation, we may conclude that even if a third party is infringing our issued patent, any patents
that may be issued as a result of our pending or future patent applications or other intellectual property rights, the risk-adjusted cost of
bringing and enforcing such a claim or action may be too high or not in the best interest of our company or our stockholders. In such cases,
we may decide that the more prudent course of action is to simply monitor the situation or initiate or seek some other non-litigious action or
solution.
We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed
confidential information of third parties.
We could in the future be subject to claims that we or our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed alleged trade secrets
or other confidential information of former employers or competitors. Although we try to ensure that our employees and consultants do not
use the intellectual property, proprietary information, know-how or trade secrets of others in their work for us, we may become subject to
claims that we caused an employee to breach the terms of his or her non-competition or non-solicitation agreement, or that we or these
individuals have, inadvertently or otherwise, used or disclosed the alleged trade secrets or other proprietary information of a former employer
or competitor.
While we may litigate to defend ourselves against these claims, even if we are successful, litigation could result in substantial costs and could
be a distraction to management. If our defenses to these claims fail, in addition to requiring us to pay monetary damages, a court could
prohibit us from using technologies or features that are essential to our current product candidates or any future product candidates, if such
technologies or features are found to incorporate or be derived from the trade secrets or other proprietary information of the former
employers. Moreover, any such litigation or the threat thereof may adversely affect our reputation, our ability to form strategic alliances or
sublicense our rights to collaborators, engage with scientific advisors or hire employees or consultants, each of which would have an adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We may become subject to claims challenging the inventorship or ownership of our patents and other intellectual property.
We may be subject to claims that former employees, collaborators or other third parties have an interest in our patents or other intellectual
property as an inventor or co-inventor. The failure to name the proper inventors on a patent application can result in the patents issuing
thereon being unenforceable. Inventorship disputes may arise from conflicting views regarding the contributions of different individuals
named as inventors, the effects of foreign laws where foreign nationals are involved in the development of the subject matter of the patent,
conflicting obligations of third parties involved in developing our current product candidates or any future product candidates or as a result of
questions regarding co-ownership of potential joint inventions. Litigation may be necessary to resolve these and other claims challenging
inventorship and/or ownership. Alternatively, or additionally, we may enter into agreements to clarify the scope of our rights in such
intellectual property. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual
property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, valuable intellectual property. Such an outcome could have a material
adverse effect on our business. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be
a distraction to management and other employees.
Risks related to our employee matters, business operations and managing growth
Risks related to COVID-19 and the global economy
If the current public health pandemic related to coronavirus (COVID-19) continues to worsen, our operations, business and
financial results may be adversely impacted.
Widespread outbreak of illness or other communicable diseases, health epidemics, or any other public health crisis could adversely affect our
ongoing or planned research and development activities. For example, in December 2019, an outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
originated in Wuhan, China, and has since spread to a number of other countries, including the U.S. To date, the COVID-19 pandemic has
caused widespread disruptions to the U.S. and global economy and has contributed to significant volatility and negative pressure in financial
markets. The global impact of the outbreak is continually evolving and, as additional cases of the virus are identified, many countries,
including the U.S., have reacted by instituting quarantines, restrictions on travel and mandatory closures of businesses. Certain states and
cities, including where we or the third parties with whom we engage operate, have also reacted by instituting quarantines, restrictions on
travel, “stay at home” rules, restrictions on types of business that may continue to operate and restrictions on the types of construction
projects that may continue.
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The continued spread of COVID-19 and identification of new strains of the virus could adversely impact our manufacturing and other
operations, including our ability to recruit and retain patients, principal investigators, clinical trial sites and their staff, caregivers and
healthcare providers as necessary. The COVID-19 pandemic may negatively affect the operations of third-party suppliers and service
providers that we rely upon to carry out our clinical trials or the operations of our third-party manufacturers, which could result in delays or
disruptions in the supply of our product candidates for our clinical trials. Furthermore, COVID-19 may delay startup of new clinical trial sites
and enrollment in our clinical trials due to prioritization of hospital resources toward the outbreak, restrictions in travel and site enrollment
restrictions. For example, we have previously reported enrollment delays for the third cohort of our Phase 1/2a trial of inupadenant in adult
patients with advanced solid tumors, in which we plan to evaluate inupadenant in combination with chemotherapy. Some patients may be
unwilling to enroll in future clinical trials or be unable to comply with clinical trial protocols if quarantines or travel restrictions impede patient
movement or interrupt healthcare services. Increased demand at clinical trial sites and quarantined doctors and staff may reduce personnel
and other available resources at clinical trial sites needed to conduct our clinical trials and may cause the screening of new patients or clinical
trial operations to be paused, and the procedures or assessments of patients on trial to be delayed or missed. Trial sites may also limit or
prohibit on site monitoring to decrease potential exposure of doctors, staff and patients to COVID-19, which would require us to use remote
monitoring via video conferences. While we do not anticipate any negative effects from remote monitoring, it could potentially affect quality,
training and source data verification at clinical trial sites. Additionally, if a clinical trial site does not have remote monitoring capabilities, we
may be required to find other distance monitoring solutions. Further, we are currently experiencing challenges with respect to climatecontrolled shipping of our product candidates, which may delay our ability to dose patients in our ongoing trials. Any negative impact COVID19 has to patient enrollment, retention or treatment could delay our clinical trial timelines and adversely affect our ability to obtain regulatory
approval for and to commercialize our product candidates, particularly on our current projected timelines, increase our operating expenses
and have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results. We remain in active dialog with our CROs and clinical sites to
minimize the impact of this pandemic to our clinical trials of inupadenant and EOS-448 without adversely impacting the safety of patients.
Despite our best efforts, it may prove difficult to continue to treat patients in a timely manner and activation of new sites could be delayed,
particularly for our clinical trial sites in areas with high rates of community spread.
Furthermore, three vaccines for COVID-19 were granted Emergency Use Authorization by the FDA in late 2020 and early 2021, and more
are likely to be authorized in the future. The resultant demand for vaccines and potential for manufacturing facilities and materials to be
commandeered under the Defense Production Act of 1950, or equivalent foreign legislation, may make it more difficult to obtain materials or
manufacturing slots for the products needed for our clinical trials, which could lead to delays in these trials. The roll-out of the vaccines could
slow patient enrollment in our studies as some patients may be unwilling to enroll in clinical trials before or soon after receiving the
vaccination.
In addition, COVID-19 has resulted in significant governmental measures being implemented to control the spread of the virus, including
quarantines, travel restrictions and business shutdowns. As of the date hereof, we have taken temporary precautionary measures intended to
help minimize the risk of the virus to our employees and their families, including temporarily requiring all non-laboratory employees and all
non-essential employees for laboratory work to work remotely. We have suspended non-essential travel worldwide for our employees and
are discouraging employee attendance at other gatherings. Further measures may be taken as the pandemic continues. These measures
could negatively affect our business. For instance, temporarily requiring most employees to work remotely has required us to decrease preclinical laboratory work, which may delay and otherwise adversely impact our pre-clinical program development. Further, remote work may
disrupt our operations or increase the risk of a cybersecurity incident. In addition, although our employees are accustomed to working
remotely, changes in internal controls due to remote work arrangements could potentially result in control deficiencies in the preparation of
our financial reports, which could be significant. COVID-19 has also caused volatility in the global financial markets and threatened a
slowdown in the global economy, which may negatively affect our ability to raise additional capital on attractive terms or at all.
The extent to which COVID-19 may impact our business will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be
predicted with confidence, such as the duration of the outbreak, the severity of COVID-19 or the effectiveness of actions to contain and treat
COVID-19, particularly in the geographies where we, our third party manufacturers, CROs or current and planned clinical trial sites operate.
We cannot presently predict the scope and severity of any potential business shutdowns or disruptions. If we or any of the third parties with
whom we engage, however, were to experience shutdowns or other business disruptions, our ability to conduct our business in the manner
and on the timelines presently planned could be materially and negatively affected, which could have a material adverse impact on our
business and our results of operation and financial condition.
In addition, to the extent the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business and results of operations, it may also have the
effect of heightening many of the other risks and uncertainties described in this “Risk factors” section.
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Risks related to employee matters
We expect to expand our development, regulatory and operational capabilities and, as a result, we may encounter difficulties in
managing our growth, which could disrupt our operations.
As of March 31, 2021, we had 68 full-time employees. As we advance our research and development programs and as we begin operating
as a public company, we expect to experience significant growth in the number of our employees and the scope of our operations,
particularly in the areas of management and operations, clinical development, quality, regulatory affairs and, if any of our current product
candidates or any future product candidates receive marketing approval, sales, marketing and distribution. To manage our anticipated future
growth, we must:
•

identify, recruit, integrate, maintain and motivate additional qualified personnel;

•

manage our development efforts effectively, including the initiation and conduct of clinical trials for our current product candidates or
any future product candidates, both as monotherapy and in combination with other intra-portfolio product candidates; and

•

improve our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures.

Our future financial performance and our ability to develop, manufacture and commercialize our current product candidates or any future
product candidates will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth, and our management may also have to divert
financial and other resources, and a disproportionate amount of its attention away from day-to-day activities in order to devote a substantial
amount of time, to managing these growth activities. Due to our limited financial resources and the limited experience of our management
team in managing a company with such anticipated growth, we may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our operations or
recruit and train additional qualified personnel.
We currently rely, and for the foreseeable future will continue to rely, in substantial part on certain independent organizations, advisors and
consultants to provide certain services, including substantially all aspects of regulatory approval, clinical trial management and
manufacturing. There can be no assurance that the services of independent organizations, advisors and consultants will continue to be
available to us on a timely basis when needed, or that we can find qualified replacements. In addition, if we are unable to effectively manage
our outsourced activities or if the quality or accuracy of the services provided by consultants is compromised for any reason, our clinical trials
may be extended, delayed or terminated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval of our product candidates or otherwise
advance our business. There can be no assurance that we will be able to manage our existing consultants or find other competent outside
contractors and consultants on economically reasonable terms, or at all.
If we are not able to effectively expand our organization by hiring new employees and expanding our groups of consultants and contractors,
we may not be able to successfully implement the tasks necessary to further develop and commercialize our current product candidates or
any future product candidates and, accordingly, may not achieve our research, development and commercialization goals.
We are highly dependent on our key personnel, and if we are not successful in attracting and retaining highly qualified personnel,
we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy.
We are highly dependent on the services of our founder, Michel Detheux, Ph.D., who serves as our Chief Executive Officer and
President. Although we have entered into an employment agreement with him, it is not for a specific term and he may terminate his
employment with us at any time, though we are not aware of any present intention of him to leave us. We do not maintain “key person”
insurance for Dr. Detheux or any of our other executives or employees.
Dr. Detheux has significant experience identifying and developing drugs and biopharmaceuticals. We believe that his drug discovery and
development experience, and overall biopharmaceutical company management experience, would be difficult to replace. However, the
historical results, past performance and/or acquisitions of companies with which they were affiliated do not necessarily predict or guarantee
similar results for our company.
Our industry has experienced a high rate of turnover in recent years. Our ability to compete in the highly competitive biopharmaceuticals
industry depends upon our ability to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled and experienced personnel with scientific, medical, regulatory,
manufacturing and management skills and experience. Although we conduct our research and development in Belgium, our headquarters
with management is located, and we plan on expanding our clinical development activities, in the Boston area, a region that is home to many
other biopharmaceutical companies as well as many academic and research institutions, resulting in fierce competition for qualified
personnel. We may not be able to attract or retain qualified personnel in the future due to the intense competition for a limited number of
qualified personnel among biopharmaceutical companies. Many of the other biopharmaceutical companies against which we compete have
greater financial and other resources, different risk profiles and a longer history in the industry than we do.
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Our competitors may provide higher compensation, more diverse opportunities and/or better opportunities for career advancement. In
addition, we rely on consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating our development and
commercialization strategy. Our consultants and advisors may be employed by employers other than us and may have commitments under
consulting or advisory contracts with other entities that may limit their availability to us. Any or all of these competing factors may limit our
ability to continue to attract and retain high quality personnel, which could negatively affect our ability to successfully develop and
commercialize our current product candidates or any future product candidates and to grow our business and operations as currently
contemplated.
Our employees, clinical trial investigators, CROs, consultants, vendors and any potential commercial partners may engage in
misconduct or other improper activities, including non-compliance with regulatory standards and requirements and insider
trading.
We are exposed to the risk of fraud or other misconduct by our employees, clinical trial investigators, CROs, consultants, vendors and any
potential commercial partners. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct or disclosure of
unauthorized activities to us that violates: (i) FDA laws and regulations or those of comparable foreign regulatory authorities, including those
laws that require the reporting of true, complete and accurate information, (ii) manufacturing standards, (iii) federal and state health and data
privacy, security, fraud and abuse, government price reporting, transparency reporting requirements, and other healthcare laws and
regulations in the United States and abroad, or (iv) laws that require the true, complete and accurate reporting of financial information or
data. Such misconduct could also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result in
regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our reputation. We have adopted a code of conduct applicable to all of our employees, as
well as a disclosure program and other applicable policies and procedures, but it is not always possible to identify and deter employee
misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks
or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with these laws
or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those
actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions.
Risks related to business disruptions and global operations
We may be unable to adequately protect our information systems from cyberattacks, which could result in the disclosure of
confidential or proprietary information, including personal data, damage our reputation, and subject us to significant financial and
legal exposure.
We rely on information technology systems that we or our third-party providers operate to process, transmit and store electronic information
in our day-to-day operations. In connection with our product discovery efforts, we may collect and use a variety of personal data, such as
names, mailing addresses, email addresses, phone numbers and clinical trial information. A successful cyberattack could result in the theft or
destruction of intellectual property, data, or other misappropriation of assets, or otherwise compromise our confidential or proprietary
information and disrupt our operations. Cyberattacks are increasing in their frequency, sophistication and intensity, and have become
increasingly difficult to detect. Cyberattacks could include wrongful conduct by hostile foreign governments, industrial espionage, wire fraud
and other forms of cyber fraud, the deployment of harmful malware, denial-of-service, social engineering fraud or other means to threaten
data security, confidentiality, integrity and availability. A successful cyberattack could cause serious negative consequences for us, including,
without limitation, the disruption of operations, the misappropriation of confidential business information, including financial information, trade
secrets, financial loss and the disclosure of corporate strategic plans. Although we devote resources to protect our information systems, we
realize that cyberattacks are a threat, and there can be no assurance that our efforts will prevent information security breaches that would
result in business, legal, financial or reputational harm to us, or would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and
financial condition. Any failure to prevent or mitigate security breaches or improper access to, use of, or disclosure of our clinical data or
patients’ personal data could result in significant liability under state (e.g., state breach notification laws), federal (e.g., HIPAA, as amended
by HITECH), and international law (e.g., the General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR) and may cause a material adverse impact to our
reputation, affect our ability to conduct new studies and potentially disrupt our business.
We rely on our third-party providers to implement effective security measures and identify and correct for any such failures, deficiencies or
breaches. If we or our third-party providers fail to maintain or protect our information technology systems and data integrity effectively or fail
to anticipate, plan for or manage significant disruptions to our information technology systems, we or our third-party providers could have
difficulty preventing, detecting and controlling such cyber-attacks and any such attacks could result in the losses described above as well as
disputes with physicians, patients and our partners, regulatory sanctions or penalties, increases in operating expenses, expenses or lost
revenues or other
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adverse consequences, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition,
prospects and cash flows. Any failure by such third parties to prevent or mitigate security breaches or improper access to or disclosure of
such information could have similarly adverse consequences for us. If we are unable to prevent or mitigate the impact of such security or
data privacy breaches, we could be exposed to litigation and governmental investigations, which could lead to a potential disruption to our
business. By way of example, the California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, which went into effect on January 1, 2020, creates individual
privacy rights for California consumers and increases the privacy and security obligations of entities handling certain personal data. The
CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for data breaches that is expected to increase data breach
litigation. In March 2020, the California State Attorney General has proposed varying versions of companion draft regulations which are not
yet finalized. Despite the delay in adopting regulations, the California State Attorney General has commenced enforcement actions against
violators beginning July 1, 2020. Further, a new California privacy law, the California Privacy Rights Act, or CPRA, was passed by California
voters on November 3, 2020. The CPRA will create additional obligations with respect to processing and storing personal information that are
scheduled to take effect on January 1, 2023 (with certain provisions having retroactive effect to January 1, 2022). We will continue to monitor
developments related to the CPRA and anticipate additional costs and expenses associated with CPRA compliance. Other U.S. states also
are considering omnibus privacy legislation and industry organizations regularly adopt and advocate for new standards in these areas. While
the CCPA and CPRA contain an exception for certain activities involving PHI under HIPAA, we cannot yet determine the impact the CCPA,
CPRA or other such future laws, regulations and standards may have on our business. By way of example regarding foreign laws and
regulations with respect to data privacy and security, the GDPR went into effect in the EU in May 2018 and introduces strict requirements for
processing the personal data of EU data subjects. Companies that must comply with the GDPR face increased compliance obligations and
risk, including more robust regulatory enforcement of data protection requirements and potential fines for noncompliance of up to €20 million
or 4% of the annual global revenues of the noncompliant company, whichever is greater.
If we or third-party CMOs, CROs or other contractors or consultants fail to comply with U.S. and international data protection laws and
regulations, it could result in government enforcement actions (which could include civil or criminal penalties), private litigation, and/or
adverse publicity and could negatively affect our operating results and business. Moreover, clinical trial subjects about whom we or our
potential collaborators obtain information, as well as the providers who share this information with us, may contractually limit our ability to use
and disclose the information. Claims that we have violated individuals’ privacy rights, failed to comply with data protection laws, or breached
our contractual obligations, even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and time-consuming to defend and could result in adverse
publicity that could harm our business.
Unfavorable global economic and trade conditions could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of
operations.
Our current operations are located in Belgium, while our headquarters with management is located in Massachusetts. Any unplanned event,
such as flood, fire, explosion, earthquake, extreme weather condition, medical epidemics, including any potential effects from the current
global spread of COVID-19, power shortage, telecommunication failure or other natural or man-made accidents or incidents that result in us
being unable to fully utilize our facilities, or the manufacturing facilities of our third-party CMOs, may have a material and adverse effect on
our ability to operate our business, particularly on a daily basis, and have significant negative consequences on our financial and operating
conditions. Loss of access to these facilities may result in increased costs, delays in the development of our product candidates or
interruption of our business operations. Natural disasters or pandemics such as the COVID-19 outbreak could further disrupt our operations,
and have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. For example, we have
instituted a temporary work from home policy for non-essential office personnel and it is possible that this could have a negative impact on
the execution of our business plans and operations. If a natural disaster, power outage or other event occurred that prevented us from using
all or a significant portion of our headquarters, that damaged critical infrastructure, such as our research facilities or the manufacturing
facilities of our third-party CMOs, or that otherwise disrupted operations, it may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible, for us to continue
our business for a substantial period of time. The disaster recovery and business continuity plans we have in place may prove inadequate in
the event of a serious disaster or similar event. We may incur substantial expenses as a result of the limited nature of our disaster recovery
and business continuity plans, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. As part of our risk management policy, we
maintain insurance coverage at levels that we believe are appropriate for our business. However, in the event of an accident or incident at
these facilities, we cannot assure our investors that the amounts of insurance will be sufficient to satisfy any damages and losses. If our
facilities or the manufacturing facilities of our third-party CMOs are unable to operate because of an accident or incident or for any other
reason, even for a short period of time, any or all of our research and development programs may be harmed. Any business interruption may
have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
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and prospects. Our results of operations could be adversely affected by general conditions in the global economy and in the global financial
markets and global trade. We conduct, and we expect to continue to conduct, portions of our clinical trials outside the United States, and
unfavorable economic conditions resulting in the weakening of the U.S. dollar would make those clinical trials more costly to operate.
Furthermore, the most recent global financial crisis caused extreme volatility and disruptions in the capital and credit markets. A severe or
prolonged economic downturn could result in a variety of risks to our business, including a reduced ability to raise additional capital when
needed on acceptable terms, if at all. A weak or declining economy could also strain our suppliers, possibly resulting in supply disruption. In
addition, proposed tariffs by the Trump administration have included a 25% tariff on raw ingredients for pharmaceuticals, such as the active
pharmaceutical ingredients for our proposed product candidates. Furthermore, EOS-448 and precursors of inupadenant are produced in
China, and may be subject to governmental controls, trade restrictions and tariffs. Any of the foregoing could harm our business and we
cannot anticipate all of the ways in which the current economic climate and financial market conditions could adversely impact our business.
A portion of our manufacturing of our lead product candidates takes place in China through third-party manufacturers. A
significant disruption in the operation of those manufacturers, a trade war or political unrest in China could materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We currently contract manufacturing operations to third parties, and clinical quantities of our lead product candidates inupadenant and EOS448 are manufactured by these third parties outside the United States, including in China, and we expect to continue to use such third-party
manufacturers for such product candidates. Any disruption in production or inability of our manufacturers in China to produce adequate
quantities to meet our needs, whether as a result of a natural disaster, the COVID-19 pandemic or other causes, could impair our ability to
operate our business on a day-to-day basis and to continue our development of our product candidates. Furthermore, since these
manufacturers are located in China, we are exposed to the possibility of product supply disruption and increased costs in the event of
changes in the policies of the United States or Chinese governments, political unrest or unstable economic conditions in China. For example,
a trade war could lead to tariffs on the chemical intermediates we use that are manufactured in China. Any of these matters could materially
and adversely affect our business and results of operations. Any recall of the manufacturing lots or similar action regarding our product
candidates used in clinical trials could delay the trials or detract from the integrity of the trial data and its potential use in future regulatory
filings. In addition, manufacturing interruptions or failure to comply with regulatory requirements by any of these manufacturers could
significantly delay clinical development of potential products and reduce third-party or clinical researcher interest and support of proposed
trials. These interruptions or failures could also impede commercialization of our product candidates and impair our competitive position.
Further, we may be exposed to fluctuations in the value of the local currency in China. Future appreciation of the local currency could
increase our costs. In addition, our labor costs could continue to rise as wage rates increase due to increased demand for skilled laborers
and the availability of skilled labor declines in China.
Our future growth may depend, in part, on our ability to operate in foreign markets, where we would be subject to additional
regulatory burdens and other risks and uncertainties.
Our future profitability may depend, in part, on our ability to commercialize our current product candidates or any future product candidates in
foreign markets for which we may rely on collaboration with third parties. We are not permitted to market or promote any of our current
product candidates or any future product candidates before we receive marketing approval from the applicable regulatory authority in that
foreign market, and we may never receive such marketing approval for any of our current product candidates or any future product
candidates. To obtain marketing approval in many foreign countries, we must comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of
such countries regarding safety and efficacy and governing, among other things, clinical trials and commercial sales, pricing and distribution
of our current product candidates or any future product candidates, and we cannot predict success in these jurisdictions. If we obtain
approval of our current product candidates or any future product candidates and ultimately commercialize our current product candidates or
any future product candidates in foreign markets, we would be subject to additional risks and uncertainties, including:
•

differing payor reimbursement regimes, governmental payors or patient self-pay systems and price controls;

•

our customers’ ability to obtain reimbursement for our current product candidates or any future product candidates in foreign markets;

•

our inability to directly control commercial activities because we are relying on third parties;

•

the burden of complying with complex and changing foreign regulatory, tax, accounting and legal requirements;

•

different medical practices and customs in foreign countries affecting acceptance in the marketplace;
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•

import or export licensing requirements;

•

longer accounts receivable collection times;

•

longer lead times for shipping;

•

language barriers for technical training;

•

reduced protection of intellectual property rights in some foreign countries;

•

the existence of additional potentially relevant third-party intellectual property rights;

•

foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; and

•

the interpretation of contractual provisions governed by foreign laws in the event of a contract dispute.

Foreign sales of our current product candidates or any future product candidates could also be adversely affected by the imposition of
governmental controls, political and economic instability, trade restrictions and changes in tariffs.
The United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union may have a negative effect on global economic conditions, financial
markets and our business.
Following the result of a referendum in 2016, the United Kingdom left the European Union on January 31, 2020, commonly referred to as
Brexit. Pursuant to the formal withdrawal arrangements agreed to by the United Kingdom and the European Union, the United Kingdom was
subject to a transition period until December 31, 2020, or the Transition Period, during which European Union rules and legislation continued
to apply in the United Kingdom. The United Kingdom and the European Union have signed a EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement, or
TCA, which became provisionally applicable on January 1, 2021 and will become formally applicable once ratified by both the United
Kingdom and the European Union. This agreement provides details on how some aspects of the United Kingdom and the European Union’s
relationship will operate going forwards, however there are still many uncertainties.
Since a significant proportion of the regulatory framework in the United Kingdom applicable to our business and our product candidates is
derived from European Union Directives and Regulations, Brexit, following the Transition Period, could materially impact the regulatory
regime with respect to the development, manufacture, importation, approval and commercialization of our product candidates in the United
Kingdom or the European Union. For example, now that the Transition Period is over, Great Britain is no longer covered by the centralized
procedures for obtaining European Union-wide marketing and manufacturing authorizations from the EMA (centralized marketing
authorizations will continue to be valid in Northern Ireland under the Northern Ireland Protocol) and a separate process for authorization of
drug products will be required in Great Britain. For a period of two years from January 1, 2021, the MHRA may rely on a decision taken by
the European Commission on the approval of a new marketing authorization in the centralized procedure, in order to more quickly grant a UK
marketing authorization. A separate application will, however, still be required. The MHRA has published a series of guidance notes on how
the process for authorization of medicines will now work, however exactly what implications this will have in practice remain unclear. Any
delay in obtaining, or an inability to obtain, any marketing approvals, as a result of Brexit or otherwise, would prevent us from
commercializing our product candidates in the United Kingdom or the European Union and limit our ability to generate revenue and achieve
and sustain profitability. In addition, we may be required to pay taxes or duties or be subjected to other hurdles in connection with the
importation of our product candidates into the European Union, or we may incur expenses in establishing a manufacturing facility in the
European Union in order to circumvent such hurdles. If any of these outcomes occur, we may be forced to restrict or delay efforts to seek
regulatory approval in the United Kingdom or the European Union for our product candidates, or incur significant additional expenses to
operate our business, which could significantly and materially harm or delay our ability to generate revenues or achieve profitability of our
business. Any further changes in international trade, tariff and import/export regulations as a result of Brexit or otherwise may impose
unexpected duty costs or other non-tariff barriers on us. These developments, or the perception that any of them could occur, may
significantly reduce global trade and, in particular, trade between the impacted nations and the United Kingdom. It is also possible that Brexit
may negatively affect our ability to attract and retain employees, particularly those from the European Union.
We may be exposed to significant foreign exchange risk.
We incur portions of our expenses, and may in the future derive revenues, in a variety of currencies. As a result, we are exposed to foreign
currency exchange risk as our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.
Fluctuations in currency exchange rates have had, and will continue to have, an impact on our results as expressed in U.S. dollars. We
currently do not engage in hedging transactions to protect against uncertainty in future exchange rates between particular foreign currencies
and the euro. We cannot predict the impact of
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foreign currency fluctuations, and foreign currency fluctuations in the future may adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.
Risks related to taxation
U.S. federal income tax reform could adversely affect our business and financial condition.
The rules dealing with U.S. federal, state, and local income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative
process and by the Internal Revenue Service and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to tax laws (which changes may have retroactive
application) could adversely affect us or holders of our common stock. In recent years, many such changes have been made and changes
are likely to continue to occur in the future. For example, on March 27, 2020, President Trump signed into law the CARES Act, which
included certain changes in tax law intended to stimulate the U.S. economy in light of the COVID-19 coronavirus outbreak, including
temporary beneficial changes to the treatment of net operating losses, interest deductibility limitations and payroll tax matters. Additionally, on
December 22, 2017, President Trump signed into law the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or the TCJA, which significantly reformed the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The TCJA, among other things, contains significant changes to corporate and individual taxation, some
of which could adversely impact an investment in our common stock. Future changes in tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our
business, cash flow, financial condition or results of operations. We urge investors to consult with their legal and tax advisers regarding the
implications of potential changes in tax laws on an investment in our common stock.
Our ability to use our U.S. net operating loss carryforwards and certain other U.S. tax attributes may be limited.
We have incurred substantial losses during our history and do not expect to become profitable in the near future, and we may never achieve
profitability. U.S. federal net operating losses generated after December 31, 2017, the TCJA, as modified by the CARES Act, will not expire
and may be carried forward indefinitely, and generally may not be carried back to prior taxable years, except that, under the CARES Act, net
operating losses generated in 2018, 2019 and 2020 may be carried back five taxable years. Additionally, for taxable years beginning after
December 31, 2020, the deductibility of such U.S. federal net operating losses is limited to 80% of our taxable income in any future taxable
year. In addition, both our current and our future unused losses may be subject to limitation under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (IRC), if we undergo an “ownership change,” generally defined as a greater than 50 percentage point
change (by value) in its equity ownership by certain stockholders over a three-year period. We may have experienced such ownership
changes in the past, and we may experience ownership changes in the future as a result of subsequent shifts in our stock ownership, some
of which are outside the Company’s control. As of December 31, 2020, we had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of $29.2 million,
and our ability to utilize those net operating loss carryforwards could be limited by an “ownership change” as described above, which could
result in increased tax liability to the Company.
We are exposed to unanticipated changes in Belgian tax laws and regulations, as well as to adjustments to our Belgian tax
provisions, exposure to additional tax liabilities in Belgium, or forfeiture of our Belgian tax assets.
The determination in Belgium of our provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires significant judgment, including the adoption of
certain accounting policies and our determination of whether our deferred tax assets are, and will remain, tax effective. We cannot guarantee
that our interpretation or application of accounting policies will not be questioned by the relevant tax authorities, or that the relevant tax laws
and regulations, or the interpretation thereof, including through tax rulings, by the relevant tax authorities, will not be subject to change. Any
adverse outcome of such a review or change may lead to adjustments in the amounts recorded in our financial statements, and could have a
materially adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.
We are subject to laws and regulations on tax levies and other charges or contributions in different countries, including transfer pricing and
tax regulations for the compensation of personnel and third parties. Dealings between current and former group companies as well as
additional companies that may form part of our group in the future are subject to transfer pricing regulations, which may be subject to change
and could affect us.
Our effective tax rates in Belgium could be adversely affected by changes in tax laws, treaties and regulations, both internationally and
domestically, or the interpretation thereof by the relevant tax authorities, including changes to the innovation income deduction, possible
changes to the corporate income tax base, wage withholding tax incentive for qualified research and development personnel in Belgium and
other tax incentives and the implementation of new tax incentives. An increase of the effective Belgian tax rates could have an adverse effect
on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
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If we are unable to use Belgian tax loss carryforwards to reduce future taxable income or benefit from the favorable Belgian tax
legislation, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.
At December 31, 2020, we had cumulative carry forward tax losses of €56.7 million in Belgium. Under the current legislation these are
available to carry forward and offset against future taxable income for an indefinite period in Belgium. If we are unable to use tax loss
carryforwards to reduce future taxable income, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected. As a
company active in research and development in Belgium we have benefited from certain research and development incentives including, for
example, the Belgian research and development tax credit. This tax credit can be offset against the Belgian corporate income tax due. The
excess portion may be refunded as from the end of a five-year fiscal period. The research and development incentive is calculated based on
the amount of eligible research and development expenditure. The Belgian tax authorities may audit each research and development
program in respect of which a tax credit has been claimed and assess whether it qualifies for the tax credit regime. The tax authorities may
challenge our eligibility for, or our calculation of, certain tax reductions and/or deductions in respect of our research and development
activities and, should the Belgian tax authorities be successful, we may be liable for additional corporate income tax, and penalties and
interest related thereto, which could have a significant impact on our results of operations and future cash flows. Furthermore, if the Belgian
government decides to eliminate, or reduce the scope or the rate of, the research and development incentive benefit, either of which it could
decide to do at any time, our results of operations could be adversely affected.
As a company active in research and development in Belgium, we also expect to benefit from the innovation income deduction, or IID, in
Belgium. The IID regime allows net profits attributable to revenue from patented products (or products for which the patent application is
pending), among other things, be taxed at a lower rate than other revenues, 3.75% as of January 1, 2020.
Our inability to qualify for the abovementioned advantageous tax regimes, as well as the application of the minimum taxable base, may
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Risks related to government grants
We are subject to certain covenants as a result of certain non-dilutive financial support we have received to date.
We have been awarded grants from the Walloon Region, a federal region of Belgium, or the Walloon Region, and the European Union to
fund research and development activities. Several of the grants include no obligation to repay the amount received under the grants. We own
the intellectual property rights that result from the research programs or with regard to a patent covered by these grants. Subject to certain
exceptions, however, we cannot grant to third parties, by way of license, transfer or otherwise, any right to use the patents or research results
without the prior consent of the Walloon Region. In addition, certain grants require that we exploit the patent in the countries where the
protection was granted and to make an industrial use of the underlying invention. In case of bankruptcy, liquidation or dissolution, the rights to
the patents covered by the patent grants will be assumed by the Walloon Region by operation of law unless the grants are reimbursed.
Furthermore, we would lose our qualification as a small or medium-sized enterprise, the grants subsidies would terminate and no additional
expenses would be covered by such patent grants.
Two of the grants, which are referred to as recoverable cash advance grants, or RCAs, include a potential obligation to repay the amount
received under the grants. Under the RCAs, the Walloon Region will provide us with up to €22.4 million for our research and development
programs for EOS-448 and inupadenant. During the three months ended March 31, 2021, we received no cash under the EOS-448 grant
and inupadenant grant.
We must repay 30% of the amount received under the grants unless we decide not to pursue commercial development or out licensing of the
drug candidate, apply for a waiver from the Walloon Region justifying our decision based upon the failure of the program, and return the
intellectual property to the Walloon Region. This is referred to as the fixed repayment. In addition, in the event that we receive revenue from
products or services related to the results of the program, we will have to pay to the Walloon Region a 0.33% royalty on revenue resulting
from the first RCA grant and a 0.12% royalty on revenue resulting from the second RCA grant. The maximum amount payable to the Walloon
Region under each grant, including the fixed repayment, the royalty on revenue, and the interest thereon, is twice the amount of funding
received.
Subject to certain exceptions, we cannot grant to third parties, by way of license or otherwise, any right to use the results without the prior
consent of the Walloon Region. We also need the consent of the Walloon Region to transfer an intellectual property right resulting from the
research programs or a transfer or license of a prototype or installation. Obtaining such consent from the Walloon Region could give rise to
their review of the applicable financial terms. The RCAs also contain provisions prohibiting us from conducting research within the scope of
the RCAs for any third parties.
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This prohibition is applicable beyond the research phase and decision phase and could restrict our ability to enter into research-related
collaboration or partnership agreements with respect to those programs.
Risks related to litigation
Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and could limit our commercialization of any
product candidates that we may develop.
We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our current product candidates or any future product candidates
in human clinical trials and will face an even greater risk if we commercially sell any products that we may develop. If we cannot successfully
defend ourselves against claims that our current product candidates, any future product candidates or products caused injuries, we could
incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:
•

delay or termination of clinical trials;

•

decreased demand for any product candidates or products that we may develop;

•

injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention;

•

withdrawal of clinical trial subjects;

•

initiation of investigations by regulators;

•

significant costs to defend the related litigation and diversion of management’s time and our resources;

•

substantial monetary awards to study subjects or patients;

•

product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;

•

loss of revenue; and

•

the inability to commercialize any products that we may develop.

Although we maintain product liability insurance coverage, it may not be adequate to cover all liabilities that we may incur. We anticipate that
we will need to increase our insurance coverage as our current product candidates or any future product candidates advance through clinical
trials and if we successfully commercialize any products. Insurance coverage is increasingly expensive. We may not be able to maintain
insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in an amount adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise.
We may be at an increased risk of securities class action litigation.
Historically, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of its securities.
This risk is especially relevant for us because biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies have experienced significant stock price volatility
in recent years. If we were to be sued, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which
could harm our business.
Risks related to ownership of our common stock
Risks related to volatility in the price of our common stock
We do not know whether an active, liquid and orderly trading market will develop for our common stock or what the market price of
our common stock will be and, as a result, it may be difficult for our stockholders to sell shares of our common stock.
Our IPO closed on July 28, 2020. Prior to our IPO, there was no public market for our common stock. Although shares of our common stock
are listed and trading on The Nasdaq Global Market, an active trading market for our shares may never develop or be sustained. Our
stockholders may not be able to sell shares quickly or at the market price if trading in shares of our common stock is not active. Further, an
inactive market may also impair our ability to raise capital by selling shares of our common stock and may impair our ability to enter into
strategic partnerships or acquire companies or products by using our shares of common stock as consideration.
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The trading price of our common stock may be volatile.
The trading price of our common stock is likely to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors,
some of which are beyond our control, including limited trading volume. In addition to the factors discussed in this “Risk factors” section,
these factors include:
•

the results of our ongoing, planned or any future preclinical studies, clinical trials or clinical development programs;

•

the commencement, enrollment, or results of clinical trials of our product candidates or any future clinical trials we may conduct, or
changes in the development status of our product candidates;

•

adverse results or delays in preclinical studies and clinical trials;

•

our decision to initiate a clinical trial, not to initiate a clinical trial, or to terminate an existing clinical trial;

•

any delay in our regulatory filings or any adverse regulatory decisions, including failure to receive regulatory approval of our product
candidates;

•

changes in laws or regulations applicable to our products, including but not limited to clinical trial requirements for approvals;

•

adverse developments concerning our manufacturers or our manufacturing plans;

•

our inability to obtain adequate product supply for any licensed product or inability to do so at acceptable prices;

•

our inability to establish collaborations if needed;

•

our failure to commercialize our product candidates;

•

additions or departures of key scientific or management personnel;

•

unanticipated serious safety concerns related to the use of our product candidates;

•

introduction of new products or services offered by us or our competitors;

•

announcements of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by us or our competitors;

•

changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems;

•

our ability to effectively manage our growth;

•

the size and growth of our initial cancer target markets;

•

our ability to successfully treat additional types of cancers or at different stages;

•

actual or anticipated variations in quarterly operating results;

•

our cash position;

•

our failure to meet the estimates and projections of the investment community or that we may otherwise provide to the public;

•

publication of research reports about us or our industry, or immunotherapy in particular, or positive or negative recommendations or
withdrawal of research coverage by securities analysts;

•

changes in the market valuations of similar companies;

•

overall performance of the equity markets;

•

sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders in the future;

•

trading volume of our common stock;

•

changes in accounting practices;

•

ineffectiveness of our internal controls;

•

disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to obtain patent
protection for our technologies;

•

significant lawsuits, including intellectual property or stockholder litigation;
71

•

general political and economic conditions; and

•

other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for biopharmaceutical companies in particular, have experienced extreme price and
volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of these companies, including very
recently in connection with the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, which has resulted in decreased stock prices for many companies
notwithstanding the lack of a fundamental change in their underlying business models or prospects. Broad market and industry factors,
including potentially worsening economic conditions and other adverse effects or developments relating to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic,
may negatively affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. In the past, securities class
action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities. This
type of litigation, if instituted, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which would harm
our business, operating results, or financial condition.
Raising additional capital and future issuances of our common stock or rights to purchase common stock, could result in
additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our
technologies or product candidate, and could cause our stock price to fall.
We expect that significant additional capital may be needed in the future to continue our planned operations, including conducting clinical
trials, expanded research and development activities, and costs associated with operating as a public company. To raise capital, we may sell
common stock, convertible securities, or other equity securities in one or more transactions, including through a combination of public and
private equity offerings, debt financings, strategic partnerships and alliances and licensing arrangements, at prices and in a manner we
determine from time to time. If we sell common stock, convertible securities, or other equity securities, investors may be materially diluted by
subsequent sales. Such sales may also result in material dilution to our existing stockholders, and new investors could gain rights,
preferences, and privileges senior to the holders of our common stock.
To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, our stockholder’s ownership interest will
be diluted, and the terms may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect our stockholder’s rights as a stockholder. The
incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased fixed payment obligations and could involve certain restrictive covenants, such as
limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire or license intellectual property rights and other operating
restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. If we raise additional funds through strategic partnerships and
alliances and licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies or product candidates,
or grant licenses on terms unfavorable to us.
We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock, so any returns will be limited to the value of our stock.
We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, operation, and expansion of our business and do not
anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. In addition, we may enter into agreements that prohibit us from
paying cash dividends without prior written consent from our contracting parties, or which other terms prohibiting or limiting the amount of
dividends that may be declared or paid on our common stock. Any return to stockholders will therefore be limited to the appreciation of their
stock, which may never occur.
Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert significant
influence over matters subject to stockholder approval.
Our executive officers, directors, and 5% stockholders beneficially owned approximately 59.20% of our outstanding voting stock as of March
31, 2021. These stockholders will have the ability to influence us through this ownership position. These stockholders may be able to
determine all matters requiring stockholder approval. For example, these stockholders may be able to control elections of directors,
amendments of our organizational documents, or approval of any merger, sale of assets, or other major corporate transaction. This may
prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that our stockholders may feel are in their best
interest.
Risks related our status as an “emerging growth company” and “smaller reporting company”
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We are an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company, and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to
emerging growth companies and smaller reporting companies may make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or JOBS Act, enacted in April 2012. For as
long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are
applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including not being required to comply with the auditor
attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, or Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure
obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding
nonbinding advisory votes on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.
We could be an emerging growth company for up to five years following 2020, the year in which we completed our IPO, although
circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) the last day of
the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of the closing of our IPO, (b) in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.07
billion or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which requires the market value of our common stock that is held by nonaffiliates to exceed $700 million as of the prior June 30th, and (2) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible
debt during the prior three-year period.
Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those
standards apply to private companies. We have elected to avail ourselves of this exemption from complying with new or revised accounting
standards and, therefore, will not be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not
emerging growth companies.
Even after we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company, we may still qualify as a “smaller reporting company,” which would allow us
to take advantage of many of the same exemptions from disclosure requirements, including regarding executive compensation in our periodic
reports and proxy statements. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we may rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common
stock and our stock price may be more volatile.
Risks related to growth
We incur significant increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is required to devote
substantial time to new compliance initiatives.
As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. We are subject
to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which requires, among other things, that we file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition. In
addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules subsequently adopted by the SEC and The Nasdaq Global Market to implement provisions
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, impose significant requirements on public companies, including requiring establishment and maintenance of
effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices. Further, in July 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, was enacted. There are significant corporate governance and executive
compensation related provisions in the Dodd-Frank Act that require the SEC to adopt additional rules and regulations in these areas, such as
“say on pay” and proxy access. Recent legislation permits emerging growth companies to implement many of these requirements over a
longer period and up to five years from our IPO. We intend to take advantage of this new legislation but cannot guarantee that we will not be
required to implement these requirements sooner than budgeted or planned and thereby incur unexpected expenses. Stockholder activism,
the current political environment, and the current high level of government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new
regulations and disclosure obligations, which may lead to additional compliance costs and impact the manner in which we operate our
business in ways we cannot currently anticipate.
We expect the rules and regulations applicable to public companies to substantially increase our legal and financial compliance costs and to
make some activities more time-consuming and costly. If these requirements divert the attention of our management and personnel from
other business concerns, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The
increased costs will decrease our net income or increase our net loss and may require us to reduce costs in other areas of our business or
increase the prices of our products or services. For example, we expect these rules and regulations to make it more difficult and more
expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance and we may be required to incur substantial costs to maintain the same or
similar coverage. We cannot predict or estimate the amount or timing of additional costs we may incur to respond to these
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requirements. The impact of these requirements could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our
board of directors, our board committees, or as executive officers.
We have broad discretion over the use of our cash and cash equivalents and may not use them effectively.
Our management has broad discretion to use our cash and cash equivalents to fund our operations and could spend these funds in ways
that do not improve our results of operations or enhance the value of our common stock. The failure by our management to apply these funds
effectively could result in financial losses that could have a material adverse effect on our business, cause the price of our common stock to
decline and delay the development of our product candidates. Pending our use to fund operations, we may invest our cash and cash
equivalents in a manner that does not produce income or that loses value.
Risks related to our charter and bylaws
Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documents and Delaware law could delay or prevent a change of control, which could
limit the market price of our common stock and may prevent or frustrate attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our
current management.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could delay, defer or prevent
a change of control of our company or changes in our board of directors that our stockholders might consider favorable. Some of these
provisions include:
•

a board of directors divided into three classes serving staggered three-year terms, such that not all members of the board will be
elected at one time;

•

a prohibition on stockholder action through written consent, which requires that all stockholder actions be taken at a meeting of our
stockholders;

•

a requirement that special meetings of stockholders be called only by a majority of the members of our board of directors then in office;

•

advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations for election to our board of directors;

•

a requirement that no member of our board of directors may be removed from office by our stockholders except for cause and, in
addition to any other vote required by law, upon the approval of not less than two-thirds of all outstanding shares of our voting stock
then entitled to vote in the election of directors;

•

a requirement of approval of not less than two-thirds of all outstanding shares of our voting stock and not less than two-thirds of the
outstanding shares of each class entitled to vote thereon as a class to amend specific provisions of our certificate of incorporation;

•

a requirement of approval of not less than two-thirds of all outstanding shares of our voting stock to amend any bylaws by stockholder
action; and

•

the authority of the board of directors to issue preferred stock on terms determined by the board of directors without stockholder
approval and which preferred stock may include rights superior to the rights of the holders of common stock.

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporate
Law, which may prohibit certain business combinations with stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. These
antitakeover provisions and other provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws
could make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirers to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate actions that are
opposed by the then-current board of directors and could also delay or impede a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest involving our
company. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors of their
choosing or cause us to take other corporate actions they desire. Any delay or prevention of a change of control transaction or changes in
our board of directors could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
Our amended and restated bylaws designate certain courts as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and
proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial
forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees.
Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for any state law claim for (i) any derivative action
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or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers, and
employees to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation
Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws or (iv) any action asserting a claim that is
governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in each case subject to the Court of Chancery having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable
parties named as defendants therein, or the Delaware Forum Provision. The Delaware Forum Provision will not apply to any causes of action
arising under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act. Our bylaws further provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an
alternative forum, the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts shall be the sole and exclusive forum for resolving any
complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, or the Federal Forum Provision, as our principle office is located in
Cambridge, Massachusetts. In addition, our amended and restated bylaws provide that any person or entity purchasing or otherwise
acquiring any interest in shares of our common stock is deemed to have notice of and consented to the foregoing provisions; provided,
however, that stockholders cannot and will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and
regulations thereunder.
We recognize that the Delaware Forum Provision and the Federal Forum Provision in our bylaws may impose additional litigation costs on
stockholders in pursuing any such claims, particularly if the stockholders do not reside in or near the State of Delaware or the Commonwealth
of Massachusetts. Additionally, the forum selection clauses in our amended and restated bylaws may limit our stockholders’ ability to bring a
claim in a forum that they find favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees, which may discourage such lawsuits
against us and our directors, officers and employees even though an action, if successful, might benefit our stockholders. In addition, while
the Delaware Supreme Court ruled in March 2020 that federal forum selection provisions purporting to require claims under the Securities
Act be brought in federal court were “facially valid” under Delaware law, there is uncertainty as to whether other courts will enforce our
Federal Forum Provision. If the Federal Forum Provision is found to be unenforceable, we may incur additional costs associated with
resolving such matters. The Federal Forum Provision may also impose additional litigation costs on stockholders who assert that the
provision is not enforceable or invalid. The Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the United States District Court for the District of
Massachusetts may also reach different judgments or results than would other courts, including courts where a stockholder considering an
action may be located or would otherwise choose to bring the action, and such judgments may be more or less favorable to us than our
stockholders.
Risks related to internal controls
If we fail to establish and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting, our operating results and our
ability to operate our business could be harmed.
Ensuring that we have adequate internal control over financial reporting in place so that we can produce accurate financial statements on a
timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort that needs to be re-evaluated frequently. Our internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. In connection with our IPO, we began the process of documenting, reviewing,
and improving our internal controls and procedures for compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which will require annual
management assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. We have begun recruiting additional finance and
accounting personnel with certain skill sets that we will need as a public company. If we are not able to comply with the requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely manner, or if we are unable to maintain proper and effective internal controls, we may not
be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements. If that were to happen, the market price of our stock could decline and we could
be subject to sanctions or investigations by the stock exchange on which our common stock is listed, the SEC or other regulatory authorities.
Implementing any appropriate changes to our internal controls may distract our officers and employees, entail substantial costs to modify our
existing processes, and take significant time to complete. These changes may not, however, be effective in maintaining the adequacy of our
internal controls, and any failure to maintain that adequacy, or consequent inability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely
basis, could increase our operating costs and harm our business. In addition, investors’ perceptions that our internal controls are inadequate
or that we are unable to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis may harm our stock price and make it more difficult for us to
effectively market and sell our service to new and existing customers.
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Risks related to market research
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate research or unfavorable research about our
business, the price of our common stock and trading volume could decline.
The trading market of our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or
our business. We do not have control over these analysts. There can be no assurance that analysts will continue to cover us, or provide
favorable coverage. If no or few securities or industry analysts cover our company, the trading price of our common stock would be
negatively impacted. If one or more of the analysts who covers us downgrades our common stock or publishes incorrect or unfavorable
research about our business, the price of our common stock would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our
company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, or downgrades our common stock, demand for our common stock could decrease, which
could cause the price of our common stock or trading volume to decline.
Special note regarding forward-looking statements
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains express or implied forward-looking statements that are based on our management’s belief and
assumptions and on information currently available to our management. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forwardlooking statements are reasonable, these statements relate to future events or our future operational or financial performance, and involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, but are not limited to, statements about:
•

the timing, progress and the success of our clinical trials of inupadenant and EOS-448 and any other product candidates, including
statements regarding the timing of initiation and completion of studies or trials and related preparatory work, the period during which
the results of the trials will become available and our research and development programs;

•

whether the results of our trials will be sufficient to support domestic or foreign regulatory approvals for inupadenant and EOS-448 or
any other product candidates we may develop;

•

regulatory actions with respect to our product candidates or our competitors’ products and product candidates;

•

our ability to obtain, including on an expedited basis, and maintain regulatory approval of inupadenant and EOS-448 or any other
product candidates we may develop;

•

the outcomes of our preclinical studies;

•

our ability to enroll patients in our clinical trials at the pace that we project;

•

our ability to establish clinical programs moving forward in multiple indications by 2021, with a rapidly advancing portfolio and
sustainable platform;

•

our ability to establish and conduct our clinical programs on our expected timelines;

•

the costs of development of any of our product candidates or clinical development programs;

•

our expectation about the period of time over which our existing capital resources will be sufficient to fund our operating expenses and
capital expenditures, and the degree to which such resources will enable us to fund our planned development of inupadenant and
EOS-448 and any other product candidates we may identify and pursue;

•

the potential attributes and clinical benefits of the use of inupadenant and EOS-448 or any other product candidate, if approved;

•

our ability to successfully commercialize inupadenant and EOS-448 or any other product candidates we may identify and pursue, if
approved;

•

our ability to successfully establish or maintain collaborations or strategic relationships for our product candidates;

•

the rate and degree of market acceptance of inupadenant and EOS-448 or any other product candidates we may identify and pursue;

•

our ability to obtain orphan drug or Breakthrough Therapy designation or other accelerated approval for any of our product candidates
we may identify;

•

our expectations regarding government and third-party payor coverage and reimbursement;
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•

our ability to manufacture inupadenant and EOS-448 or any other product candidate in conformity with the Food and Drug
Administration’s requirements and to scale up manufacturing of our product candidates to commercial scale, if approved;

•

our ability to successfully build a specialty sales force and commercial infrastructure;

•

our ability to compete with companies currently producing or engaged in the clinical development of treatments for the disease
indications that we pursue and treatment modalities that we develop;

•

our reliance on third parties to conduct our clinical trials;

•

our reliance on third-party CMOs to manufacture and supply our product candidates for us;

•

our ability to retain and recruit key personnel;

•

our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for inupadenant and EOS-448 or any other product candidates we may
identify and pursue;

•

our estimates of our expenses, ongoing losses, future revenue, capital requirements and our needs for or ability to obtain additional
financing;

•

our expectations regarding the time during which we will be an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act;

•

our financial performance;

•

the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic, including mitigation efforts and economic effects, on any of the foregoing or other aspects of our
business operations, including but not limited to our preclinical studies and future clinical trials;

•

the impact of laws and regulations; and

•

developments and projections relating to our competitors or our industry.

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “should,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,”
“anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. These
statements are only predictions. You should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements because they involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors, which are, in some cases, beyond our control and which could materially affect results.
Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations include, among other things, those listed under the section
titled “Risk factors” and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. If one or more of these risks or uncertainties occur, or if our
underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, actual events or results may vary significantly from those implied or projected by the forwardlooking statements. No forward-looking statement is a guaran
tee of future performance. You should read this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q and the documents that we reference in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and have filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission as exhibits to the registration statement, of which this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forms a part, completely and with the
understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from any future results expressed or implied by these forward-looking
statements.
The forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q represent our views as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q. We anticipate that subsequent events and developments will cause our views to change. However, while we may elect to update these
forward-looking statements at some point in the future, we have no current intention of doing so except to the extent required by applicable
law. You should therefore not rely on these forward-looking statements as representing our views as of any date subsequent to the date of
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q also contains estimates, projections and other information concerning our industry, our business and the
markets for our product candidates. Information that is based on estimates, forecasts, projections, market research or similar methodologies
is inherently subject to uncertainties and actual events or circumstances may differ materially from events and circumstances that are
assumed in this information. Unless otherwise expressly stated, we obtained this industry, business, market, and other data from our own
internal estimates and research as well as from reports, research surveys, studies, and similar data prepared by market research firms and
other third parties, industry, medical and general publications, government data and similar sources. While we are not aware of any
misstatements regarding any third-party information presented in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, their estimates, in particular, as they
relate to projections, involve numerous assumptions, are subject to risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various
factors, including those discussed under the section titled “Risk factors” and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
In July 2020, we issued to the CEO and directors options to purchase an aggregate of 1,151,680 shares of our common stock at an
exercise price of $19.00. In August 2020, we issued and sold to fifteen employees and consultants an aggregate of 104,592 shares of
common stock upon the exercise of stock options under our 2019 Stock Option and Grant Plan at an exercise price of $4.30. We deemed the
issuance of stock options and the common stock issuable upon exercise of such options to be exempt from registration under the Securities
Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) either in reliance on Rule 701 of the Securities Act as sales and offers under compensatory benefit plans
and contracts relating to compensation in compliance with Rule 701, or in reliance on Section 4(a)(2), as transactions by an issuer not
involving a public offering. All recipients either received adequate information about our company or had access, through employment or
other relationships, to such information. No underwriters were involved in the foregoing issuances of securities.
Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering of Common Stock
On July 28, 2020, we closed our initial public offering of 10,586,316 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $19.00
per share for an aggregate offering of $201.1 million. In addition, on August 5, 2020, we issued and sold an additional 1,505,359 shares of
common stock pursuant to the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares for aggregate gross proceeds of $28.6 million.
All shares issued and sold in the initial public offering were registered under the Securities Act pursuant to a Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-239415), which was declared effective by the SEC on July 23, 2020. J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, SVB Leerink LLC
and Piper Sandler & Co. acted as joint book-running managers and Wedbush Securities Inc. acted as lead manager for the initial public
offering.
We received aggregate gross proceeds from our initial public offering of approximately $229.7 million, or aggregate net proceeds of
approximately $210.6 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us. None
of the underwriting discounts and commissions or offering expenses were incurred or paid to directors or officers of ours or their associates
or to persons owning 10% or more of our common stock or to any affiliates of ours. As of June 30, 2020, we have not used any of the net
proceeds from the initial public offering.
We have not used any of the net proceeds from the offering to make payments, directly or indirectly, to any director or officer of ours,
or any of their associates, to any person owning 10 percent or more of our common stock or to any affiliate of ours. There has been no
material change in our planned use of the net proceeds from the offering as described in our final prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4)
under the Securities Act with the SEC on July 27, 2020.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
Not applicable.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information.
Not applicable.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39401) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 28,
2020)

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (File No. 001-39401) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 28, 2020)

4.1

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1/A (File No. 333-239415) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 20, 2020)

10.1

Third Amended and Restated Collaboration Agreement between iTeos Belgium SA and Adimab, LLC, dated February 22, 2021.

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1*+

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*
+

Filed herewith.
This certification will not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Such certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent specifically
incorporated by reference into such filing.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Company Name
Date: May 13, 2021

By: /s/ Michel Detheux
Michel Detheux
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal executive officer)

Date: May 13, 2021

By: /s/ Matthew Gall
Matthew Gall
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal financial and accounting officer)
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Exhibit 10.1
CERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTED AND REPLACED WITH “[***]”.
SUCH IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED FROM THIS EXHIBIT BECAUSE IT IS (I) NOT
MATERIAL AND (II) WOULD LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM TO THE COMPANY IF DISCLOSED.
THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED COLLABORATION AGREEMENT
THIS THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED COLLABORATION AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made effective as of February
22, 2021 (the “Third A&R Effective Date”), by and between Adimab, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company having an
address at 7 Lucent Drive, Lebanon, NH 03766 (“Adimab”), and iTeos Belgium S.A., having its registered offices at Rue des
Freres Wright, 29, B-6041 Gosselies Belgium (“iTeos”). This Agreement amends and restates the Second Amended and Restated
Collaboration Agreement dated July 23, 2018, as amended, between the Parties.
BACKGROUND
WHEREAS, Adimab is a leader in yeast-based, fully human antibody discovery and optimization using its proprietary
core technology platform;
WHEREAS, iTeos is a biotechnology company in the business of, among other things, developing and commercializing
therapeutic products;
WHEREAS, iTeos wishes to collaborate with Adimab on discovery and/or optimization of new antibodies against Targets
of iTeos’s choosing;
WHEREAS, iTeos will have the option to develop, manufacture and commercialize the resulting Program Antibodies in
accordance with the terms hereof:
WHEREAS, iTeos and Adimab have extended the Research Term for the Gal3 Research Program and the CD226
Research Program by letter amendments dated May 31, 2017, and November 22, 2017, and such letter amendments are now
obsolete by virtue of termination of the CD226 Research Program without having exercised an Option and further extension of
the Gal3 Research Program pursuant to this Agreement; and
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and the mutual covenants set forth below, and for other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, Adimab and iTeos hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS.
The following initially capitalized terms have the following meanings (and derivative forms of them shall be
interpreted accordingly):

1.1

“AAA” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.2(c)(i) (Arbitration).

1.2

“Adimab” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

1.3

“Adimab Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.2 (Indemnification by iTeos).

1.4
“Adimab Materials” means any tangible biological or chemical materials (including all vectors, antibodies
and other Know-How in the form of tangible biological or chemical materials) used or created by Adimab under a Research
Program, including quantities of Program Antibodies (and DNA encoding these Program Antibodies), but excluding from and
after the time of Option exercise for the relevant Target any quantities of Optioned Antibodies (and DNA encoding these
Optioned Antibodies) provided to iTeos for such Target.
1.5
“Adimab Platform Patents” means all Patents Adimab Controls during the term of this Agreement that
claim or Cover Adimab Platform Technology. (For clarity, Adimab Platform Patents exclude Program Antibody Patents.)
1.6
“Adimab Platform Technology” means all Know-How Controlled by Adimab (including via assignment
from iTeos under this Agreement) and its Affiliates and Adimab Platform Patents regarding (a) the discovery and optimization of
antibodies via methods that include the use of synthetic DNA antibody libraries and engineered strains of yeast and interrogating
repertoires generated through B-cell cloning, (b) all methods, materials and other Know-How used in the foregoing and (c)
platforms embodying, components, component steps and other portions of any of the foregoing in (a) or (b). For clarity, Adimab
Platform Technology excludes Program Antibodies but includes technology used in the discovery and optimization of any
Program Antibody, in each case not based on the specific composition of such Program Antibody (or product containing a
Program Antibody), but based instead on the manner in which such Program Antibody was discovered or optimized under a
Research Program.
1.7
“Adimab Platform Technology Improvement” means all Know-How developed or discovered through or
as a result of a Research Program, and all Program Inventions (and Patents claiming them) that constitute, Cover, claim or are
directed to Adimab Platform Technology, including any and all improvements, enhancements, modifications, substitutions,
alternatives or alterations to Adimab Platform Technology.
1.8
“Adimab Program Inventions” means all Program Inventions made solely by employees of, or others
obligated to assign Program Inventions to, Adimab.
1.9
“Affiliate” means an entity that, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is
controlled by or is under common control with a Party. For this purpose, “control” means the ownership of fifty percent (50%) or
more of the voting securities entitled to elect the directors or management of the entity, or the actual power to elect or direct the
management of the entity.
1.10

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.
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1.11
“Commercially Reasonable Efforts” means the level of efforts required to carry out a task in a diligent
and sustained manner without undue interruption, pause or delay; which level is at least commensurate with the level of efforts
that a similarly situated biopharmaceutical company would devote to a product of similar potential and having similar
commercial and scientific advantages and disadvantages resulting from the company’s own research efforts (i.e., explicitly
ignoring the royalty, milestone and other payments due to Adimab under this Agreement), taking into account safety and
efficacy; the competitiveness of alternative products; the proprietary position of the product; pricing and reimbursement; and all
other relevant commercial factors.
1.12
Obligations).

“Confidential Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(a) (General Confidentiality

1.13
“Controlled Contractor” means a Third Party that is hired by iTeos to perform research, development or
analytical work related to a Program-Benefited Antibody, wherein such Third Party has written obligations to (i) maintain all
Program Know-How and the results of such work in confidence, (ii) not use Program Know-How except to perform such work,
and (iii) assign to iTeos any ownership interest such Third Party may obtain in a Program-Benefited Antibody or a Program
Antibody Patent by virtue of performing such work; provided, however, that if such Controlled Contractor is an academic
institution, such academic institution (together with iTeos) may publish data generated during the performance of such work so
long as no sequence of a Program-Benefited Antibody is disclosed; and provided, further, however, that Third Party companies
that discover or optimize antibodies as a service (e.g., competitors of Adimab) cannot be Controlled Contractors hereunder.
1.14
“Combination Product” means a product containing an Optioned Antibody as well as one or more other
active therapeutic ingredient. Notwithstanding the foregoing, antibody drug conjugates shall be deemed not to be Combination
Products.
1.15
“Control” means, with respect to any Know-How or Patent, possession by a Party or any Affiliate (other
than any entity which on or after the Effective Date acquires, directly or indirectly, a majority of the voting capital stock of such
party and, prior to such acquisition, was not an Affiliate of such party), whether by ownership or license (other than pursuant to
this Agreement) of the ability to grant a license or sublicense as provided for in this Agreement without violating the terms of any
written agreement with any Third Party.
1.16
“Cover” means, with respect to a particular item and a particular Patent, that such Patent claims or covers,
in any of the countries of manufacture, use, and/or sale, (a) the composition of such item, or of any product containing such item
or that is made using such item by virtue of such product containing or being made using such item; and (b) a method of making
or using any of the things referred to in (a).
1.17

“Dispute” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.2(a) (Initial Dispute Resolution).

1.18

“Effective Date” means the original Effective Date of January 14, 2016.

1.19
“Evaluation Term” means, with respect to each Research Program, the time period beginning upon the
final delivery of antibody sequences for Program Antibodies for such Research
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Program (which delivery shall be accompanied by a notice from Adimab indicating that such delivery is “final” for purposes
hereof and shall only be delivered at the end of the applicable Research Term) and ending on the earliest to occur of (a) exercise
of the Option, (b) the commencement of IND-enabling toxicology studies by or on behalf of iTeos with respect to a Product
containing Program-Benefited Antibodies from such Research Program, and (c) [***] thereafter; provided, however, that the
Evaluation Term for the Gal3 Research Program shall end on [***].
1.20

“Excluded Technology” means technology (and the Patents that Cover such technology) related to:
(a)

product formulation;

(b)

manufacturing, purification, or production;

(c)
the sequence of, or any modification to, a Program Antibody (including Patents relating to
pegylation or other chemical modification) or sequences of antibodies against a Target;
(d)
technology used in activities performed by or on behalf of iTeos or its Licensees, including assays,
in vivo testing, and modifications to Program Antibodies;
(e)
any Target (including any antigen representation thereof), or any mechanism of action via
interaction with a Target, or antibodies based on their interaction with a Target, or their having been tested for their activity
against a Target in a biological assay, or other methods of using antibodies;

1.21

(f)

the use of iTeos Materials;

(g)

if other than an Immunoglobulin G (IgG), the construct of any Product; and

(h)

technology related to anything other than the manner in which Adimab discovered the antibody.

“Field” means therapeutic, prophylactic or diagnostic uses in human disease.

1.22
“First Commercial Sale” means, with respect to a Product in any country, the first sale, transfer or
disposition for value or for end use or consumption of such Product in such country after Marketing Approval for such Product
has been received in such country.
1.23
“Force Majeure” means conditions beyond a Party’s reasonable control or ability to plan for, including
acts of God, war, terrorism, civil commotion, labor strike or lock-out; epidemic; failure or default of public utilities or common
carriers; and destruction of facilities or materials by fire, earthquake, storm or like catastrophe; provided, however, the payment
of invoices due and owing under this Agreement shall not be excused by reason of a Force Majeure affecting the payor.
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1.24
“FTE” means the equivalent of a full-time employee’s working days over a twelve (12) month period
(taking account of normal vacations, sick days and holidays not being considered working days), which equates to a total of one
thousand eight hundred (1,800) hours per twelve (12) month period of work performed by a fully qualified Adimab employee or
consultant in a Research Program (or, with regard to Section 9.3, a fully qualified employee or consultant of iTeos or a Licensee
or any of their Affiliates). To provide an FTE over a given time period that is less than a year means to provide the proportionate
share (corresponding to the proportion that such time period bears to a full year) during such time period of a full year’s FTE.
1.25

“FTE Rate” means [***] per FTE.

1.26
“Generic Product” means, with respect to a given Product in a given country, any biological product that
(i) is sold by a Third Party that is not a Licensee or Affiliate of iTeos and without the consent of iTeos, under a marketing
approval granted by a regulatory authority to such Third Party; (ii) is highly similar to such Product, notwithstanding minor
differences in clinically inactive components; (iii) shows no clinically meaningful differences when compared to the Product, in
terms of safety, purity and potency and (iv) such generic product is approved in reliance on or with reference to a prior Marketing
Approval of such Product or an equivalent process for Marketing Approval in any country outside the United States, or any other
equivalent provision that comes into force, or is the subject of a notice with respect to such Product under 42 U.S.C. § 262(l)(2)
or any other equivalent provision that comes into force in such country. By way of example, in the United States this would
include a product that is submitted to U.S. Food and Drug Administration as a biosimilar via a Biologics License Application
under Section 262(k) of Title 42 of the United States Code, as may be amended from time to time, for which the Product is the
reference product.
1.27

“Indemnify” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1 (Indemnification by Adimab).

1.28

“iTeos” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

1.29

“iTeos Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1 (Indemnification by Adimab).

1.30
“iTeos Materials” means (a) any tangible biological or chemical materials (including antigen samples and
other Know-How in the form of tangible biological or chemical materials) provided by iTeos to Adimab under a Research
Program (other than commercial material purchased by iTeos and delivered to Adimab), and (b) from and after the time of the
Option exercise for a Target, the quantities of Optioned Antibody to such Target provided to iTeos by Adimab under this
Agreement.
1.31
“iTeos Program Inventions” means all Program Inventions made solely by employees of, or others
obligated to assign Program Inventions to, iTeos.
1.32
“Joint Inventions” means any and all Program Inventions made jointly by employees of, or others
obligated to assign Program Inventions to, each of Adimab and iTeos.
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1.33
“Joint Serendipitous Inventions” means all Joint Inventions other than those claimed by Program
Antibody Patents or constituting Adimab Platform Technology Improvements.
1.34
“Know-How” means all technical information and know-how, including (i) inventions, discoveries, trade
secrets, data, specifications, instructions, processes, formulae, materials (including cell lines, vectors, plasmids, nucleic acids and
the like), methods, protocols, expertise and any other technology, including the applicability of any of the foregoing to
formulations, compositions or products or to their manufacture, development, registration, use or marketing or to methods of
assaying or testing them or processes for their manufacture, formulations containing them or compositions incorporating or
comprising them, and (ii) all data, instructions, processes, formulae, strategies, and expertise, whether biological, chemical,
pharmacological, biochemical, toxicological, pharmaceutical, physical, analytical, or otherwise and whether related to safety,
quality control, manufacturing or other disciplines.
1.35
“Licensee” means a Third Party to whom iTeos has granted, directly or indirectly, rights to research,
develop, manufacture, and/or commercialize Program-Benefited Antibodies under a Licensee Agreement; provided, however,
that Licensees shall exclude fee-for-service contract research organizations or contract manufacturing organizations acting in
such capacity. For clarity, licensees of the rights assigned to iTeos by Adimab and sublicensees of the license granted by Adimab
to iTeos pursuant to Section 3.2 (Commercial Rights) under a Licensee Agreement shall be Licensees.
1.36

“Licensee Agreements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(b)(iii) (Licensees).

1.37

“Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1 (Indemnification by Adimab).

1.38
“Marketing Approval” means, within any given country, approval to market a Product legally as a drug or
biologic, including approval of a Biologic License Application (as defined in the U.S. Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetics Act and
the regulations promulgated thereunder (21 C.F.R. §§ 600-680) in the United States, or approval of a comparable filing in the
United States or any other jurisdiction. Pricing approval need not be obtained in order for Marketing Approval to be achieved.
1.39

“Milestone Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a) (Milestone Events).

1.40

“Milestone Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a) (Milestone Events).

1.41
“Naive Library” means an antibody library containing at least 109 transformants, containing both heavy
and light chains, and used in initial screening to discover antibodies of interest against a given Target.
1.42
“Net Sales” means the gross amounts invoiced for an Optioned Antibody or Product for use in the Field by
iTeos, its Affiliates and Licensees for sales or other commercial disposition of such Optioned Antibody or Product to a Third
Party purchaser, less the following:
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(a)
trade and quantity discounts (other than early pay cash discounts) actually allowed with respect to
such sales which effectively reduce the selling price and are appropriately deducted from sales under appropriate accounting
principles, consistently applied;
(b)

returns, rebates, chargebacks and other allowances actually allowed with respect to such sales;

(c)

retroactive price reductions that are actually allowed or granted;

(d)
deductions to the gross invoice price of Optioned Antibody or Product imposed by regulatory
authorities or other governmental entities;
(e)
sales (such as VAT or its equivalent) and excise taxes, other consumption taxes, and customs duties
(excluding any taxes paid on the income from such sales) except to the extent the selling person actually receives a credit or a
refund for such taxes or duties; and
(f)

bad debt, early payment cash discounts, transportation and insurance.

If any Optioned Antibody is sold as part of a Combination Product, the Net Sales for such Optioned Antibody shall be
determined by multiplying the applicable Net Sales of the Optioned Antibody (as determined without the application of this
paragraph) by the fraction, A/(A+B), where A is the average per unit sale price of the Optioned Antibody component of the
Combination Product when sold separately as a stand-alone product in finished form in the country in which the Combination
Product is sold and B is the average per unit sale of the other active ingredients contained in the Combination Product when sold
separately as stand-alone products in finished form in the country in which the Combination Product is sold, in each case during
the applicable royalty reporting period or, if sales of such stand-alone products did not occur in such country in the applicable
period, then in the most recent royalty reporting period in which such sales of such stand-alone products occurred in such
country. If such average sale prices cannot be determined, Net Sales shall be mutually agreed upon by the Parties based on the
relative value contributed by each component, such agreement not to be unreasonably withheld.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in the event that iTeos and/or any Affiliate enters into a
Licensee Agreement for the sales or other commercial disposition of Optioned Antibodies or Programs, for which iTeos and/or its
Affiliates will be compensated on a net sales basis, then the definition of “Net Sales” used herein shall be substituted and
replaced with the definition of net sales in such Licensee Agreement.
1.43
Effective Date.

“New Product” means a Product derived from a Research Program which began after the Third A&R

1.44
“Non-Optioned Antibodies” means any Program Antibody with respect to which the Evaluation Term has
expired and which was not selected by iTeos pursuant to Section 3.2(a) (Option), and any Program-Benefited Antibody (other
than an Optioned Antibody) generated from such Program Antibody.
1.45

“Option” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a) (Option).
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1.46

“Option Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3 (Option Fee).

1.47
“Optioned Antibody” means any Program Antibody selected by iTeos pursuant to Section 3.2(a) (Option),
and any Program-Benefited Antibody generated from such Program Antibody.
1.48
“Optioned Program Antibody Patents” means those Program Antibody Patents that solely Cover
Optioned Antibodies and do not Cover Non-Optioned Antibodies.
1.49
“Original Product” means a Product derived from a Research Program which began before the Third
A&R Effective Date.
1.50

“Party” means Adimab or iTeos.

1.51
“Patent” means any patent application or patent anywhere in the world, including all of the following
categories of patents and patent applications, and their foreign equivalents: provisional, utility, divisional, continuation,
continuation-in-part, and substitution applications; and utility, re-issue, re-examination, renewal and extended patents, and patents
of addition, and any Supplementary Protection Certificates, restoration of patent terms and other similar rights.
1.52
“Phase I Trial” means a human clinical trial (whether a phase la or a phase lb trial) in any country of the
type described in 21 C.F.R. §312.21(a), or an equivalent clinical study required by a Regulatory Authority outside of the United
States.
1.53
“Phase II Trial” means a human clinical trial conducted in any country of the type described in 21 C.F.R.
§312.21(b), or an equivalent clinical study required by a Regulatory Authority outside of the United States.
1.54
“Phase III Trial” means a human clinical trial in any country of the type described in 21 C.F.R. §
312.21(c), or an equivalent clinical study required by a Regulatory Authority outside the United States. For purposes of this
Agreement, a human clinical trial that combines elements of a Phase II Trial and a Phase III Trial (a Phase II/III trial) shall be
deemed a Phase III Trial.
1.55
“Product” means any actual or potential product (including formulation) that comprises or contains one or
more Optioned Antibodies (whether or not such product is currently under evaluation for safety, efficacy, or other factors).
1.56
“Program Antibody” means each antibody that has the same sequence of any antibody generated from use
of the Adimab Platform Technology and delivered by Adimab to iTeos under a Research Program. It is understood and agreed
that even if Adimab delivers nucleic acid sequences or amino acid sequences to iTeos instead of protein samples, antibodies
encoded by such nucleic acid sequences or amino acid sequences are Program Antibodies, in addition to antibodies samples of
which are physically delivered to iTeos under this Agreement.
1.57
“Program Antibody Patents” means, for each Target, Patents that (a) Cover a Program-Benefited
Antibody or any Product and (b) do not Cover Adimab Platform Technology or Adimab Platform Technology Improvements.
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1.58
“Program-Benefited Antibody” means any Program Antibody and any modified or derivative form of any
such Program Antibody (including an scFv) created by or on behalf of iTeos or its Licensees, including any fragment of,
pegylated version of (whether or not including amino acid changes) of a Program Antibody and including chemically modified
versions (including associated amino acid substitutions) of a Program Antibody, and including an antibody designed or derived
using the sequence of any Program Antibody or the nucleic acid coding for it.
1.59
“Program Inventions” means, for each Target, any invention that is conceived and/or first reduced to
practice in the course of or as a result of the activities conducted under this Agreement (including in exercise of a license under
this Agreement) or as a result of the use of Confidential Information exchanged hereunder. For clarity, Program Inventions
include all Know-how made, developed, invented or discovered by employees, contractors or agents of either Party or of both
Parties pursuant to this Agreement.
1.60

“Program Patent” means, for each Target, any Patent Covering a Program Invention.

1.61

“Research Committee” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a) (Scientific Research Committee).

1.62
“Research Plan” means the research plan to be agreed upon by the Parties with respect to a Target in
accordance with Section 2.1(a) (Research Plans) hereof.
1.63
a Research Plan.

“Research Program” means each program of research conducted under this Agreement in accordance with

1.64
“Research Term” means the period beginning on the Effective Date and ending, on a Research Programby-Research Program basis, when Adimab delivers to iTeos final antibodies under a Research Plan; provided, however, that in no
event will a Research Term for a particular Research Program exceed one year following the date the applicable Research Plan is
agreed to by the Parties with respect to a Target in accordance with Section 2.1(a) (Research Plans) hereof.
1.65

“Royalty Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.5(a) (Royalty Payments).

1.66
“Royalty Term” means, on a Product-by-Product and country-by-country basis, the term ending at the later
of (i) ten (10) years after the First Commercial Sale of such Product in such country and (ii) the expiration of the last Program
Patent Covering such Product.
1.67

“Senior Executive Discussions” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.2(a) (Initial Dispute Resolution).

1.68

“Target” means a target selected by iTeos pursuant to Section 2.1 (Research Programs).

1.69

“Target Nomination Period” means the term beginning on the Effective Date and ending on [***].
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1.70

“Target Questionnaire” means the form of target questionnaire attached hereto as Exhibit A.

1.71

“Technical Milestone II Criteria” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(b)(ii) (Technical Milestone II).

1.72

“Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1 (Term).

1.73

“Third A&R Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

1.74

“Third Party” means an entity other than a Party or a Party’s Affiliates.

1.75

“Third-Party Claims” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1 (Indemnification by Adimab).

1.76
“Third Party Patent Licenses” means Patent licenses obtained by iTeos or any Licensee (or any Affiliates
thereof) after iTeos determines in good faith that one or more such Patent licenses from Third Parties are reasonably required by
iTeos or any Licensee (or any Affiliates thereof) because such Patents Cover the way in which Program Antibodies were
discovered or optimized using Adimab Platform Technology under a Third Party Patent Covering the Adimab Platform
Technology, in order to avoid Third Party claims of patent infringement relating to the discovery or optimization of an Optioned
Antibody, which claims are reasonably believed by iTeos to be reasonably likely not to be dismissed at summary judgment and
are reasonably likely to succeed overall. For clarity, Third Party Patent Licenses explicitly excludes licenses to any Excluded
Technology.
1.77
References in the body of this Agreement to “Sections” refer to the sections of this Agreement. The terms
“include,” “includes,” “including” and derivative forms of them shall be deemed followed by the phrase “without limitation”
regardless of whether such phrase appears there (and with no implication being drawn from its inconsistent inclusion or noninclusion).
1.78
To avoid doubt, the term “antibody” as used everywhere else in this Agreement includes both full-length
antibodies, fragments thereof, and chemically modified versions thereof (including pegylated versions and regardless of whether
containing amino acid substitutions), all of the foregoing whether naturally occurring, artificially produced, raised in an artificial
system, or created through modification of an antibody produced in any of the foregoing ways or otherwise, and whether
represented by physical material, nucleic acid sequences, or amino acid sequences.
ARTICLE 2
RESEARCH PROGRAMS.
2.1

Research Programs.

(a)
Research Plans. The Parties agree to collaborate on up to [***] Research Programs, each in
accordance with a Research Plan. iTeos may nominate [***] Target for each Research Program by completing a Target
Questionnaire and delivering it to Adimab during the Target Nomination Period. Upon completion of a Target Questionnaire by
iTeos, the Parties shall
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agree to a Research Plan setting forth the expected timeline, budget, and relevant deliverables from initial discovery and from
optimization of Program Antibodies. In addition, each Research Plan will set forth the criteria for achieving the Technical
Milestone II Criteria described in Section 4.2(b) (Technical Milestone), which criteria shall be of the type that Adimab currently
has the capability of analytically measuring, such as affinity and epitopic coverage, and such attributes shall not include any sort
of measurement of biological functionality. Such Research Plan shall be based upon the form of Research Plan attached hereto
as Exhibit B, and shall include Adimab’s responsibilities with respect to the discovery and optimization of antibodies with respect
to each Target. Each Research Plan shall be agreed upon in writing by the Parties, and each Research Program shall be
conducted in accordance therewith. Neither Party is required to perform a Research Program under this Agreement if the Parties
do not mutually agree in writing on a Research Plan. Adimab’s obligation to perform such additional Research Programs shall be
subject to the availability of Adimab researchers to perform such Research Program; provided, however, that in no event shall
Adimab be permitted to delay performance of such Research Programs for more than two (2) months after mutual agreement on
such Research Plan.
(b)
Conduct of Research. Each Party shall use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to perform the
activities assigned to such Party in each Research Plan and to achieve the timeline(s) set forth in such Research Plan. Adimab’s
performance obligations under each Research Program shall be contingent upon iTeos providing the iTeos Materials, if any, set
forth in the applicable Research Plan. Such iTeos Materials are expected to include Target antigen of suitable quality for
performance of the Research Program. Adimab’s obligations with regard to the performance of a particular Research Program
shall be subject to the iTeos Materials passing Adimab’s quality control standards. Adimab’s obligations with regard to the
performance of a particular Research Program shall expire at the end of the applicable Research Term. Adimab shall have the
right to use Third Parties in the performance of its obligations hereunder.
2.2

Project Management.

(a)
Scientific Research Committee. Promptly after the completion of each Research Plan, the Parties
shall form a steering committee consisting of [***] representatives of each Party (the “Research Committee”) to oversee such
Research Plan. The Research Committee’s role is to facilitate communication regarding progress in relation to the Research
Programs and the collaboration generally. Either Party may change its Research Committee members upon written notice to the
other Party. The Research Committee may meet in person or by teleconference or videoconference. Each Party shall designate
one of its Research Committee members as co-chair. The Research Committee shall meet from time to time promptly after the
date of a written request by either Party. Additional members representing either Party may attend any Research Committee
meeting. The co-chairs shall be responsible for circulating, finalizing and agreeing upon minutes of each meeting within [***]
after the meeting date. Upon expiration of the final Research Term, the Research Committee shall be disbanded.
(b)
Decision Making. The Research Committee shall operate by consensus but solely within the
limits specified in this Section 2.2 (Project Management), it being understood that if the co-chairs cannot agree with regards to a
specific matter within their decision-making authority, no decision of the Research Committee shall be deemed taken by the
Research Committee. The Research Committee shall have the limited authority to amend the Research Plans
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in a manner not substantially affecting resources required to perform a Party’s obligations hereunder. Except for the limited
authority set forth in this Section 2.2 (Project Management), the Research Committee shall not have any decision-making
authority and in no event shall the Research Committee shall have the power to amend or waive compliance with this Agreement.
(c)
Alliance Managers. Each Party shall designate in writing within thirty (30) days after signing an
“Alliance Manager” to be the primary contact for such Party. The Alliance Manager shall be responsible for managing
communications between the Parties with respect to a Research Program, including responsibility for scheduling teleconferences
and coordinating Research Committee meetings. Alliance Managers may also be members of the Research Committee.
2.3

Reports; Records.

(a)
By Adimab. During the applicable Research Term, at the junctures specified in the applicable
Research Plan, Adimab shall provide written reports to iTeos regarding the Research Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing or
anything express or implied anywhere in this Agreement, Adimab shall not be required to disclose any Adimab Platform
Technology or Adimab Platform Technology Improvements to iTeos (unless otherwise required for any Marketing
Approval). Adimab shall maintain records, in reasonable scientific and technical detail and in a manner appropriate for patent
purposes, which shall be complete and accurate and shall fully and properly reflect all work done and results achieved in the
performance of a Research Program. In the event that such records and data include disclosure of Adimab Platform Technology
or Adimab Platform Technology Improvements, Adimab may redact those portions that would disclose Adimab Platform
Technology or Adimab Platform Technology Improvements prior to any review or inspection by iTeos (unless otherwise required
for any Marketing Approval).
(b)
By iTeos. iTeos shall provide semi-annual written reports to Adimab which provide any data iTeos
is required to provide under the applicable Research Plan and which shall disclose updated information regarding the existence
and stage of development of all Program- Benefited Antibodies since the date of the last report. For clarity, the information
reported by iTeos after the Research Term shall be solely for the purpose of allowing Adimab to monitor the progress of
development of Program-Benefited Antibodies and Products, and to monitor iTeos’s obligations under this Agreement.
2.4
Use of Adimab Materials. With respect to each Target, iTeos shall only use Adimab Materials (a) as is
necessary to conduct a Research Program during the Research Term and the Evaluation Term, (b) pursuant to the license granted
under Section 3.1(a) (Research License to iTeos) of this Agreement while such license is in effect, or (c) after exercise of the
Option, to generate and test Program-Benefited Antibodies in accordance with Section 9.4 (Commitments Regarding ProgramBenefited Antibodies). iTeos shall not use Adimab Materials for any other purposes. For clarity, this means that, except as
specified pursuant to the foregoing sentence, iTeos shall not (i) provide Adimab Materials to any Third Party other than a
Controlled Contractor, or (ii) use any Program-Benefited Antibodies or Adimab Materials, or information related thereto
(including the sequences thereof), for any purpose other than to research and develop antibodies that will be milestone- and
royalty-bearing to Adimab hereunder. For clarity, the “sequence” of an antibody includes the amino acid sequence of the
antibody and the
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corresponding nucleic acid sequences. Adimab acknowledges and agrees that upon receipt of Program Antibodies, iTeos may
conduct testing on such Program Antibodies to optimize such Program Antibodies (and, to avoid doubt, the optimized versions
thus created shall be Program- Benefited Antibodies).
Adimab retains title to the Adimab Materials, including all quantities of Program Antibodies that it provides under a
Research Program, including during the Evaluation Term. Such quantities of Program Antibodies are (i) for use solely in
assessing whether to exercise the Option for the applicable Target, and (ii) shall not be used in humans or for any commercial
purpose. Should iTeos not exercise its Option as described in Section 3.2(a) (Option), iTeos shall return to Adimab or destroy
any Program-Benefited Antibodies in its possession on expiration of the Evaluation Term for such Target. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, during the Evaluation Term and after expiration of the Options, if unexercised, iTeos shall not
provide Program-Benefited Antibodies to Third Parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, should iTeos exercise the Option for a
given Target, all right, title and interest in and to those Program-Benefited Antibodies shall belong to and vest in iTeos (subject to
the terms and conditions of this Agreement with respect to Program-Benefited Antibodies, including Section 9.4 (Commitments
Regarding Program-Benefited Antibodies) hereof).
2.5
Use of iTeos Materials. With respect to each Target, Adimab shall only use iTeos Materials as is necessary
to conduct a Research Program for the applicable Target. Adimab shall not use iTeos Materials for any other purposes. For
clarity, this means that, except as specified pursuant to the foregoing sentence, Adimab shall not (i) provide iTeos Materials to
any Third Party, or (ii) use any iTeos Materials, or information related thereto, for any purpose other than to research and develop
antibodies that will be offered to iTeos hereunder. iTeos retains title to the iTeos Materials that it provides under a Research
Program. Within ninety (90) days after the Research Term for such Target ends, Adimab will return to iTeos or destroy any
remaining iTeos Materials (at iTeos’s direction).
2.6

Certain Restrictions on the Use of Antibodies.

(a)
Adimab Restrictions. Adimab shall not: (i) use a Naive Library to screen with respect to a Target
under any Research Plan if Adimab has previously screened such Naive Library for the same Target; (ii) in the future screen a
Naive Library with respect to a Target if Adimab had previously screened such Naive Library for such Target pursuant hereto;
(iii) transfer a Naive Library used to screen for any Target hereunder to any Third Party; (iv) provide any Third Party with any
Program Antibody delivered to iTeos pursuant hereto (and, for the avoidance of doubt, Adimab shall not deliver an antibody to
any Third Party with CDR sequences which are identical to any Optioned Antibody); provided, however, that Adimab may
provide a Third Party with a Non-Optioned Antibody if such Non-Optioned Antibody is independently rediscovered without the
use of iTeos Materials or iTeos Confidential Information and without violating the provisions of clause (ii) above; or (v) deliver
to iTeos as a Program Antibody any antibody previously delivered to a Third Party; and provided, further, however, that Adimab
may provide iTeos with a Program Antibody if such Program Antibody is not licensed (or optioned) to a Third Party and such
Program Antibody was independently rediscovered without the use of Third Party Materials or Third Party Confidential
Information and without violating the provisions of clause (i) above.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement:
(i)
nothing herein shall prevent Adimab from licensing or transferring some or all of the
Adimab Platform Technology and/or Adimab Platform Technology Improvements to a Third Party (including technical support in
connection therewith) nor shall anything herein require Adimab to in any way limit the use of the Adimab Platform Technology
and/or Adimab Platform Technology Improvements by Adimab or a Third Party; and
(ii)
nothing herein shall require Adimab to physically remove from its libraries, or to prevent
from being included in future libraries, any Program-Benefited Antibodies. Adimab hereby reserves the right for Adimab, its
Affiliates, and those deriving rights from them (a) to include Program-Benefited Antibodies in antibody library(ies) transferred or
licensed by Adimab to Third Parties (including the transfer of physical possession of samples of Program- Benefited Antibodies
to a Third Party as part of such transactions) and (b) to conduct any activity with respect to Non-Optioned Antibodies if Adimab
(or such other party) arrives at such Program- Benefited Antibodies in a manner fully compliant with Adimab’s other covenants
and obligations under this Agreement.
(b)
iTeos Restrictions. iTeos hereby covenants that it, its Affiliates and its Licensees shall not seek to
or actually research, develop or commercialize any Program-Benefited Antibody, or product containing the foregoing (other than
the activities permitted hereunder during the Research Term and the Evaluation Term for the purpose of determining whether or
not to exercise the Option for such Target) except as Optioned Antibodies and Products under this Agreement.
ARTICLE 3
LICENSES; OPTION; DEVELOPMENT & COMMERCIALIZATION
3.1

Mutual Research Licenses.

(a)
Research License to iTeos. During the Research Term and Evaluation Term for each Research
Program, Adimab hereby grants iTeos a non-exclusive, non-sublicensable license under the Adimab Platform Patents and
Program Antibody Patents to perform research in the Field for the purposes of performing iTeos’s responsibilities under this
Agreement and each Research Plan hereunder and to evaluate Program Antibodies for purposes of determining whether to
exercise an Option. For clarity, the license to iTeos excludes the right to (i) discover, optimize, or otherwise generate ProgramBenefited Antibodies, (ii) discover or optimize other antibodies using the Adimab Materials, Adimab Platform Technology or
Adimab Platform Technology Improvements, or (iii) use Program Antibodies or Adimab Materials to (a) screen for other
antibodies’ activity vis-a-vis the applicable Target or (b) design other antibodies (in each case, other than Program-Benefited
Antibodies that will be milestone- and royalty-bearing to Adimab under this Agreement).
(b)
Research License to Adimab. During the Research Term and Evaluation Term for each Research
Program, iTeos hereby grants to Adimab a non-exclusive, non- sublicenseable (except to controlled contractors of Adimab)
license under (a) the Know-How
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Controlled by iTeos and disclosed to Adimab from time to time during the Research Term and Evaluation Term and (b) Patents
Controlled by iTeos, as and to the extent Covering the discovery and optimization of Program Antibodies under this Agreement,
solely to perform Adimab’s responsibilities under the applicable Research Plan. For clarity, the license to Adimab excludes all
rights or uses except the discovery, optimization, or generation of Program Antibodies in accordance with a Research Plan
hereunder.
3.2

Commercial Rights.

(a)
Option. On a Research Program-by-Research Program basis, Adimab hereby grants iTeos the
exclusive option (each, an “Option”) to obtain the licenses and assignments described in Sections 2.4 (Use of Adimab Materials)
and 3.2(b) (Development and Commercialization License and Assignment) for Program-Benefited Antibodies discovered during a
Research Program, exercisable on or before the expiry of the Evaluation Term by written notice to Adimab accompanied by
payment of the applicable Option Fee for such Research Program. On a Research Program-by-Research Program basis, iTeos
shall, in its written notice to exercise the Option, specify up to [***] Program Antibodies as the “Optioned Antibodies.”
(b)

Development and Commercialization License and Assignment.

(i)
Assignment. Effective on iTeos’s exercise of the Option, Adimab hereby assigns to
iTeos, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, all right, title and interest in and to all Optioned Program Antibody
Patents.
(ii)
License. Effective on iTeos’s exercise of the Option, Adimab hereby grants to iTeos a
worldwide, royalty-bearing, non-exclusive, sublicenseable (solely as provided in Section 3.2(b)(iii) (Licensees)) license under the
(a) Adimab Platform Patents, (b) Adimab Platform Technology, (c) Adimab Platform Technology Improvements and (d) Program
Antibody Patents, if any, which are not assigned to iTeos pursuant to Section 3.2(b)(i) (Assignment), each of (a)-(d) in the Field,
to research, develop, have developed, make, have made, use, sell, offer to sell, import and export the Optioned Antibodies and
Products during the Term of this Agreement. For clarity, the license to iTeos excludes the right to (A) discover or optimize
antibodies using the Adimab Platform Technology or Adimab Platform Technology Improvements, or (B) use Program-Benefited
Antibodies or Adimab Materials to (aa) screen for other antibodies’ activity vis-a-vis the applicable Target or (bb) design other
antibodies (in the case of either (aa) or (bb), other than Program-Benefited Antibodies that will be milestone- and royalty-bearing
to Adimab under this Agreement).
(iii)
Licensees. Any license of any Optioned Antibody and any sublicense of the rights
granted under Section 3.2(b) (Development and Commercialization License and Assignment) shall be made solely pursuant to
agreements (collectively, “Licensee Agreements”) that are consistent with all relevant terms and conditions of this Agreement
and to Licensees who explicitly agree in writing to comply with all applicable terms of this Agreement, including Section 9.4
(Commitments Regarding Program-Benefited Antibodies) hereof. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, iTeos
shall remain responsible for all payments and other performance obligations due under this Agreement, notwithstanding any
license or sublicense that it may grant.
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3.3
Diligent Development and Commercialization. Following exercise of the Option for a Research Program,
iTeos shall devote Commercially Reasonable Efforts to develop, seek Marketing Approval for, and launch and actively
commercialize at least [***] Optioned Antibody discovered in each such Research Program. iTeos will provide Adimab with an
annual written report of Product progress in development and commercialization, iTeos’s activities in that regard. If requested by
Adimab, iTeos shall meet with Adimab to discuss such report.
3.4
No Implied Licenses. Other than the licenses, options and assignments explicitly set forth in this Article 3
(Licenses; Option; Development & Commercialization) or in Article 5 (Intellectual Property), neither Party grants any
intellectual property licenses, options or assignments to the other Party under this Agreement. This Agreement does not create
any implied licenses.
3.5
Covenant Not to Exceed License. Each Party hereby covenants that it shall not practice any Patent or item
of Know-How licensed to it under this Agreement outside the scope of the license to such Party set forth in this Agreement (or
any subsequent agreement between the Parties providing for an additional license under such Patent or item of Know-How). For
the avoidance of doubt, iTeos will not (i) research, develop, manufacture or commercialize Program- Benefited Antibodies other
than Optioned Antibodies or (ii) research, develop, manufacture or commercialize Optioned Antibodies except as Products under
this Agreement. For clarity, although iTeos may discover Program-Benefited Antibodies using any Program Antibody during the
Evaluation Term, upon expiration of the Evaluation Term, iTeos will cease any research, development, manufacture and
commercialization of Program-Benefited Antibodies generated from Program Antibodies which are not Optioned Antibodies.
3.6
Bankruptcy Code. If this Agreement is rejected by a Party as a debtor under Section 365 of the United
States Bankruptcy Code (or similar provision in the bankruptcy laws of another jurisdiction), then, notwithstanding anything else
in this Agreement to the contrary, all licenses and rights to licenses granted under or pursuant to this Agreement by the Party in
bankruptcy to the other Party are, and shall otherwise be deemed to be, for purposes of Section 365(n) of the United States
Bankruptcy Code (or similar provision in the bankruptcy laws of the jurisdiction), licenses of rights to “intellectual property” as
defined under Section 101(35A) of the United States Bankruptcy Code (or similar provision in the bankruptcy laws of the
jurisdiction).
ARTICLE 4
FINANCIAL TERMS.
4.1
Technology Access Fee. iTeos paid to Adimab a one-time, non-creditable, non- refundable technology
access fee of [***] within [***] of the Effective Date.
4.2

Research Stage Fees.

(a)
Research Funding. For each Research Plan, iTeos shall pay Adimab, within [***] of completion
of each calendar quarter, an amount equal to [***] of the actual FTEs expended by Adimab on the Research Programs during
such calendar quarter (at the FTE Rate), subject to reasonable itemization as requested by iTeos. If Adimab anticipates an
overage of more
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than [***] of the FTEs estimated for a Research Plan, then Adimab shall promptly notify iTeos thereof. Adimab shall not invoice
iTeos for more than [***] of the estimated FTEs for a Research Plan in the absence of having sent such a notice. After sending
such notice, Adimab shall continue with such Research Plan until such time as Adimab receives written notice from iTeos to
cease working on such Research Plan for purposes of either (i) terminating such Research Plan or (ii) temporarily halting work on
such Research Plan in order to review the nature of such overage and amend the Research Plan in order to reduce the costs of
completing such Research Plan. For clarity, the FTE costs associated with a Research Plan are rarely linear and thus, it is
possible that the number of FTEs invoiced in any billing cycle may or may not coincide with the amount of time spent or
remaining to be spent conducting the applicable Research Plan.
(b)

Technical Milestones.

(i)
Technical Milestone I. On a Research Program-by-Research Program basis, iTeos shall
pay Adimab [***] within [***] of Adimab’s delivery to iTeos of an initial panel of Program Antibodies against the Target.
(ii)
Technical Milestone II. On a Research Program-by-Research Program basis, iTeos
shall pay Adimab [***] within [***] of Adimab’s delivery to iTeos of a panel of Program Antibodies meeting pre-agreed goals as
set forth in the Research Plan, which goals shall be of the type typically measured by Adimab’s protein analytics group, including
affinity, specificity, and epitopic coverage (the “Technical Milestone II Criteria”). In the event that the Technical Milestone II
Criteria are met and the payment under Section 4.2(b)(i) (Technical Milestone I) has not yet been paid to Adimab with respect to
such Research Program, iTeos shall also make the payment under Section 4.2(b)(i) (Technical Milestone I) simultaneously with
the payment under this Section 4.2(b)(ii) (Technical Milestone II). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the amount due to Adimab
from iTeos with respect to the second and third Research Programs in which the Technical Milestone II Criteria are met shall be
[***] rather than the [***] which would otherwise be payable.
4.3
Option Fee. In order to exercise the Option under Section 3.2(a) (Option) for a Research Program, iTeos
shall pay to Adimab a non-creditable, nonrefundable option exercise fee of [***] for each such Research Program (each, an
“Option Fee”) plus any unpaid Technical Milestone with respect to such Research Program.
4.4

Milestone Payments.

(a)
Milestone Events. On a Product-by-Product basis, iTeos shall report in writing to Adimab the
achievement by iTeos or any Licensee or any of their respective Affiliates of each event (each, a “Milestone Event”) and pay the
corresponding milestone payment (each, a “Milestone Payment”) to Adimab, each within [***] after the achievement of the
corresponding Milestone Event in the following tables:
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(i)
Milestone Event

Original Products. For Original Products, the following table shall apply:

Milestone Payments for the Milestone Payments for the
First Original Product to Second Original Product to
Achieve such Milestone Achieve such Milestone Event
Event

Milestone Payments for the
Third
and
Subsequent
Original Products to Achieve
such Milestone Event

Dose first patient in a Phase [***]
I Trial

[***]

[***]

Dose first patient in a Phase [***]
II Trial

[***]

[***]

Dose first patient in a Phase [***]
III Trial

[***]

[***]

Filing for Marketing
Approval in the United
States*

[***]

[***]

[***]

Filing for Marketing
Approval in Europe*

[***]

[***]

[***]

Filing for Marketing
Approval in Japan*

[***]

[***]

[***]

* In the event that (i) the Original Product which has triggered such “Filing for Market Approval” Milestone Event has been
licensed to a Licensee pursuant to a Licensee Agreement, (ii) such Licensee Agreement does not contain a milestone payment
associated with an event which is reasonably contemporaneous with such Milestone Event described herein (and for these
purposes, for example, a milestone related to the completion of Phase III or to the acceptance of a filing for Marketing
Approval would be viewed as “reasonably contemporaneous”), and (iii) such Licensee Agreement does contain a milestone
payment that is due to iTeos or its Affiliates reasonably contemporaneously with the receipt of Marketing Approval, then such
Milestone Event hereunder will be deemed to have occurred simultaneously with the milestone described in clause (iii) rather
than upon Filing for Marketing Approval.
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(ii)

New Products. For New Products, the following table shall apply:

Milestone Event

Milestone Payments for the
First New Product to
Achieve such Milestone
Event

Milestone Payments for the
Second New Product to
Achieve such Milestone
Event

Milestone Payments for the
Third and Subsequent New
Products to Achieve such
Milestone Event

Dose first patient in a Phase I
Trial

[***]

[***]

[***]

Dose first patient in a Phase II [***]
Trial

[***]

[***]

Dose first patient in a Phase III [***]
Trial

[***]

[***]

Filing for Marketing Approval [***]
in the United States*

[***]

[***]

Filing for Marketing Approval [***]
in Europe*

[***]

[***]

Filing for Marketing Approval [***]
in Japan*

[***]

[***]

* In the event that (i) the Original Product which has triggered such “Filing for Market Approval” Milestone Event has been licensed to a
Licensee pursuant to a Licensee Agreement, (ii) such Licensee Agreement does not contain a milestone payment associated with an event
which is reasonably contemporaneous with such Milestone Event described herein (and for these purposes, for example, a milestone related
to the completion of Phase III or to the acceptance of a filing for Marketing Approval would be viewed as “reasonably contemporaneous”),
and (iii) such Licensee Agreement does contain a milestone payment that is due to iTeos or its Affiliates reasonably contemporaneously
with the receipt of Marketing Approval, then such Milestone Event hereunder will be deemed to have occurred simultaneously with the
milestone described in clause (iii) rather than upon Filing for Marketing Approval.

(b)
Catch-Up Payments. Milestone Payments are payable one time per Product, the first time each is
achieved for such Product. If a later-stage clinical Milestone Event is achieved for any Product without one or more earlier-stage
clinical Milestone Events having been achieved for that Product, then iTeos shall pay the Milestone Payment(s) for such previous
clinical Milestone Event(s) along with the payment for the most recently achieved clinical-stage Milestone Event. If a Milestone
Event related to filing for Marketing Approval is achieved without one or more of the clinical Milestone Events being achieved,
then iTeos shall pay the Milestone
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Payment(s) for such previous clinical Milestone Event(s) along with the payment for the first Milestone Event related to filing for
Marketing Approval.
4.5

Royalties.

(a)
Royalty Payments. As to each Product sold during the applicable Royalty Term, on a Product-byProduct basis, iTeos shall pay Adimab a royalty based on a percentage of annual worldwide Net Sales for such Product during the
applicable Royalty Term for such Product in such country (“Royalty Payments”) as follows:
(i)

Original Products. For Original Products, the following table shall apply:

Product
First Original Product to receive Marketing Approval
Second Original Product to receive Marketing Approval
Third and subsequent Original Products to receive Marketing Approval
(ii)

Royalty Rate
[***]
[***]
[***]

New Products. For New Products, the following table shall apply:

Portion of Worldwide Calendar Year Net Sales of each New Product
Portion up to and including [***] in annual aggregate worldwide Net Sales
Portion greater than [***] in annual aggregate worldwide Net Sales

Royalty Rate
[***]
[***]

(iii)
Diagnostic Products. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, to the
extent that any Product sold during the applicable Royalty Term is used for diagnostic (as opposed to therapeutic or prophylactic)
uses, the Parties hereby understand and agree that the applicable royalty rate for such Royalty Payments shall be a percentage as
shall be mutually agreed by the Parties, but in no event to exceed [***].
(b)
Adjustment for Third Party IP. If iTeos enters into any Third Party Patent Licenses, then [***]
of the net sales royalties actually paid to the Third Party under the Third Party Patent License with respect to Net Sales of any
given Product in any given calendar quarter in any given country may be offset against the Royalty Payment, if any, that would
otherwise have been payable to Adimab with respect to such same Net Sales; provided, however, that in no event shall the royalty
owed to Adimab be reduced by more than [***] than the payment which would otherwise be due hereunder. It is understood,
agreed and acknowledged that Adimab’s allowing iTeos to claim the credit of this Section 4.5(b) (Adjustments for Third Party IP)
as to any particular Third Party Patent License: (a) does not mean Adimab believes that the licensed Patents were infringed or
Cover any aspect of the discovery or optimization work by Adimab; (b) does not mean Adimab agrees with iTeos’ opinion as to
the likelihood of success of a claim of such infringement or Coverage; (c) does not mean that Adimab believes iTeos’ opinion as
to any of the foregoing is reasonable; and (d) is not, will not be, and shall not be under any
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circumstances construed as an admission of any kind. Adimab may have many reasons not to challenge any given assertion of
the credit of this Section 4.5(b) (Adjustment for Third Party IP) by iTeos, including: (1) maintaining good relations with a
counterparty; (2) an assessment that the costs of the credit are outweighed by the benefits of iTeos having a license in place that
makes it feel comfortable to proceed with the Product (resulting in a greater likelihood of milestones and royalties being paid to
Adimab); (3) resource limitations that make it impracticable to challenge iTeos’ assertion of such credit even though Adimab
may disagree whether this is proper; and (4) other reasons other than thinking that the relevant Patents Cover or were infringed.
(c)
Adjustment for Generic Competition. With respect to Products resulting from the TIGIT
Research Program, on a country-by-country and Product-by-Product basis, if during a calendar quarter for which royalties are
being calculated hereunder for a particular Product, one or more products being sold in a particular country are Generic Products
with respect to such Product, and the market penetration (based on sales of units of such Product and such Generic Product(s) in
the aggregate, as reported by IMS International, or if such data are not available, such other reliable data source as reasonably
agreed by the Parties) of such Generic Product exceeds [***], then the royalty rate otherwise applicable to the Net Sales of the
Product in such country during such quarter and thereafter (for as long as such Generic Products are sold in such country) will be
reduced to [***] of Net Sales in such country. For the avoidance of doubt, such reduction will only apply for those calendar
quarters in which the market penetration exceeds [***].
(d)
Know-How Royalty. For clarity, the Patent licenses granted to iTeos under this Agreement are
non-royalty-bearing and the Parties have negotiated Royalty Payments based on the value of the Know-How (primarily in the
form of trade secrets) used in the generation of Program Antibodies that are licensed to iTeos hereunder with the expectation that
iTeos will obtain its own patent protection for Products.
4.6
Quarterly Payment Timings. All Royalty Payments due under Section 4.5 (Royalties) shall be paid
quarterly within [***] after the end of the relevant calendar quarter for which royalties are due.
4.7
Royalty Payment Reports. With respect to each calendar quarter, within [***] after the end of the calendar
quarter, iTeos shall provide to Adimab a written report stating the number and description of all Products sold during the relevant
calendar quarter; the gross sales associated with such sales; and the calculation of Net Sales on such sales, including the amount
of any deduction provided for in the definition of Net Sales. The report shall provide all such information on a country-bycountry and Product-by-Product basis.
4.8
Payment Method. All payments due under this Agreement to Adimab shall be made by bank wire transfer
in immediately available funds to an account designated by Adimab. All payments hereunder shall be made in the legal currency
of the United States of America, and all references to “$” or “dollars” shall refer to United States dollars (i.e., the legal currency
of the United States).
4.9
Taxes. The Parties agree to cooperate with one another and use reasonable efforts to minimize obligations
for any and all income or other taxes required by applicable law to be
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withheld or deducted from any royalties, milestone payments or other payments made by iTeos to Adimab under this Agreement,
including by completing all procedural steps, and taking all reasonable measures, to ensure that any withholding tax is reduced or
eliminated to the extent permitted under applicable law, including income tax treaty provisions and related procedures for
claiming treaty relief. To the extent that iTeos is required to deduct and withhold taxes on any payment to Adimab, iTeos shall
deduct and withhold such taxes and pay the amounts of such taxes to the proper government authority in a timely manner and
promptly submit to Adimab an official tax certificate or other evidence of such withholding sufficient to enable Adimab to claim
such payment of taxes. iTeos shall provide Adimab with reasonable assistance (at Adimab’s expense) in order to allow Adimab
to recover, as permitted by applicable law, withholding taxes, value added taxes or similar obligations resulting from payments
made hereunder or to obtain the benefit of any present or future treaty against double taxation which may apply to such
payments. Adimab shall provide iTeos with any tax forms that may be reasonably necessary in order for iTeos to not withhold
tax or to withhold tax at a reduced rate under an applicable bilateral tax income treaty. Adimab shall use reasonable efforts to
provide any such tax forms to iTeos at least thirty (30) days prior to the due date identified by iTeos for any payment for which
Adimab desires that iTeos apply a reduced withholding rate. iTeos will make all payments to Adimab hereunder either from
Belgium or the United States.
4.10

Records; Inspection.

(a)
iTeos shall keep complete and accurate records of its sales and other dispositions (including use in
clinical trials, or provision on a compassionate use basis or as marketing samples) of Program Antibody and Product including all
records that may be necessary for the purposes of calculating all payments due under this Agreement. iTeos shall make such
records available for inspection by an accounting firm selected by Adimab at iTeos’s premises in Belgium on reasonable notice
during regular business hours.
(b)
At Adimab’s expense no more than once per calendar year, Adimab has the right to retain an
independent certified public accountant from a nationally recognized (in the U.S.) accounting firm to perform on behalf of
Adimab an audit, conducted in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), of such books and
records of iTeos as are deemed necessary by the independent public accountant to report on Net Sales for the period or periods
requested by Adimab and the correctness of any report or payments made under this Agreement.
(c)
If the audit reveals an underpayment, iTeos shall promptly pay to Adimab the amount of such
underpayment plus interest in accordance with Section 4.14 (Late Payments). If the audit reveals that the monies owed by iTeos
to Adimab has been understated by more than [***] for the period audited, iTeos shall, in addition, pay the costs of such audit.
4.11
Licensee Reports, Records and Audits. Any agreements with Licensees shall include an obligation for
the Licensee to (i) maintain records adequate to document and verify the proper payments (including milestones and royalties) to
be paid to Adimab; (ii) provide reports with sufficient information to allow such verification; and (iii) allow Adimab (or iTeos if
requested by Adimab) to verify the payments due.
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4.12
Foreign Exchange. If any currency conversion shall be required in connection with the calculation of
amounts payable hereunder, such conversion shall be made using the exchange rates reported on the [***] prior the payment due
date for the purchase and sale of U.S. dollars, as reported by the Wall Street Journal. With any payment in relation to which a
currency conversion is performed to calculate the amount of payment due, iTeos shall provide to Adimab a true, accurate and
complete copy of the exchange rates used in such calculation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in the
event that iTeos and/or any Affiliate enters into a Licensee Agreement for the sales or other commercial disposition of Optioned
Antibodies or Programs, for which iTeos and/or its Affiliates will be compensated on a net sales basis, then the currency
conversion methodology provided for in the Section 4.12 shall be substituted and replaced with the currency conversion
methodology contained in such Licensee Agreement.
4.13
Non-refundable, non-creditable payments. Each payment that is required under this Agreement is nonrefundable and non-creditable except to the extent set forth in Section 4.5(b) (Adjustment for Third Party IP).
4.14
Late Payments. Any amount owed by iTeos to Adimab under this Agreement that is not paid within the
applicable time period set forth herein will accrue interest at the rate of [***] above the then-applicable short-term three-month
London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) as quoted in the Wall Street Journal (or if it no longer exists, a similarly authoritative
source) calculated on a daily basis, or, if lower, the highest rate permitted under applicable law.
ARTICLE 5
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY.
5.1

Ownership and Inventorship.

(a)
Program Patents and Program Know-How. Adimab shall solely own, regardless of
inventorship, all Program Patents directed to Adimab Platform Technology Improvements and, prior to Option exercise, all
Program Antibody Patents. iTeos shall own, regardless of inventorship, from and after the date of Option exercise, the Optioned
Program Antibody Patents, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. All Program Patents other than those referred
to in the foregoing two (2) sentences shall be owned based on inventorship. Program Know-How that constitutes Adimab
Platform Technology Improvements shall be owned by Adimab and all other Program Know-How shall be owned by the Party
that created it.
(b)
pre-existing Patents.

Other Patents. To avoid doubt, nothing in this Agreement shall alter the ownership of the Parties’

(c)
Inventorship. Inventorship for purposes of this Agreement, and all intellectual property-related
definitions in this Agreement, shall be determined in accordance with United States patent law.
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5.2

Implementation.

(a)
Assignments. Each Party hereby assigns to the other Party Program Inventions, associated
Patents, and Program Know-How as necessary to achieve ownership as provided in Section 5.1 (Ownership and
Inventorship). Each assigning Party shall execute and deliver all documents and instruments reasonably requested by the other
Party to evidence or record such assignment or to file for, perfect or enforce the assigned rights. Each assigning Party hereby
appoints the other Party as attorney-in-fact solely to execute and deliver the foregoing documents and instruments if such other
Party after making reasonable inquiry does not obtain them from the assigning Party. Each Party shall perform its activities
under this Agreement through personnel who have made a similar assignment and appointment to and of such Party. Each
assigning Party shall make its relevant personnel (and their assignments and signatures on such documents and instruments)
reasonably available to the other Party for assistance in accordance with this Article 5 (Intellectual Property) at no charge.
(b)
Joint Ownership Implementation. As regards Joint Serendipitous Inventions and the Program
Patents to the extent claiming them, either Party is entitled to practice and license them without consent of and without a duty of
accounting to the other Party. Each Party hereby grants all permissions, consents and waivers with respect to, and all licenses
under, the Joint Serendipitous Inventions and the Program Patents claiming them as necessary to achieve throughout the world
the nature of joint ownership rights of the foregoing as described in Section 5.1 (Ownership and Inventorship) and the foregoing
sentence. To avoid doubt, this Section 5.2(b) (Joint Ownership Implementation) does not imply any permission, consent or
waiver with respect to, or license under, any Patent or item of Know-How other than the Joint Serendipitous Inventions and the
Program Patents to the extent claiming them.
5.3
Disclosure. During the Term of the Agreement, each Party shall promptly disclose to the other Party the
making, conception or reduction to practice of any Program Inventions that would be Covered by Program Antibody Patents or in
iTeos’s case that are Adimab Platform Technology Improvements (which, to avoid doubt, are assigned to Adimab under this
Agreement). Such disclosure shall occur as soon as possible, but in any case within sixty (60) days after the Party determines
such Program Inventions have been invented. To avoid doubt, this Section 5.3 (Disclosure) shall not be read to require Adimab
to disclose Program Inventions constituting Adimab Platform Technology Improvements to iTeos.
5.4

Program Patent Prosecution and Maintenance.

(a)
Adimab Platform Technology. Adimab shall have the sole right (but not the obligation) to file,
prosecute, maintain, defend and enforce all Program Patents directed to Adimab Platform Technology Improvements and all
Adimab Platform Patents, all at its own expense.
(b)
Program Antibody Patents. iTeos shall have the sole right to file and prosecute all Program
Antibody Patents, at iTeos’s expense, and prior to Option exercise, in Adimab’s name. Such right shall continue for the duration
of the longer of the Evaluation Term and, if iTeos exercises the Option, the Term, subject to all of the following:
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(i)
Prior to Option exercise, iTeos shall not file any Program Antibody Patent that discloses
the sequence of any Program Antibody unless such Program Antibody Patent can be prevented from publishing in the event that
iTeos does not exercise its Option with respect to such Program Antibody.
(ii)
Prior to Option exercise, to the extent that individual Program- Benefited Antibodies
represent distinct patentable inventions, they shall be disclosed in separate applications and not as a group (e.g., as a filing on
multiple patentable inventions), unless Adimab consents in its discretion in writing in advance to another approach.
(iii)
Both prior to and after Option exercise, Adimab shall have the right to review and
comment on prosecution of the Program Antibody Patents, and iTeos shall provide Adimab with copies of all correspondence
with patent offices relating thereto (including office actions and the like) promptly after receipt and drafts of all filings and
correspondence with such offices no less than 20 business days in advance of filing.
(iv)
If iTeos does not exercise the Option, then all Program Antibody Patents that had been
filed (if any) shall be promptly abandoned without being published and within [***] after the Option expiring iTeos shall make
any and all filings necessary to result in such abandonment without publication (at iTeos’s expense) and provide documentation
thereof to Adimab.
(v)
If iTeos does exercise the Option, then all Program Antibody Patents that had been filed
for such Target that disclose Non-Optioned Antibodies for that Target shall be promptly abandoned without being published and
within [***] after Option exercise, iTeos shall make any and all filings necessary to result in such abandonment without
publication (at iTeos’s expense) and provide documentation thereof to Adimab.
(vi)
iTeos shall ensure, solely on behalf of iTeos and its Affiliates, that the sequences of
Non-Optioned Antibodies shall not become published.
(vii)
iTeos shall prosecute at least one Optioned Program Antibody Patent in the United
States, Japan and Europe, and such other countries as are required to be consistent with the Commercially Reasonable Efforts
standard.
(viii)
iTeos shall be solely responsible for all costs of the activities under this Section 5.4(b)
(Program Antibody Patents), except that to the extent Adimab hires counsel to review and comment on iTeos’s prosecution in
which case Adimab shall be solely responsible for the fees to such counsel.
(c)
Responsibility. It is understood and agreed that searching for, identification and evaluation of
Third-Party Patents that may apply to any Program Antibodies based on sequence, Target or the like is the responsibility of iTeos,
and that Adimab shall have no responsibility for the foregoing nor liability if any such Third-Party Patents exist (except as
provided in Section 4.5(b) above).
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(d)

Serendipitous Program Inventions.

(i)
Adimab Program Inventions. As between the Parties, Adimab shall have the sole right,
at its sole expense and in its sole discretion, to prepare, file, prosecute, enforce and maintain (including conducting or
participating in interferences and oppositions) all Patents directed to Adimab Program Inventions but not falling within the
Optioned Program Antibody Patents or the Adimab Platform Technology Improvements (which, to avoid doubt, are both
addressed above).
(ii)
iTeos Program Inventions. iTeos shall be responsible, at its sole expense and in its sole
discretion, to prepare, file, prosecute, enforce and maintain (including conducting or participating in interferences and
oppositions) all Program Patents on iTeos Program Inventions, other than Optioned Program Antibody Patents and Adimab
Platform Technology Improvements (which, to avoid doubt, are both addressed above).
(iii)
Serendipitous Joint Program Inventions. The Parties shall mutually agree which of
them shall be responsible for either using its in-house patent attorneys or through mutually agreed upon outside counsel to
prepare, file, prosecute, enforce and maintain Program Patents on Joint Serendipitous Inventions, and how the costs of such
activities will be shared.
5.5
Cooperation of the Parties. At the reasonable request of the responsible (as provided for in this Article 5
(Intellectual Property)) Party, the other Party agrees to cooperate fully in the preparation, filing, prosecution, enforcement and
maintenance of any Program Patents under this Agreement. Such cooperation includes executing all papers and instruments (or
causing its personnel to do so) reasonably useful to enable the other Party to apply for and to prosecute patent applications in any
country; and promptly informing the other Party of any matters coming to such Party’s attention that may affect the preparation,
filing, prosecution, enforcement or maintenance of any such Patents. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Adimab shall not be
required pursuant hereto to disclose Adimab Platform Technology to iTeos or to participate in any action against another Adimab
customer.
ARTICLE 6
CONFIDENTIALITY; PUBLICITY.
6.1

General Confidentiality Obligations.

(a)
Any and all confidential or proprietary information disclosed to one Party by the other Party under
this Agreement is the “Confidential Information” of the disclosing Party.
In addition, information embodied in Adimab Materials is Adimab’s Confidential Information, and information embodied in the
iTeos Materials is iTeos’s Confidential Information.
(b)
To avoid doubt, sequence information (whether as to amino acid sequence or nucleic acid
sequence) with respect to Program Antibodies shall be deemed the Confidential Information of Adimab, except that from and
after the date of Option exercise, the sequence information as to the CDRs of Optioned Antibodies shall be Confidential
Information of iTeos.
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For clarity, either Party shall be entitled to disclose the non-CDR portions (i.e., the framework) of the Optioned Antibodies.
(c)
Each Party shall receive and maintain the other Party’s Confidential Information in strict
confidence. Neither Party shall disclose any Confidential Information of the other Party to any Third Party. Neither Party shall
use the Confidential Information of the other Party for any purpose other than as required to perform its obligations or exercise its
rights hereunder. Each Party may disclose the other Party’s Confidential Information to the receiving Party’s employees and
contractors requiring access thereto for the purposes of this Agreement, provided, however, that prior to making any such
disclosures, each such person shall be bound by written agreement to maintain Confidential Information in confidence and not to
use such information for any purpose other than in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Each Party
agrees to take all steps necessary to ensure that the other Party’s Confidential Information shall be maintained in confidence
including such steps as it takes to prevent the disclosure of its own proprietary and confidential information of like
character. Each Party agrees that this Agreement shall be binding upon its employees and contractors involved in the Research
Program. Each Party shall take all steps necessary to ensure that its employees and contractors shall comply with the terms and
conditions of this Agreement. The foregoing obligations of confidentiality and non-use shall survive, and remain in effect for a
period of [***] from, the termination or expiration of this Agreement in accordance with Article 9 (Term).
6.2
Exclusions from Nondisclosure Obligation. Information shall not be considered Confidential Information
and the nondisclosure and nonuse obligations in Section 6.1 (General Confidentiality Obligations) shall not apply to the extent
that the receiving Party can establish by competent written proof that it:
(a)
(b)
Agreement by such Party;

at the time of disclosure is publicly known;
after disclosure, becomes publicly known by publication or otherwise, except by breach of this

(c)
was in such Party’s possession at the time of the earlier of disclosure hereunder and disclosure
under the agreement referred to in Section 6.1 (General Confidentiality Obligations);
(d)
is received by such Party from a Third Party who has the lawful right to disclose the Confidential
Information and who shall not have obtained the Confidential Information either directly or indirectly from the disclosing Party;
or
(e)

is independently developed by such Party (i.e., without reference to Confidential Information of the

disclosing Party).
6.3
Required Disclosures. If either Party is required, pursuant to a governmental law, regulation or order, to
disclose any Confidential Information of the other Party, the receiving Party (i) shall give advance written notice to the disclosing
Party, (ii) shall make a reasonable effort to assist the other Party to obtain a protective order requiring that the Confidential
Information so disclosed be used only for the purposes for which the law or regulation required and (iii) shall use and disclose the
Confidential Information solely to the extent required by the law or regulation.
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6.4
Terms of Agreement. The terms of this Agreement are the Confidential Information of both
Parties. However, each Party shall be entitled to disclose the terms of this Agreement under legally binding obligations of
confidence and limited use to: legal, financial and investment banking advisors; and potential and actual investors, acquirers and
licensees or sublicensees doing diligence and counsel for the foregoing. In addition, if legally required, a copy of this Agreement
may be filed by either Party with the SEC (or relevant ex-U.S. counterpart). In that case, the filing Party will if requested by the
other Party diligently seek confidential treatment for terms of this Agreement for which confidential treatment is reasonably
available, and shall provide the non-filing Party reasonable advance notice of the terms proposed for redactions and a reasonable
opportunity to request that the filing Party make additional redactions to the extent confidential treatment is reasonably available
under the law. The filing Party shall seek and diligently pursue such confidential treatment requested by the non-filing Party.
6.5
Return of Confidential Information. Promptly after the termination or expiration of this Agreement for
any reason, each Party shall return to the other Party all tangible manifestations of such other Party’s Confidential Information at
that time in the possession of the receiving Party.
6.6

Publicity.

(a)
Press Releases. Either Party may only publish a press release regarding this Agreement upon the
approval of such press release by the other Party. Other than repeating information in such press release (or any subsequent
mutually agreed press release), neither Party will generate or allow any further publicity regarding this Agreement or the
transaction or research contemplated hereunder in which the other Party is identified, without giving the other Party the
opportunity to approve such press release.
(b)
Announcement of Subsequent Events. The Parties recognize the importance of announcing the
exercise of any Option and the achievement of Milestone Events, and agree that Adimab may disclose these occurrences. At
Adimab’s discretion, Adimab shall propose the text of an Adimab press release to announce each such event and iTeos shall have
the opportunity to review and approve such text (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld).
(c)
Bundled Press Releases. It is understood and agreed that Adimab sometimes issues press releases
that group multiple achievements of Adimab (such as new or expanded partnerships, option exercises, and achievement of
milestones). It is understood and agreed that Adimab may choose to group text from an approved press release, or the
announcement of Option exercise and/or achievement of a Milestone Event with other accomplishments or events not relating to
this Agreement and in such event, the only portion of the press release into which iTeos shall have a consent right (such consent
not to be unreasonably withheld), shall be those portions that relate to this Agreement.
6.7
Certain Data. The Parties recognize the need for Adimab to disclose the general capabilities of the Adimab
Platform Technology. In connection therewith, notwithstanding this Article 6 (Confidentiality; Publicity), without disclosing
iTeos’s identity, the identity of the Target (although the class of protein of the Target may be disclosed), or the sequence of any
Program Antibody, Adimab shall be entitled to disclose generally Program Antibody attributes and Program
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Know-How, including the following: (a) Program Antibody binding affinities (kD), (b) expression range regarding Program
Antibodies, (c) germline distribution of Program Antibodies, and (d) stage of development of Program-Benefited Antibodies.
ARTICLE 7
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.
7.1
Mutual Representations. Each of Adimab and iTeos hereby represents and warrants to the other of them
that the representing and warranting Party is duly organized in its jurisdiction of incorporation; that the representing and
warranting Party has the full power and authority to enter into this Agreement; that this Agreement is binding upon the
representing and warranting Party; that this Agreement has been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action within the
representing and warranting Party; and that the execution, delivery and performance by the representing and warranting Party of
this Agreement and its compliance with the terms and conditions hereof does not and shall not conflict with or result in a breach
of any of the terms and conditions of or constitute a default under (a) any agreement or other instrument binding or affecting it or
its property, (b) the provisions of its bylaws or other governing documents or (c) any order, writ, injunction or decree of any
governmental authority entered against it or by which any of its property is bound.
7.2

Representations of Adimab. Adimab hereby represents and warrants to iTeos that, as of the Effective Date:

(a)
There are no complaints filed in court or, to Adimab’s knowledge, otherwise threatened, in each
case pending relating to Adimab Platform Patents which, if decided in a manner adverse to Adimab, would materially affect
Adimab’s practice of the Adimab Platform Technology as contemplated by this Agreement.
(b)
There are no judgments or settlements against Adimab or its Affiliates or to which they are Party
which will materially affect Adimab’s practice of the Adimab Platform Technology as contemplated in this Agreement. Adimab
is not party to any settlement discussions that, if concluded as of the Effective Date, would result in a settlement which would
materially affect Adimab’s practice of the Adimab Platform Technology as contemplated in this Agreement.
(c)
To Adimab’s knowledge, the conception, development and reduction to practice of the Adimab
Platform Technology, as it exists on the Effective Date, have not constituted or involved the misappropriation of trade secrets,
know-how or similar rights or property of any person.
(d)
In Adimab’s reasonable judgment, the practice of the Adimab Platform Technology as practiced by
Adimab as of the Effective Date, does not infringe a valid, issued Patent owned by a Third Party of which Adimab has
knowledge.
(e)
any Excluded Technology.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Adimab specifically excludes any representations with respect to
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7.3
DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES. OTHER THAN THE EXPRESS WARRANTIES OF SECTION 7.1
(MUTUAL REPRESENTATIONS) AND SECTION 7.2 (REPRESENTATIONS OF ADIMAB), EACH PARTY DISCLAIMS
ALL WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY
OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR THAT ANY PRODUCTS DEVELOPED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT
ARE FREE FROM THE RIGHTFUL CLAIM OF ANY THIRD PARTY, BY WAY OF INFRINGEMENT OR THE LIKE OR
THAT ANY PROGRAM PATENTS WILL ISSUE OR BE VALID OR ENFORCEABLE.
ARTICLE 8
INDEMNIFICATION
8.1
Indemnification by Adimab. Adimab hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless (collectively,
“Indemnify”) iTeos, its Affiliates and its and their directors, officers, agents and employees (collectively, “iTeos Indemnitees”)
from and against any and all liability, loss, damage or expense (including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ fees)
(collectively, “Losses”) they may suffer as the result of Third-Party claims, demands and actions (collectively, “Third-Party
Claims”) arising out of or relating to any breach of a representation or warranty made by Adimab under Article 7
(Representations and Warranties) or breach of any covenant made by Adimab, except to the extent of any Losses (i) attributable
to the negligence or intentional misconduct of any iTeos Indemnitee, or (ii) for which iTeos is required to Indemnify Adimab
pursuant to Section 8.2 (Indemnification by iTeos).
8.2
Indemnification by iTeos. iTeos hereby agrees that it and its Licensees shall Indemnify Adimab, its
Affiliates and its and their directors, officers, agents and employees (collectively, “Adimab Indemnitees”) from and against any
and all Losses they may suffer as the result of Third-Party Claims arising out of or relating to (a) any breach of a representation
or warranty made by iTeos under Article 7 (Representations and Warranties) or breach of any covenant made by iTeos, (b)
iTeos’s research, testing, development, manufacture, use, sale, distribution, licensing and/or commercialization of Program
Antibodies and/or Products (or Program-Benefited Antibodies or products incorporating them), (c) Adimab’s use of any iTeos
Materials, and (d) the use by iTeos or its Licensees of any Excluded Technology, except in each case to the extent of any Losses
(i) attributable to the negligence or intentional misconduct of any Adimab Indemnitee, or (ii) for which Adimab is required to
Indemnify iTeos pursuant to Section 8.1 (Indemnification by Adimab).
8.3
Indemnification Procedures. Each of the foregoing agreements to Indemnify is conditioned on the relevant
Adimab Indemnitees or iTeos Indemnitees (i) providing prompt written notice of any Third-Party Claim giving rise to an
indemnification obligation hereunder, (ii) permitting the indemnifying Party to assume full responsibility to investigate, prepare
for and defend against any such Third-Party Claim (as, but only to the extent and for such period of time, such Third-Party Claim
solely involves monetary damages and such indemnifying Party agrees in writing with such indemnified Party that the
indemnifying Party shall be solely responsible for any and all such monetary damages), (iii) providing reasonable assistance in
the defense of such claim at the indemnifying Party’s reasonable expense, and (iv) not compromising or settling such Third- Party
Claim without the indemnifying Party’s advance written consent. If the Parties cannot agree
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as to the application of the foregoing Sections 8.1 (Indemnification by Adimab) and 8.2 (Indemnification by iTeos), each may
conduct separate defenses of the Third-Party Claim, and each Party reserves the right to claim indemnity from the other in
accordance with this Article 8 (Indemnification) upon the resolution of the underlying Third-Party Claim.
8.4
Limitation of Liability. EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT SUCH PARTY MAY BE REQUIRED TO
INDEMNIFY THE OTHER PARTY UNDER THIS ARTICLE 8 (INDEMNIFICATION) OR AS REGARDS A BREACH OF A
PARTY’S RESPONSIBILITIES PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 6 (CONFIDENTIALITY; PUBLICITY), NEITHER PARTY NOR
ITS RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES SHALL BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY, CONSEQUENTIAL
OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES HEREUNDER, WHETHER IN CONTRACT, WARRANTY, TORT, STRICT LIABILITY OR
OTHERWISE.
ARTICLE 9
TERM.
9.1
Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall expire upon (a) in the
event that no Option is exercised, the conclusion of the last-to-expire Evaluation Term; or (b) in the event that an Option is
exercised, on a country-by-country and Product-by-Product basis on the expiration of the last Royalty Term for a Product in the
particular country, in each case, unless earlier terminated by a Party as set forth below in this Article 9 (Term) (the “Term”).
9.2
Material Breach. Either Party may terminate this Agreement for the material breach of this Agreement by
the other Party, if such breach remains uncured [***] following notice from the non-breaching Party to the breaching Party
specifying such breach.
9.3
Product Abandonment. With respect to each Product for which the “Dosing of first patient in a Phase I
study” Milestone Event has been achieved, this License Agreement shall terminate in the event that iTeos ceases significant
development and/or commercialization activities (either itself or through a Licensee) of such Product for a period of at least
[***], where “significant development and/or commercialization activities” means devoting at least one FTE, in the aggregate, to
such activities.
9.4
Commitments Regarding Program-Benefited Antibodies. It is the intent of the Parties that iTeos and its
Licensees will pay the Option Fee, Milestone Payments and Royalty Payments in accordance with Article 4 (Financial Terms)
with respect to Program-Benefited Antibodies researched, developed, manufactured and commercialized by iTeos or its
Licensees. Accordingly, the Parties agree that if iTeos or any of its Licensees researches, develops, manufactures, or
commercializes any Program-Benefited Antibody, then iTeos shall pay to Adimab the fees set forth in Article 4 (Financial
Terms), including the Option Fee, Milestone Payments and Royalty Payments, as applicable, on the Program-Benefited Antibody
as (or as if) a Product under this Agreement. In the event that iTeos is unwilling or unable to pay such fees to Adimab (because,
for example, of the dissolution of iTeos for bankruptcy or other reasons), then each Licensee shall make such payments directly
to Adimab. If this Agreement expires or terminates (other than an expiration under Section 9.1 (Term) following an Option
exercise after
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all applicable Royalty Terms have expired), iTeos and its Licensees (a) shall not research, develop, manufacture or commercialize
any Program-Benefited Antibody or Product containing such a Program-Benefited Antibody, (b) shall not license or otherwise
grant rights to any entity to do the foregoing, and (c) shall not practice, license or assign to a Third Party, option to a Third Party
or covenant not to sue a Third Party with respect to Program Antibody Patents (regardless of inventorship), Program-Benefited
Antibodies, or products containing them. iTeos and its Licensees will not research, develop, manufacture or commercialize NonOptioned Antibodies.
9.5
Survival in All Cases. Termination of this Agreement shall be without prejudice to or limitation on any
other remedies available to nor any accrued obligations of either Party. In addition, Sections 2.3 (Reports; Records), 2.4 (Use of
Adimab Materials), 2.5 (Use of iTeos Materials), 2.6 (Certain Restrictions on the Use of Antibodies), 3.4 (No Implied Licenses),
3.5 (Covenant Not to Exceed License), 4.6 (Quarterly Payment Timings) through 4.14 (Late Payments) (with respect to payment
obligations outstanding or having accrued as the effective date of termination or expiration), 5.1 (Ownership and Inventorship),
5.2 (Implementation), 5.4 (Program Patent Prosecution and Maintenance), 5.5 (Cooperation of the Parties), and 7.3 (Disclaimer
of Warranties), and Articles 1 (Definitions), 6 (Confidentiality; Publicity), 8 (Indemnification), 9 (Term) and 10 (Miscellaneous)
shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement.
9.6
Return of Adimab Materials. iTeos shall either return to Adimab or destroy all Adimab Materials (other
than Adimab Materials relating to Optioned Antibodies) Target upon expiration or termination of the Evaluation Term without
the Option being exercised, and all Adimab Materials on expiration or termination of this Agreement.
9.7
Additional Effects of Termination. If (i) iTeos fails to exercise the Option with respect to the Gal3
Research Program prior to [***], or (ii) this Agreement terminates pursuant to Section 9.2 (Material Breach) as a result of iTeos’
breach of this License Agreement or (iii) this Agreement terminates with respect to a Product pursuant to Section 9.3 (Product
Abandonment), then (in the case of (ii), with respect to all Products, and in the case of (i) and (iii), with respect to the applicable
Product) iTeos shall transfer such Product(s) to Adimab such that Adimab may effectively pursue development and/or
commercialization of such Product(s) without substantial delay or hindrance, such transfer to include, without limitation:
(a)
effective upon such termination, iTeos hereby assigns to Adimab all right, title and interest in and
to such Product(s), including all applicable Program Patents, all applicable Program Know-How, all data with respect to such
Products and the Program-Benefited Antibodies contained therein (including all pre-clinical and clinical safety and efficacy data);
(b)
effective upon such termination, iTeos hereby assigns to Adimab all right, title and interest in any
cell lines producing the applicable Products and the Program-Benefited Antibodies contained therein, and iTeos shall transfer all
such cell lines to Adimab (under conditions intended to ensure their viability) along with all master batch records and SOPs for
production of such antibodies;
(c)
iTeos shall transfer all data with respect to such Product(s) and all filings with patent and
regulatory authorities with respect to such Product(s), to the extent that Adimab so requests.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, to the extent any such assignments, transfers or licenses contemplated
by this Section 9.7 involve any monetary obligations owed to Third Parties, such assignments, transfers or licenses shall only be
made as and to the extent that Adimab agrees to be solely responsible for such monetary payments to Third Parties.
9.8
Survival of Sublicenses. In the event that (a) iTeos has entered into a Licensee Agreement consistent with
the terms of this Agreement (including the provisions of Section 3.2(b)(iii) (Licensees)), (b) this Agreement is terminated, and (c)
such Licensee Agreement is in effect at the time of such termination, then such Licensee Agreement will survive such
termination of this Agreement, provided that the Licensee assumes all of iTeos’s obligations hereunder with respect to the
Program-Benefited Antibodies covered by such Licensee Agreement (including those obligations set forth in Section 2.3(b)
(Reports; Records By iTeos)) and pays to Adimab all amounts that would have been due to Adimab from iTeos as a result of
Licensee’s activities (including those obligations set forth in Article 4 (Financial Terms)) and otherwise accepts iTeos’s
responsibilities hereunder, including those set forth in Section 9.4 (Commitments Regarding Program-Benefited Antibodies).
ARTICLE 10
MISCELLANEOUS.
10.1
Independent Contractors. The Parties shall perform their obligations under this Agreement as
independent contractors. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to be inconsistent with such relationship or
status. This Agreement and the Parties’ relationship in connection with it shall not constitute, create or in any way be interpreted
as a joint venture, fiduciary relationship, partnership or agency of any kind.
10.2

Dispute Resolution.

(a)
Initial Dispute Resolution. Either Party may refer any dispute in connection with this Agreement
(“Dispute”) not resolved by discussion of the BD/Contract Liaisons to senior executives of the Parties (for Adimab, its CEO or
his designee and for iTeos, its CEO or his designee) for good-faith discussions over a period of not less than [***] (the “Senior
Executives Discussions”). Each Party will make its executives reasonably available for such discussions.
(b)
Disputes Not Resolved Between the Parties. If the Parties are unable to resolve the dispute
through the Senior Executives Discussions within such [***], then either Party may, as the sole and exclusive means for
resolving disputes under this Agreement, proceed to demand confidential arbitration by written notice to the other Party and
making a filing with the AAA in accordance with Section 10.2(c) (Arbitration). For clarity, each Party hereby acknowledges that
both the fact of and nature of a dispute is the Confidential Information of both Parties, and any disclosure of the fact of or the
nature of such a dispute (other than as contemplated by Section 10.2(c) below) would be highly damaging to the non-disclosing
Party.
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(c)

Arbitration.

(i)
Any Dispute referred for arbitration shall be finally resolved by binding arbitration in
accordance with the most applicable rules of the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) and judgment on the arbitration
award may be entered in any court having jurisdiction.
(ii)
The arbitration shall be conducted by a panel of three (3) people experienced in the
business of biopharmaceuticals. If the issues in dispute involve scientific, technical or commercial matters, then any arbitrator
chosen under this Agreement shall have educational training and/or industry experience sufficient to demonstrate a reasonable
level of relevant scientific, technical and commercial knowledge as applied to the pharmaceutical industry. If the issues in
dispute involve patent matters, then at least one (1) of the arbitrators shall be a licensed patent attorney or otherwise
knowledgeable about patent law matters. Within [***] after a Party demands arbitration, each Party shall select one person to act
as arbitrator, and the two Party-selected arbitrators shall select a third arbitrator within [***] after their own appointment. If the
arbitrators selected by the Parties are unable or fail to agree upon the third arbitrator, then the third arbitrator shall be appointed
by the AAA. The place of arbitration shall be Boston, Massachusetts. All proceedings and communications as part of the
arbitration shall be in English. Following selection of the third arbitrator, the arbitrators shall complete the arbitration
proceedings and render an award within [***] after the last arbitrator is appointed.
(iii)
Each Party shall bear its own costs and expenses and attorneys’ fees and an equal share
of the arbitrators’ fees and any administrative fees or arbitration, unless in each case the arbitrators agree otherwise, which they
are hereby empowered, authorized and instructed to do if they determine that to be fair and appropriate.
(iv)
Except to the extent necessary to confirm an award or as may be required by law,
regulation, or the requirement of any exchange on which a Party’s shares are traded, neither Party shall disclose the existence,
content or results of an arbitration under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party.
(v)
In no event shall an arbitration be initiated after the date when commencement of a legal
or equitable proceeding based on the subject matter of the Dispute would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations under
Delaware law.
10.3
Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of
Delaware, excluding its conflicts of laws principles.
10.4
Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including its Exhibits) set forth all the covenants, promises,
agreements, warranties, representations, conditions and understandings between the Parties with respect to the subject matter
hereof and supersedes and terminates all prior agreements and understandings between the Parties with respect to such subject
matter. No subsequent alteration, amendment, change or addition to this Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties unless
reduced to writing and signed by the respective authorized officers of the Parties.
10.5
Assignment. Neither Party may assign in whole or in part this Agreement without the advance written
consent of the other Party, except as set forth in the following sentence. Either
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Party may assign this Agreement in its entirety to the successor to all or substantially all of its stock or assets to which this
Agreement relates in connection with its merger with, or the sale of all or substantially all of its stock or assets to which this
Agreement relates to, another entity, regardless of the form of the transaction. In addition, Adimab may assign this Agreement or
any of its rights under this Agreement, in connection with the sale of, monetization of, transfer of, or obtaining financing on the
basis of the payments due to Adimab under this Agreement or debt or project financing in connection with this Agreement. This
Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted
assigns, provided such assignee agrees to be fully responsible for all obligations of Adimab hereunder. Any assignment of this
Agreement not made in accordance with this Agreement is prohibited hereunder and shall be null and void.
10.6
Severability. If one or more of the provisions in this Agreement are deemed unenforceable by law, then
such provision shall be deemed stricken from this Agreement and the remaining provisions shall continue in full force and effect.
10.7
Force Majeure. Both Parties shall be excused from the performance of their obligations under this
Agreement to the extent that such performance is prevented by a Force Majeure and the nonperforming Party promptly provides
notice of the prevention to the other Party. Such excuse shall be continued so long as the condition constituting Force Majeure
continues and the nonperforming Party takes reasonable efforts to remove the condition, but no longer than six (6) months.
10.8
Notices. Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing, shall
specifically refer to this Agreement and shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given for all purposes if mailed by first class
certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, delivered by express delivery service or personally delivered. Unless otherwise
specified in writing, the mailing addresses of the Parties shall be as described below.
If to Adimab:
Adimab, LLC
[***]
with a required copy to:
[***]
In the case of iTeos:
iTeos Therapeutics S.A.
[***]
with a required copy to:
[***]
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10.9
Construction. This Agreement has been prepared jointly and shall not be strictly construed against either
Party. Ambiguities, if any, in this Agreement shall not be construed against any Party, irrespective of which Party may be
deemed to have authored the ambiguous provision.
10.10
Headings. The headings for each article and section in this Agreement have been inserted for
convenience of reference only and are not intended to limit or expand on, nor to be used to interpret, the meaning of the language
contained in the particular article or section.
10.11
No Waiver. Any delay in enforcing a Party’s rights under this Agreement or any waiver as to a particular
default or other matter shall not constitute a waiver of such Party’s rights to the subsequent enforcement of its rights under this
Agreement, excepting only as to an express written and signed waiver as to a particular matter for a particular period of time
executed by an authorized officer of the waiving Party.
10.12
Performance by Affiliates. A Party may perform some or all of its obligations under this Agreement
through Affiliate(s) or may exercise some or all of its rights under this Agreement through Affiliates. However, each Party shall
remain responsible and be guarantor of the performance by its Affiliates and shall cause its Affiliates to comply with the
provisions of this Agreement in connection with such performance as if such Party were performing such obligations itself, and
references to a Party in this Agreement shall be deemed to also reference such Affiliate. In particular and without limitation, all
Affiliates of a Party that receive Confidential Information of the other Party pursuant to this Agreement shall be governed and
bound by all obligations set forth in Article 6 (Confidentiality; Publicity), and shall (to avoid doubt) be subject to the intellectual
property assignment and other intellectual property provisions of Article 5 (Intellectual Property) as if they were the original
Party to this Agreement (and be deemed included in the actual Party to this Agreement for purposes of all intellectual propertyrelated definitions). A Party and its Affiliates shall be jointly and severally liable for their performance under this Agreement.
10.13
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more identical counterparts, each of which
shall be deemed to be an original, and which collectively shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument. In addition,
signatures may be exchanged by facsimile or PDF.
[Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank; Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties Agreement as of the Effective Date, have by duly authorized persons executed this
Agreement as of the Effective Date.
ITEOS

BELGIUM SA:

ADIMAB, LLC:

By:

/s/ Michel Detheux

By:

/s/ Tillman Gerngross

Title:

President & CEO

Title:

CEO

Date:

21-Feb-2021

Date:

2/22/2021
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EXHIBITS LIST
A - TARGET QUESTIONNAIRE
B - FORM OF RESEARCH PLAN

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Michel Detheux, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2021 of iTeos Therapeutics, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

(Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313);

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 13, 2021

By:

/s/ Michel Detheux
Michel Detheux
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Matthew Gall, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2021 of iTeos Therapeutics, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

(Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313);

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 13, 2021

By:

/s/ Matthew Gall
Matthew Gall
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Michel Detheux, the Chief
Executive Officer, and Matthew Gall, the Chief Financial Officer, of iTeos Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify, that, to their
knowledge:
(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2021 (the “Report”) of the Company fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.
Date: May 13, 2021

By: /s/ Michel Detheux
Michel Detheux
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 13, 2021

By: /s/ Matthew Gall
Matthew Gall
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

